## §Law in Context

# Law and Administration

THIRD EDITION



CAMBIREDGE

CAROL HARLOW AND RICHARD RAWLINGS

# 'Golden handshakes': Liability and compensation

#### **Contents**

- 1. Liability or compensation?
- 2. Tort law, deterrence and accountability
- 3. Duties, powers and omissions
- 4. Defensive administration, 'decision traps' and immunity
  - (a) Social work and liability
  - (b) Policing and the duty of care
- 5. The shadow of Europe
  - (a) Human rights and 'just satisfaction'
  - (b) The European Union and state liability
  - (c) Unjust enrichment and restitution
- 6. Alternatives to tort law
  - (a) Ex gratia payments
  - (b) Criminal injuries compensation
- 7. Ombudsmen and redress
  - (a) A debt of honour
  - (b) Cod wars
- 8. Towards a compensation culture?

# 1. Liability or compensation?

In the last three chapters we have looked in some detail at judicial review, today the principal machinery through which courts exercise their function of controlling the executive and for many – especially red light theorists – the centrepiece of administrative law. Judicial review is not the only mechanism for the challenge of executive and administrative action; as we have seen, human rights claims may be raised in every form of judicial process, including criminal proceedings. Judicial review procedure is also subject to the substantial limitation that compensation, in practice sometimes the only suitable remedy, is not usually available. The reformed modern judicial review procedure (see Chapter 15) allows the Administrative Court to award damages

on an application for judicial review but *only* when 'the court is satisfied that, if the claim had been made in an action begun by the applicant at the time of making his application, he would have been awarded damages' (s. 31(4) (b) of the Supreme Court 1981). This has the effect of linking damages to the existing law of tort. It has to be said that the writ procedures of the High Court, with detailed pleadings and oral evidence, are in practice better suited for fact-finding in damages actions; these are therefore routinely transferred out of the Administrative Court after the court has determined the public law issues.<sup>1</sup> Cases where a claim for damages is joined to a judicial review application are, however, rare<sup>2</sup> and cases where compensation is actually ordered even rarer.

Judicial review has not always occupied its present paramount position in administrative law. Since time immemorial, wrongful and illegal action by public officials could be challenged by means of an action in tort, as in the famous 'General Warrant cases'.3 Here warrants issued by the Home Secretary to search premises, seize property and arrest those engaged in the publication of The North Briton, a paper published by John Wilkes, a well-known radical deemed dangerous by the authorities, were successfully challenged on the ground that they did not, as they should have done, specifically name the premises to be searched, the owners, or the property to be seized. Wilkes and his printers and publishers sued successfully for trespass to goods, trespass to land and false imprisonment, and the judgments in which the officials were held liable still stand as landmarks in the vindication of civil liberties.4 Other landmark tort actions should be mentioned. In Cooper v Wandsworth Board of Works, 5 C had built houses for which a licence from the Board of Works was necessary but had omitted to apply for the licence. As it was on the face of its statutory power entitled to do, the Board of Works demolished the building. However, in an action for trespass to land, the court found the Board liable in damages, ruling that a hearing ought to have been granted before the extreme course of demolition was taken. In the earlier case of Ashby v White,6 decided at a time when suffrage was very limited, returning officers in a parliamentary election deliberately refused to allow two of the registered electors to vote. The judges were consulted by Parliament as to whether the common law could

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Lord Woolf, J. Jowell, A Le Sueur, de Smith's Judicial Review, 7th edn (2008) [19-006-009].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> But see R v Deputy Governor of Parkhurst, ex p. Hague [1991] 3 WLR 340.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Entick v Carrington (1765) 2 Wils. KB 275; Leach v Money (1765) 19 St. Tr. 1001; Wilkes v Wood (1763) 2 Wils. KB 203. Dicey also lists Mostyn v Fabrigas (1774) 1 Cowp. 161; Musgrave v Pulido (1879) 5 App Cas 102; Governor Wall's Case (1802) 28 St Tr 51; and the notorious case of Philips v Eyre (1867) LR 4 QB 225. These cases are, however, somewhat exceptional in character.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See J. Jowell, "The rule of law today' in Jowell and Oliver (eds.), *The Changing Constitution*, 6th edn (Oxford University Press, 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Cooper v Wandsworth Board of Works (1863) 14 CBNS 180.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ashby v White (1703) 2 Ld. Raym. 938. A majority of the judges consulted were of the view that there was no remedy at common law but the dissenting opinion of Holt CJ was later reinstated.

provide a remedy for this 'excessive and insolent use of power'. As Holt CJ put it in his dissenting opinion, which came to be regarded as the law, 'where there is a right there must be a remedy'. The importance of the case is that it concerned intangible rights - though defined in the case as rights of property - which are not normally strongly protected by the common law. It also gave birth to the idea that some rights are constitutional in character or of such importance as to warrant protection by an action in damages. We shall later see *Ashby v White* unsuccessfully invoked in recent cases involving human rights, an outcome that reflects the current unwillingness of the superior courts to allow the ambit of tortious liability to be extended.

From civil actions like these, Dicey extracted the principle of personal responsibility of all public officials to the 'ordinary' courts of the land, on which his doctrine of equality before the law rests. In Dicey's own words:

In England the idea of legal equality, or the universal subjection of all classes to one law administered by the ordinary courts, has been pushed to its utmost limit. With us every official, from the Prime Minister down to a constable, is under the same responsibility for every act done without legal justification as any other citizen.<sup>7</sup>

This bold assertion actually concealed a position of serious inequality. By virtue of the prerogative powers the Crown had acquired substantial immunity from liability in tort. This exception was to assume greater importance as tort law moved from a system of 'corrective justice' in which individuals sued individuals to a system where the objective was to fix vicarious liability on corporate entities able either to meet or insure against the substantial awards of damages made in personal injury actions. After a long and arduous struggle, the position was righted by the Crown Proceedings Act 1947, which renders the Crown vicariously liable for the wrongful acts of its servants to the same extent as a 'person of full age and capacity'. Despite the ambiguity of this formula, the Act has been largely successful in bringing to an end Crown immunity in tort, subject to a few exclusions covering liability for the armed forces and judicial acts, which have come increasingly under attack in recent years.

Symbolically, the Crown Proceedings Act represented the conclusion of a slow process of bringing the state in all its manifestations – central, local and regional government, agencies and other public bodies – under the

A.V. Dicey, Introduction to the Study of the Law of the Constitution (MacMillan, 1959, 10th edn by E. C. S. Wade), p. 187.

<sup>8</sup> See J. Jacob, The Republican Crown: Lawyers and the making of the state in twentieth century Britain (Dartmouth, 1996). In other common law jurisdictions, notably Australia, the end to Crown immunity came much earlier; see M. Aronson and H. Whitmore, Public Torts and Contracts (Lawbook Co., 1978) and, e.g., the Queensland Claims against the Government Act 1866.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Crown Proceedings (Armed Forces) Act 1987 repeals s. 10 of the 1947 Act other than for cases which occurred prior to 1987 (see *Matthews v Ministry of Defence* (2003) UKHL 4) but allows it to be revived by ministerial certificate where necessary or expedient because of imminent national danger, etc.

jurisdiction of the 'ordinary courts of the land'. 10 This principle remains the constitutional underpinning for systems of government liability throughout the common law world. It is stoutly defended by Peter Hogg, a leading expert on Crown proceedings, who argues both that 'Dicey captured a fundamental attitude towards government' and that 'the application of the ordinary law by the ordinary courts to the activities of government conforms to a widely-held political ideal' and preserves us from many practical problems.' Hogg believes also that 'Dicey's idea of equality provides the basis for a rational, workable and acceptable theory of governmental liability' and finds least satisfactory 'those parts of the law where the courts have refused to apply the ordinary law to the Crown'. 11 In practice, however, the equality principle was always less clear cut than Dicey suggested. As Dicey's many critics are never tired of reiterating, public officials and public authorities are no longer - if they ever were - in a position of equality with ordinary citizens.12 They come equipped with a battery of statutory powers to authorise their many incursions, which makes it hard to equate them with private actors who do not possess such powers. A law of torts developed largely to deal with the relationships of private individuals with one another must nowadays be applied to the conduct of public authorities exercising statutory powers and duties for which there is often no obvious private parallel.

The alignment of private and public liability typical of common law systems has advantages: it creates a culture of equality and feeling that public authorities are not above the law. Submitting public authorities to tort law brings its own problems, however. Tort law is a branch of the common law badly in need of reform. It has never been codified nor has the Law Commission ever conducted a consistent overall review of the subject. Left to the judges, progression has been slow and largely achieved through the incremental evolution of negligence into a general principle of liability. But tort law has never fully evolved from the collection of medieval writs or 'nominate torts', each with its own specific requirements, from which it is fabricated. Submitting public authorities to tort law means that problems within the private law of torts are replicated and sometimes magnified in the liability principles applicable to public authorities.<sup>13</sup> Modifications thought necessary by the courts often involve inconsistencies and sometimes result in manifest unfairness. Within this private framework of public liability, attempts to find a general, overall solution to the many problems have largely failed. Currently they are under consideration by the Law Commission, which is suggesting a package of major reforms. 14

The liability of public bodies other than the Crown had been long ago established by Mersey Docks and Harbour Board Trustees v Gibbs (1866) LR 1HL 93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> P. Hogg, Liability of the Crown, 2nd edn (Carswell, 1989), p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See W. I. Jennings, *The Law and the Constitution* (Athlone Press, 1959), p. 312 and the discussion at pp. 16–18 above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Law Commission, Administrative Redress: Public bodies and the citizen – a consultation paper, CP No. 18 (2008) hereafter 'Law Com 187'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Ibid. And See T. Cornford, Towards a Public Law of Tort (Ashgate, 2008).

Perhaps fortunately, the courts are not and never have been the only source of compensation for citizens injured by state action. Before the Crown Proceedings Act the Crown routinely turned to *ex gratia* payments to fill the gap left by Crown immunity, making *ex gratia* settlements whenever Crown lawyers advised that legal liability would have accrued but for the immunity of the Crown. Regulated by the Treasury, this power is still in regular use (see p. 778 below). Recommendations for compensation made by the ombudsmen also rely on the power to make *ex gratia* payments. The *Barlow Clowes* and *Occupational Pensions* affairs described in Chapter 12 showed how in recent years ombudsmen have begun to afford a parallel route to courts for those seeking compensation. Section 5 of this chapter contains a further case study of this road to redress.

The principle that private property cannot be expropriated by the state without compensation is also very ancient, as Lord Moulton remarked in a case concerning wartime requisition of property:

The feeling that it was equitable that burdens borne for the good of the nation should be distributed over the whole nation and should not be allowed to fall on particular individuals has grown to be a national sentiment. The effect of these changes is seen in the long series of statutes . . . [which] indicated unmistakeably that it is the intention of the nation that . . . the burden shall not fall on the individual but shall be borne by the community.<sup>15</sup>

The 'no taking' principle, strongly represented in American law, ultimately found its way into ECHR Art. 1 of Protocol 1, which provides that 'No one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the general interest and subject to the conditions provided for by law [or international law].'16 Similar principles operated when, during the nineteenth century, roads and railways were constructed and when, at the end of the century, land was needed for slum clearance schemes or new towns. Statutory compensation was provided by Parliament for the 'taking' of property for such purposes.<sup>17</sup> Compensation for compulsory purchase today has general statutory authority from the Land Compensation Act 1973, probably the largest but by no means the only example of a statutory compensation scheme. The criminal injuries compensation scheme is today statutory, though it originated in the power to make *ex gratia* payments (see below, Section 6).

If the principle of compensation is often overlooked in studies of state liability, this is probably because lawyers are unwilling to recognise systems that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> A-G v De Keyser's Royal Hotel Ltd [1920] AC 508. And see Burmah Oil Co Ltd v Lord Advocate [1920] AC 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See now Marcic v Thames Water Utilities Ltd [2003] 3 WLR 1603, see p. 315 above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See e.g., Lands Clauses Consolidation Act 1845 and Railways Clauses Consolidation Act 1845. And see *Hammersmith and City Railway v Brand* 1869 LR 4 HL 171. See also M. Taggart, 'Expropriation, public purpose and the constitution' in Forsyth and Hare (eds.), *The Golden Metwand and the Crooked Cord* (Clarendon Press, 1998).

largely exclude the courts. To put this differently, courts see the civil law system as the general or standard machinery for the allocation of compensation. We, however, see the search for a system of state liability capable of anticipating claims for redress and delivering appropriate compensation in all situations as illusory. Just as we argued in Chapter 10 for systems of proportionate dispute resolution capable of handling the many minor grievances thrown up by the modern administrative state, so here we stress the need for equitable principles of compensation.

The need is all the greater because, in parallel to the 'complaints culture' discussed in earlier chapters, recent years have allegedly seen the development of a 'compensation culture' or society in which there is an increased propensity to seek legal redress when things go wrong. <sup>18</sup> Whether willingness to sue is unreasonable or simply the result of a better-educated public with greater access to information remains an open question. In a variant of the arguments about the 'risk society' that we met in Chapter 2, Atiyah argues, however, that recent extensions of the liability system are partly responsible for 'helping to create a "blame culture" in which people have a strong financial incentive to blame others for loss or death or wrongful injury'. This renders Government:

particularly vulnerable to litigation when the blame culture gets out of hand. If the public thinks – as some people seem to think – that ultimately the government is responsible for everything that happens in society, then the government (and other public bodies) are liable to get sued, whatever they do or fail to do.<sup>19</sup>

Another reason why the trend has a disproportionate impact on public authorities is that they are assumed to be insured (as local authorities actually are) or otherwise capable (like central government) of recouping their losses through the tax fund. Atiyah, who views the damages system as 'fundamentally an insurance system', sees state liability as 'in effect, an argument that the government should provide free insurance to protect the public against losses and injuries'.<sup>20</sup> This is leading to 'novel' liability actions against public authorities that 'have at least the potential to destabilise some public-sector budgets, such as education and social services, which cannot easily pass on these costs, except to taxpayers of one sort or another'.<sup>21</sup> There are, however, some signs in the case law cited later in this chapter that the response of at least the highest court has been to tighten the liability rules.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See for discussion K. Williams, 'State of fear: Britain's "compensation culture" reviewed' (2005) 25 Legal Studies 499. For evidence of government concern, see Better Regulation Task Force, Better Routes to Redress (May 2004) and Tackling the 'Compensation Culture': Government response to the Better Regulation Task Force Report: 'Better Routes to Redress' (November 2004); Constitutional Committee, Compensation Culture, HC 754 (2005/6); Government response, Cm. 6784 (2005/6). And see Law Com. 187, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> P. Atiyah, The Damages Lottery (Hart Publishing, 1997), pp. 138-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Ibid., p. 87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Williams, 'State of fear: Britain's "compensation culture" reviewed', p. 507.

A more logical deduction from Atiyah's argument is that government, if it is effectively to act as insurer, should have some say in the risks that it should underwrite. The courts did not, for example, impose liability on government to make reparation to the victims of criminal violence; they have on the contrary been remarkably protective of the police service in this respect (see p. 775 below). Government chose, as we shall see, to take on this responsibility by setting up a compensation scheme. Similarly, it was unlikely that liability would fall on public authorities if a child who was vaccinated against a serious infectious disease suffered damage from the vaccine administered. Government chose, in the interests of protecting the public, to accept responsibility to compensate the unfortunate few with adverse reactions.<sup>22</sup> These examples might suggest a rather different meaning for the term 'compensation culture'. Rather than designating a society in the grip of litigation mania, perhaps the term should refer to a society moving to a position where a right to compensation is becoming a principle of good administration or good governance principle.<sup>23</sup> Hogg has, for example, argued that it 'ought to be a routine part of the planning for a new government programme to undertake an analysis of the private losses that might be caused by the program . . . the predictable, undesired side effects of a program could and should be analyzed with a view to making legislative provision for private compensation'. <sup>24</sup> For this reason, the final sections of this chapter deal with administrative compensation, which we see as, potentially, a valid alternative to an expanded liability system in respect of the state.

# 2. Tort law, deterrence and accountability

The story of modern tort law is largely a history of the tort of negligence, the main vehicle for accident compensation. With the rise of negligence has come the view of tort law as compensatory. Lord Bingham quite recently asserted, for example, that 'the overall object of tort law is to define cases in which the law may justly hold one party liable to compensate another'. Dicey, however, saw tort law as a vehicle for accountability, a view that reflects its ancient lineage as a remedy for abuse of power. Punitive and deterrent functions are inherent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See the Vaccine Damages Payment Act 1979 and for criticism of the early operation of the scheme, G. Dworkin, 'Compensation and payments for vaccine damage', (1979) *Journal of Social Welfare Law* 330. In 2007, the original sum of £10,000 was uprated by the Statutory Sum Order, SI 2007/193, to £120,000. Since 1997, £3.5 million has been paid to parents under the scheme

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See for discussion P. Cane, 'Damages in public law' (1999) 9 University of Otago Law Rev. 489; D Cohen and J. Smith, 'Entitlement and the body politic: Rethinking negligence in public law' (1986) 64 Can. Bar Rev. 1; D Cohen, 'Tort law and the crown: Administrative compensation and the modern state' in Cooper-Stephenson and Gibson (eds.), Tort Theory (Captus University Publications, 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> P. Hogg, 'Compensation for damage caused by government' (1995) 6 National Journal of Constitutional Law 7, 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Fairchild v Newhaven Funeral Services Ltd [2002] UKHL 22 [9].

in the trespass cases on which Dicey relied and have never entirely been discarded. They are apparent again in the practice of awarding exemplary and punitive damages, endorsed by the House of Lords as an appropriate way to 'vindicate the strength of the law' in cases of oppressive, arbitrary or unconstitutional action by public servants.<sup>26</sup> The constitutional significance of this practice was underlined in *Kuddus v Chief Constable of Leicestershire*,<sup>27</sup> where Lord Nicholls said:

The availability of exemplary damages has played a significant role in buttressing civil liberties, in claims for false imprisonment and wrongful arrest. From time to time cases do arise where awards of compensatory damages are perceived as inadequate to achieve a just result between the parties. The nature of the defendant's conduct calls for a further response from the courts. On occasion conscious wrongdoing by a defendant is so outrageous, his disregard of the plaintiff's rights so contumelious, that something more is needed to show that the law will not tolerate such behaviour. Without an award of exemplary damages, justice will not have been done. Exemplary damages, as a remedy of last resort, fill what otherwise would be a regrettable lacuna.

The Law Commission, though it hoped to do so, has not felt able entirely to dispose of this practice, recommending in a full-scale survey of the subject a change in terminology to mark the true function of exemplary damages as 'punitive'. According to its final recommendation, a judge should be able to award punitive damages in addition to any other appropriate remedy where the defendant's conduct shows 'a deliberate and outrageous disregard of the plaintiff's rights' and the judge considers other remedies inadequate to punish the defendant's outrageous conduct.<sup>28</sup>

Because they are actionable without proof of damage, the intentional torts convey a powerful deterrent message: officials act at their peril if they misconstrue their powers. In the same way as the ultra vires principle forces a public body to point to the source of its powers, so the trespass action places the onus on the executive to show 'lawful excuse or justification' for its actions. In  $R \ v$  *Governor of Brockhill Prison, ex p. Evans*,<sup>29</sup> the House of Lords construed the defence of 'lawful excuse' very narrowly. A prison governor had miscalculated the length of a prisoner's sentence in reliance on a judicial interpretation of the relevant statutory provisions later held to have been incorrect. It was argued that the governor had had no choice in the matter; he was bound to obey the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Rookes v Barnard [1964] AC 1129 (Lord Devlin).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Kuddus v Chief Constable of Leicestershire Constabulary [2001] 2 WLR 1789 [63]. And see Bottrill v A [2003] 1 AC 449.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Law Commission, Aggravated, Exemplary and Restitutionary Damages, Law Com. No. 247 (1997). And see M Tilbury, 'Reconstructing damages' (2003) Melbourne University Law Review 27. The report has not yet been implemented.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> R v Governor of Brockhill Prison, ex p. Evans (No 2) [2001] 2 AC 19. The illegality of the detention had already been established in an application for habeas corpus granted by the Divisional Court in Evans No. 1 [1997] QB 443.

law 'as expounded by the court not just once but several times'. The House of Lords accepted Lord Hope's stern view that it was no answer that the governor took reasonable care or acted in good faith when he made the calculation:

[F]or the governor to escape liability for any extended period of detention on the basis that he was acting honestly or on reasonable grounds analogous to those which apply to arresting police officers would reduce the protection currently provided by the tort of false imprisonment. I can see no justification for limiting the application of the tort in this way. The authorities are at one in treating it as a tort of strict liability. That strikes the right balance between the liberty of the subject and the public interest in the detection and punishment of crime. The defence of justification must be based upon a rigorous application of the principle that the liberty of the subject can be interfered with only upon grounds which a court will uphold as lawful. The Solicitor-General was unable to demonstrate that the respondent's detention was authorised or permitted by law after the date which was held by the Divisional Court to be her release date. I would hold that she is entitled to damages.

In *ID v Home Office*<sup>30</sup> the claimants were Roma asylum seekers who had spent periods of several months' detention in immigration detention centres. They challenged their detention as 'unlawful, unreasonable and disproportionate'. The Court of Appeal refused to strike out the claims and Brooke LJ cited Dicey to support the view that there was 'on the face of it nothing in the slightest bit peculiar about an individual bringing a private law claim for damages against an executive official who has unlawfully infringed his private rights'. He defended the use of the ancient tort of trespass in circumstances governed largely by statute (here the Immigration Act 1971), regulation and rules, asserting that 'the policy arguments for denying a right to damages for unlawful detention pale by comparison with the policy arguments for admitting such a right, because of the enormous damage that is caused, on occasion, by unlawful detention in terms of suffering and damage to physical and mental health':

I know that the Home Office is concerned with the practical implications of a decision of this kind. The evidence of the interveners showed, however, that when the Home Office determined to embark on the policy of using powers of administrative detention on a far larger scale than hitherto, the practical implementation of that policy threw up very understandable concerns in individual cases. The transition from a world where decisions affecting personal liberty are made by officials of the executive who operate according to unpublished criteria, and where there is no way of compensating those who lose their liberty through administrative muddles and misfiling, to a world where the relevant criteria have to be published and where those officials are obliged to ensure that their decisions are proportionate and to justify them accordingly, is bound to be an uneasy one in the early years, and mistakes are bound to be made. But so long as detention, which may cause significant suffering, can be directed by executive decision and an order of a court (or

<sup>30</sup> ID v Home Office [2005] EWCA Civ 38.

court-like body) is not required, the language and the philosophy of human rights law, and the common law's emphatic reassertion in recent years of the importance of constitutional rights, drive inexorably, in my judgment, to the conclusion I have reached.<sup>31</sup>

On other occasions, judges have been less stalwart. In *Holgate-Mohammed v Duke*,<sup>32</sup> a ruling that seriously undermines the strict liability of false imprisonment, a police officer detained the claimant at a police station without charging her in the hope of inducing a confession. Considering whether the detention was unlawful, the House of Lords held that the test must be the public law *Wednesbury* standard. This allowed the burden to be discharged by showing that the behaviour was 'common police practice'. It is hard to explain why a prison governor observing the law as the court has ruled it to be is guilty of unlawful detention when a police officer can get away with detaining someone because it is common police practice. Much common police practice is dubiously lawful and it is the duty of our courts to say when this is so.

There is however reluctance to extend the boundaries of strict liability torts. In *Wainwright v Home Office*,<sup>33</sup> a mother and son visiting a relative detained in prison under suspicion of being a drug dealer were subjected to a strip-search. They argued that this was assault and battery even if the prison officers honestly believed the rules authorised a strip search and had neither intended to cause distress nor realised they were acting unlawfully in terms of Rule 86(1) of the Prison Rules 1964. In the case of the son the House of Lords ruled that there could be liability; the search had involved touching his genitals, an improper physical contact of a kind not 'generally acceptable in the ordinary conduct of daily life'. In the mother's case, however, there had been no touching, hence technically no trespass. Unconvinced that strip-searching exceeded what was 'necessary and proportionate' to deal with the serious drug smuggling problem in prisons, the Law Lords, sweeping aside earlier precedents, refused to extend the boundaries of tort law to encompass strip-searching.

The case of *Watkins v Home Office*<sup>34</sup> was remarkable for Lord Bingham's attack on the historic case of *Ashby v White*. In *Watkins*, where prison officers in the course of a cell search had deliberately opened a prisoner's correspondence in violation of Rule 39 of the Prison Rules 1999, which protects the confidentiality of a prisoner's legal correspondence, no physical damage or financial loss had been suffered. The House of Lords refused to extend the scope of the specialised public law tort of misfeasance in public office to cover violations of constitutional or human rights on the ground that the claimant had suffered

<sup>31</sup> Ibid. [129].

<sup>32</sup> Holgate-Mohammed v Duke [1984] AC 437. See also Paul v Chief Constable of Humberside [2004] EWCA Civ 308.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Wainwright v Home Office [2003] 3 WLR 1137.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Watkins v Home Office [2006] UKHL 16 [24–6]. Cases cited by Lord Bingham include R v Home Secretary, ex p. Leech [1994] QB 198; R v Home Secretary, ex p. Simms [2000] 2 AC 115; R(Daly) v Home Secretary [2001] 2 AC 532. The human rights dimension of these cases is discussed at p. 118–19 above.

no damage, an element of the tort as recently defined by the House of Lords in *Three Rivers*, 35 where it was said:

- the defendant must be a public official
- the act complained of must be an exercise of public power
- the claimant must have suffered damage
- the official must have acted intentionally, maliciously *or recklessly*.

According to Lord Bingham in *Watkins*, the authorities were clear and remarkably consistent:

The proving of special damage has either been expressly recognised as an essential ingredient, or it has been assumed. None of these cases (and no authority, judicial or academic, cited to the House) lends support to the proposition that the tort of misfeasance in public office is actionable per se. *Ashby v White,* as I have suggested, is not reliable authority for that proposition. I would be very reluctant to disturb a rule which has been understood to represent the law for over 300 years, and which has been adopted elsewhere, unless there were compelling grounds for doing so.

The feature on which the Court of Appeal fastened was the breach in this case of the respondent's constitutional right to protection of the confidentiality of his legal correspondence. That was seen as providing an analogy with the breach of the plaintiff's constitutional right to vote in *Ashby v White*. The respondent relied on the authority of the Court of Appeal (per Steyn LJ) that the right of access to a court, closely linked with the right to obtain confidential legal advice, is a constitutional right. In a number of cases rights of this kind have been described as 'constitutional', 'basic' or 'fundamental' . . . In all these cases the importance of the right was directly relevant to the lawfulness of what had been done to interfere with its enjoyment.

In the present context the unlawfulness of what was done to interfere with the respondent's enjoyment of his right to confidential legal correspondence is clear. I see scant warrant for importing this jurisprudence into the definition of the tort of misfeasance in public office. We would now, of course, regard the right to vote as basic, fundamental or constitutional. None of these expressions was used by Holt CJ in *Ashby v White*, and scarcely could have been given the very small number of adult citizens by whom the right was enjoyed at the time. There is thus an element of anachronism in relying on *Ashby v White* (itself a highly politicised decision) to support a proposition it would scarcely (despite the right to vote being 'a thing of the highest importance, and so great a privilege') have been thought to support at the time. It is, I think, entirely novel to treat the character of the right invaded as determinative, in the present context, of whether material damage need be proved.

Linden once famously described tort law as an 'ombudsman', capable of unlocking the filing cabinets of bureaucrats, bringing their wrongdoing into the open, and making them pay for their misdoings.<sup>36</sup> The civil law is often

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Three Rivers District Council v Bank of England [2000] 2 WLR 1220.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> A. Linden, 'Tort law as ombudsman' (1973) 51 Can. Bar Rev. 155 and 'Reconsidering tort law as ombudsman' in F. M. Steel and S. Rodgers-Magnet (eds.), Issues in Tort Law (Carswell, 1983).

the last resort of citizens wishing to bring to the attention of the public a serious grievance or wrongdoing, its great advantage being that the levers of the civil action are operated by the individual and not, as with inquests or criminal prosecutions, by public officials. In failing to recognise tort law's deterrent function, the courts may be overlooking its 'ombudsman function'.<sup>37</sup>

### 3. Duties, powers and omissions

Negligence is, however, the general principle of civil liability and the main vehicle for legal compensation. For central government in particular one case stands as a landmark in the law of liability. In the *Dorset Yacht* case,<sup>38</sup> the House of Lords held that the Home Office could owe a duty of care in respect of damage done when young prisoners camping in open-prison conditions on an island in Poole harbour 'borrowed' a yacht in an attempt to escape. A warning light flashed for public authorities when all but one of the Law Lords (Viscount Dilhorne) rejected the argument that, in the absence of any precedents for liability, no liability could exist. Shortly afterwards, the 'novelty' argument was disposed of in *Anns v Merton LBC*.<sup>39</sup> Here the House of Lords introduced a policy test whereby a court, in assessing whether to impose a duty of care, should ask itself whether any substantial policy reason existed against so doing. This cleared the way to 'novel actions' against public authorities.

The *Dorset Yacht* ruling had a further impact, making it possible to push liability back from the actual wrongdoer (the escaping prisoners) or employees for whom a public authority is vicariously liable (the prison officers) to the public authority as itself in breach of duty. The public authority is a 'peripheral party', by which is meant that a chain of causation may be constructed, allowing liability to be traced back to the actor at the end of a potential liability chain. <sup>40</sup> Take the case of someone who becomes seriously ill with hepatitis after consuming oysters, given to him by a relative (uninsured), bought from a small commercial supplier (limited insurance). He chooses instead to sue peripheral parties: the local authority that owns the lake where the oysters grew, the food-safety authority with powers to regulate the industry and the environmental agency with responsibility for pollution. <sup>41</sup> Unsuccessful treatment in a hospital would add further possibilities! The trend to extend the chain of causation is undoubtedly accentuated by the rule that defendants in a tort action are 'jointly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See C. Harlow, 'A punitive role for tort law?' in Pearson, Harlow and Taggart (eds.), Law in a Changing State (Hart Publishing, 2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Home Office v Dorset Yacht Co. Ltd. [1970] 2 WLR 1140.

<sup>39</sup> Anns v Merton LBC [1978] AC 728. This so-called 'two-stage test' was subsequently modified in Caparo Industries plc v Dickman [1990] 1 All ER 568, the so-called 'three stage test'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See J. Stapleton, 'Duty of care: Peripheral parties and alternative opportunities for deterrence' (1995) 111 LQR 301.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> The facts of Graham Barclay Oysters Pty ltd v Ryan; Ryan v Great Lakes Council; State of New South Wales v Ryan [2002] HCA 54.

and severally' liable so that courts do not normally apportion the amount of damage that any defendant should incur.<sup>42</sup>

The rise of negligence as the standard vehicle for compensating victims of accidents had, through the 1970s and '80s, stimulated a 'victim oriented' tort law, by which is meant that courts, especially lower courts, had shown a greater willingness to open up tort law by imposing liability on defendants such as public authorities with 'deep pockets', or which the court assumed to be insured.<sup>43</sup> And as the state came to participate in more activities (education, public housing or social services) and undertook more regulatory functions, public authorities seemed more often to fit the role of guarantor. Just as the Parliamentary Ombudsman was invoked to push the government to make up for lost occupational pensions (see Chapter 12), so damages were sought from bodies exercising regulatory functions. In the Three Rivers case, litigants tried an action for misfeasance in public office against the Bank of England for its failure to oversee and prevent the collapse of the BCCI.<sup>44</sup> Again, in Watson, <sup>45</sup> liability was imposed on the British Boxing Board of Control (a non-statutory regulator) in respect of inadequate guidance issued to promoters. In Trent Strategic Health Authority v Jain, 46 however, the respondents were proprietors of care homes licensed under the Registered Homes Act 1984, whose licenses were withdrawn when the authority suddenly laid a complaint about them. Four months later, the respondents were wholly vindicated in proceedings before the magistrates, who had no compensation powers. As their business had suffered irremediably, the proprietors sought damages for negligence in the exercise of statutory powers and for procedural defects in the conduct of the legal proceedings. Unanimously the House of Lords ruled against them, confirming both that action taken by a public authority under statutory powers designed for the benefit or protection of a particular class of persons (residents) cannot give rise to a tortious duty of care to third parties (the proprietors) and that damage caused through preparation or conduct of court or tribunal proceedings cannot be redressed by means of an action in damages.

Statutory duties are, in principle, mandatory; in other words, they leave the public authority without any power of choice. It might therefore be supposed that omissions to carry out a statutory duty would automatically give rise to a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See J. Stapleton, 'Lords a'leaping evidentiary gaps' (2002) 10 Torts Law Journal 376 discussing asbestosis litigation in Glenhaven Funeral Services [2002] UKHL 22. Law Com. 187 contains the first serious proposals to tackle this problem: see [4.64–71].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> See G. Schwartz, 'The Beginning and the Possible End of the Rise of Modern American Tort Law' 26 Georgia Law Rev. 601 (1992); Hon. JJ Spigelman 'Negligence: the Last Outpost of the Welfare State' (2005) available online.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Three Rivers District Council v Bank of England [2001] UKHL 6. The choice of misfeasance was dictated by the need to circumvent a 'bad faith only' immunity conferred by section 1(4) of the Banking Act 1987, which restricted liability to cases of bad faith.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Watson v British Boxing Board of Control [2001] 2 WLR 1256.

<sup>46 [2009]</sup> UKHL 4 [28] [35] (Lord Scott).

right to damages for loss suffered. In practice, however, the courts have shown themselves unwilling to adopt such a stringent approach and the action for breach of statutory duty is a weak one. As the Law Commission complains, the courts have failed to enunciate clear principles and apply them consistently. Their method is to 'look to the construction of the statute, relying upon a number of "presumptions" for guidance, but in practice there are so many conflicting presumptions, with variable weightings, that it can be extremely difficult to predict how the courts will respond to a particular statute'.<sup>47</sup> A statutory power, on the other hand, contains discretion, defined in Chapter 5 as a power of choice; the authority can choose whether to act or not to act; it can also choose how to act. The apparent dichotomy between powers and duties has given rise in tort law to the fallacious argument that bolting a common law duty of care onto a statutory power deprives the public body of its power of choice and transmutes the power into a duty.<sup>48</sup>

If a public body decides not to take action or otherwise fails to act, the presumption against liability is strengthened by the entrenched common law distinction between acts and omissions, where courts are traditionally wary of imposing liability. When, in the seminal case of Donoghue v Stevenson, 49 Lord Atkin enunciated his famous neighbour principle that was to form the basis of liability for negligence, he did not confine the circumstances in which a duty of care could exist to positive actions; in fact he said: 'you must take reasonable care to avoid acts or omissions which you can reasonably foresee would be likely to injure your neighbour'. Despite this robust affirmation of liability for omissions, the unwillingness of the common law to impose liability for omissions to act remained. The prejudice was reinforced by an old common law exemption from liability for highway authorities (now repealed) for failure to maintain the highway (nonfeasance). In East Suffolk Catchment Board v Kent, 50 where the Board had undertaken to drain the claimant's flooded land but failed to do so, Lord Atkin carefully distinguished the two different categories of duty: statutory duties and the common law duty of care. Despite his vigorous protests, however, the House of Lords declined to find the Board liable, arguing that imposing a duty of care would effectively transform a statutory power into a statutory duty.

Similar confusion is visible in *Stovin v Wise*,<sup>51</sup> where S had been injured in a collision with a driver who negligently turned out of a blind junction. The highway authority had failed to remove a bank that obscured visibility at the junction, previously identified as an accident black spot. It had earlier contacted British Rail, the landowner, for permission to carry out modifications

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Law Com. 18 [4.73–4] citing Clerk and Lindsell on Torts, 19th edn ( 2006 ) [9.02].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> On the line between omission and affirmative right see s. 5(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Donoghue v Stevenson [1932] AC 562. Lord Atkin's position was affirmed in Anns v Merton LBC [1978] AC 728.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> East Suffolk Catchment Board v Kent [1941] AC 74.

<sup>51</sup> Stovin v Wise [1996] AC 923, 951 (Lord Hoffman for the majority).

but failed to notice that no reply had been received and to follow the matter up. Essentially, Lord Hoffmann based his refusal to impose liability on the distinction between the two forms of duty:

One must have regard to the purpose of the distinction as it is used in the law of negligence, which is to distinguish between regulating the way in which an activity may be conducted and imposing a duty to act upon a person who is not carrying on any relevant activity.

He deduced that 'arguments peculiar to public bodies' could and should *negative* the existence of a duty of care, discarding as 'simply unworkable' a more modern distinction made between the 'policy' area of decision-making, to be protected from liability, and the 'operational' acts by which policies and decisions are executed for which liability can accrue.<sup>52</sup> Lord Nicholls on the other hand concluded that the public law elements and 'typical statutory framework' of the decision helped to *create* a duty of care and a 'proximity which would not otherwise exist'.<sup>53</sup> The highway authority had 'failed to fulfil its public law obligations just as much as if it were in breach of a statutory duty'.

In *Gorringe v Calderdale MBC*,<sup>54</sup> the House returned to the problem. A mother had driven over the crest of a hill into an oncoming bus, killing her daughter and two young friends. An action was brought against the highway authority for failing to erect a sign warning of the deep dip in the road. Lord Hoffmann simply said that he found 'it difficult to imagine a case in which a common law duty can be founded simply upon the failure (however irrational) to provide some benefit which a public authority has power (or a public law duty) to provide'. Lord Scott on the other hand returned to the conceptual landmine of statutory duty, reasoning opaquely that:

if a statutory duty does not give rise to a private right to sue for breach, the duty cannot create a duty of care that would not have been owed at common law if the statute were not there. If the policy of the statute is not consistent with the creation of a statutory liability to pay compensation for damage caused by a breach of the statutory duty, the same policy would, in my opinion, exclude the use of the statutory duty in order to create a common law duty of care that would be broken by a failure to perform the statutory duty.<sup>55</sup>

Public finance does not figure largely in the speeches in these two cases, which focus on the distinction between acts and omissions, statutory and common law duties and the difference between public and private law. Yet the idea of transferring liability from the field of compulsory road-traffic insurance to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> See Anns v Merton London Borough Council [1978] AC 728.

<sup>53 [1996]</sup> AC 938, Lord Nicholls dissenting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Gorringe v Calderdale MBC [2004] UKHL 15; [2004] 1 WLR 1057. There was no possibility of recovery from the bus driver, who was in no way negligent, though an action by the passengers against the negligent driver could succeed. The issues are re-examined in Mitchell v Glasgow City Council [2009] UKHL 11.

<sup>55 [2004]</sup> UKHL [71].

public funds clearly troubled the House of Lords. In *O'Rourke v Camden LBC*, Lord Hoffmann raised the funding issue more clearly. The claimant had been placed in temporary accommodation pending a final decision on his entitlement to public housing. He was later evicted and claimed compensation for 'sleeping rough'. Lord Hoffmann explained that:

Public money is spent on housing the homeless not merely for the private benefit of people who find themselves homeless but on grounds of general public interest: because, for example, proper housing means that people will be less likely to suffer illness, turn to crime or require the attention of other social services. The expenditure interacts with expenditure on other public services such as education, the National Health Service and even the police. It is not simply a private matter between the claimant and the housing authority. Accordingly, the fact that Parliament has provided for the expenditure of public money on benefits in kind such as housing the homeless does not necessarily mean that it intended cash payments to be made by way of damages to persons who, in breach of the housing authority's statutory duty, have unfortunately not received the benefits which they should have done.<sup>56</sup>

In an attempt to resolve some of these hard cases, the Law Commission in its 2008 consultation paper suggests radical reform. It asks for special protection for all 'truly public' activities, defining this term to cover any act or omission where:

- The body exercised or failed to exercise, a special statutory power or
- The body breached a special statutory duty; or
- the body exercised or failed to exercise, a prerogative power.

A 'special statutory power' was defined as a power that allows the public body to act in a way not open to private individuals and 'special statutory duty' as a statutory duty placed on the public body that is specific to it and is not placed on private individuals.<sup>57</sup>

# 4. Defensive administration, 'decision traps' and immunity

Resource allocation is undoubtedly an important dimension of state liability. The decision requiring a retirement home to be kept open (*ex p. Coughlan*, see p. 227 above) may require a wider change of policy, the input of substantial new resources and may even result in worsening the conditions of elderly people in other homes. Tort actions may have similar consequences. Since tortious liability is a blunt instrument, it may, as the House of Lords indicated in the *Marcic* case (see p. 315 above) have the effect of distorting a more appropriate statutory scheme or administrative procedures. Liability may have unforeseen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> O'Rourke v Camden LBC [1997] 3 WLR 86, 94.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Law Com. 187 [4.131]. And see [4.110–32] and the list of questions at pp. 132–3.

consequences: liability for a playground accident may result, for example, in local authority playgrounds being closed. The impact of imposing a duty of care on a hard-pressed public service may be very similar to that of a judicial review decision that certain drugs are to be made generally available on the NHS, which as we saw with Herceptin in Chapter 3 could cost the NHS millions of pounds annually and result in less treatment for other, less seriously ill, patients. In addition, many tort actions conceal potential claims from groups of people in similar situations. Treasury guidance advises departments in such circumstances:

to consider whether they should offer compensation . . . in discovered cases of official failure where there has been no complaint. Where, following a particular complaint or the discovery of a particular case, departments discover that other individuals or bodies have suffered in the same way, they should consider whether, in the interests of equity, they should offer compensation to others.<sup>58</sup>

All this leads Cohen to argue for a 'no liability' rule on the ground that government and private employers alike undercut any deterrent effects of liability by failing to enforce liability against employees;<sup>59</sup> indeed, given the trend of modern tort law to vicarious and institutional liability,60 it would be virtually impossible to do so. Even Schuck, who favours the deterrent use of tort law, has to admit that its deterrent function may be marginal since 'most tort law standards are radically indeterminate; they define legal duties in terms of reasonableness, foreseeability and other similarly ambiguous concepts. Few brightline rules exist; even when they are available, the courts often reject them.' Schuck has also to concede that little is known about impact; 'which remedies deter particular behaviour . . . is ultimately an empirical question, but one that is so elusive that the inquiry must be informed largely by theoretical speculation'. 61 And the deterrence argument should not inhibit us from asking whether some decisions are of such a delicate nature that they should be protected from tortious liability altogether. A common argument against extensions of the liability of public authorities concerns the possible distortion of the decision-making process by introducing into already complex decisions the threat of tortious liability. Arguably, this leads to defensive administration creating 'decision traps' that, by submitting decision-makers to competing pressures, produce a serious freezing effect on administrative action.<sup>62</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Treasury, 'Dear Accounting Officer' (DAO (GEN) 15/92), available online.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> D. Cohen, 'Regulating Regulators: The Legal Environment of the State' (1990) 40 University of Toronto Law Journal 213, 258.

<sup>60</sup> See Lister and others v Hesley Hall Ltd [2001] UKHL 22 (vicarious liability of employers for warden's abuse of pupils in a children's home); Kuddus v CC of Leicestershire Constabulary [2001] UKHL 29 (vicarious liability of police authority for misfeasance in public office).

<sup>61</sup> P. Schuck, Suing Government: Citizen Remedies for Official Wrongs (Yale University Press, 1983), pp. 16 and 484.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Further discussed in C. Harlow, State Liability: Tort Law and Beyond (Oxford University Press, 2004), pp. 24–30.

#### (a) Social work and liability

The case of *X* (*Minors*) *v Bedfordshire*<sup>63</sup> was a test case designed to dispose once and for all of the confusion obscuring negligence actions founded on statutory powers and duties. In two sets of joined cases, the liability in negligence of local education authorities for systemic failures to diagnose and deal with the special educational needs of children and of social workers deciding care cases under the Children Acts was tested. The unanimous opinion of the House was voiced by Lord Browne-Wilkinson, who concluded that liability was possible in the educational cases since the duty of care was well established and did not derive from statute. There was no overriding reason why someone employed by a local education authority to carry out professional services should not in principle owe a duty of care to particular pupils; medical personnel are, after all, liable for their negligence and this liability should therefore extend to psychiatrists whether they work in the private sector or for a public education authority. In the social-work cases, where no private law analogy existed, the House found against the possibility of liability:

Lord Browne-Wilkinson: First, in my judgment a common law duty of care would cut across the whole statutory system set up for the protection of children at risk. As a result of the ministerial directions contained in 'Working Together' the protection of such children is not the exclusive territory of the local authority's social services. The system is interdisciplinary, involving the participation of the police, educational bodies, doctors and others. At all stages the system involves joint discussions, joint recommendations and joint decisions. The key organisation is the Child Protection Conference, a multi-disciplinary body which decides whether to place the child on the Child Protection Register. This procedure by way of joint action takes place, not merely because it is good practice, but because it is required by guidance having statutory force binding on the local authority. The guidance is extremely detailed and extensive: the current edition of 'Working Together' runs to 126 pages. To introduce into such a system a common law duty of care enforceable against only one of the participant bodies would be manifestly unfair. To impose such liability on all the participant bodies would lead to almost impossible problems of disentangling as between the respective bodies the liability, both primary and by way of contribution, of each for reaching a decision found to be negligent.

Secondly, the task of the local authority and its servants in dealing with children at risk is extraordinarily delicate. Legislation requires the local authority to have regard not only to the physical wellbeing of the child but also to the advantages of not disrupting the child's family environment: see, for example, section 17 of the Act of 1989. In one of the child abuse cases, the local authority is blamed for removing the child precipitately; in the other, for failing to remove the children from their mother. As the Report of the Inquiry into Child Abuse in Cleveland 1987 (Cm. 412) said, at p. 244:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> X (Minors) v Bedfordshire County Council; M v Newham London Borough Council [1995] 2 AC 633. The cases proceeded on a preliminary point and never came to trial.

'It is a delicate and difficult line to tread between taking action too soon and not taking it soon enough. Social services whilst putting the needs of the child first must respect the rights of the parents; they also must work if possible with the parents for the benefit of the children. These parents themselves are often in need of help. Inevitably a degree of conflict develops between those objectives.'

Next, if a liability in damages were to be imposed, it might well be that local authorities would adopt a more cautious and defensive approach to their duties. For example, as the Cleveland Report makes clear, on occasions the speedy decision to remove the child is sometimes vital. If the authority is to be made liable in damages for a negligent decision to remove a child (such negligence lying in the failure properly first to investigate the allegations) there would be a substantial temptation to postpone making such a decision until further inquiries have been made in the hope of getting more concrete facts. Not only would the child in fact being abused be prejudiced by such delay; the increased workload inherent in making such investigations would reduce the time available to deal with other cases and other children.

There is much good sense here. But the floodgates once prised open, further cases naturally followed in which the courts began to look more sceptically at the 'defensive-administration' or 'decision-trap' argument. A cluster of child abuse actions reached the courts, some brought by children taken into care, some by parents wrongly accused of child abuse, whose interests could conceivably conflict. 64 In parallel, the ECtHR had intervened, ruling that the decision in X v Bedfordshire violated ECHR Art. 13 since no effective remedy had been available for a grave violation of ECHR Art. 3.65 The ECtHR did not go so far as to say that only a judicial remedy was adequate to furnish effective redress but it certainly hinted as much; the judgment points to the advantages of judicial proceedings in affording 'strong guarantees of independence, access for the victim and family and enforceability of awards'.66 Moreover, the Court laid great emphasis on the importance of monetary compensation as a remedy for violation of individual rights, at least where the right violated was as fundamental as the right to life or the prohibition against torture, inhuman and degrading treatment here in issue. And the damages it awarded in 'just satisfaction' under ECHR Art. 41 were far from negligible: in respect of what was described as 'very serious abuse and neglect over a period of more than four years', the three applicants gained a total of £112,000 for pecuniary damage, with £32,000 per child for non-pecuniary damage, much more than they had been awarded under the criminal injuries compensation scheme (see p. XXX below). It should also be noted, in view of what has been said earlier, that in this case the primary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Notably *Phelps v Hillingdon BC* [2000] 3 WLR 766 and *Barrett v Enfield London Borough Council* [2001] 2 AC 550, where Lords Slynn, Nolan and Steyn dismissed the argument. And see S. Bailey and M. Bowman, 'Public authority negligence revisited' (2000) 59 CLJ 85.

<sup>65</sup> Z v United Kingdom (2001) 34 EHRR 97, noted by Gearty, 'Oman unravels' (2002) 65 MLR 87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Zv United Kingdom [109].

wrongdoers were the parents neither the state nor its officials were actively guilty of abuse, though they were hardly peripheral parties. The state was, in short, being held responsible for a regulatory function and for failure by a public service to react to an allegedly grave and distressing situation – a major extension of liability from misfeasance to nonfeasance.

By the time that the *East Berkshire* case<sup>67</sup> reached the House of Lords, the context had changed again through the introduction of the HRA, making the jurisprudence of the ECtHR a matter to be taken directly into consideration (see below). The question it posed was whether the *parent* of a minor child falsely accused of child abuse could recover common law damages for psychiatric injury in negligence. By a four to one majority, the House of Lords upheld the Court of Appeal's decision that the duty of care was restricted to the children, whose welfare was paramount; for parents, a finding of bad faith might be necessary for liability. The speeches in the House of Lords contain considerable analysis of the process of decision-making in child-care cases, the difficulties of which we explored in the context of child abuse inquiries (see Chapter 13 above). The dangers of skewing the decision-making process were once more emphasised, this time by Lord Nicholls:

the seriousness of child abuse as a social problem demands that health professionals, acting in good faith in what they believe are the best interests of the child, should not be subject to potentially conflicting duties when deciding whether a child may have been abused, or when deciding whether their doubts should be communicated to others, or when deciding what further investigatory or protective steps should be taken. The duty they owe to the child in making these decisions should not be clouded by imposing a conflicting duty in favour of parents or others suspected of having abused the child.<sup>68</sup>

Lord Bingham, however, was dismissive of this line of reasoning. <sup>69</sup> 'To describe awareness of a legal duty as having an "insidious effect" on the mind of a potential defendant is to undermine the foundation of the law of professional negligence. 'Equally, it was out of line with the relevant ministerial guidance, which stressed the need to co-operate closely with parents. He was equally dismissive of the dangers of creating conflicts of interest: 'it was hard to see how imposition of a duty of care towards parents could encourage healthcare professionals either to overlook signs of abuse which they should recognise or to draw inferences of abuse which the evidence did not justify'. On the contrary, tort law 'could help to instil a due sense of professional responsibility, and I see no reason for distinguishing between the child and the parent'. He preferred (on this occasion) to see tort law as evolutionary; it should 'evolve, analogically

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> JD and Others v East Berkshire Community Health Trust and Others [2003] EWCA Civ 1151 (CA); [2005] UKHL 23 (HL). See also W v Essex County Council [2001] 2 AC 592.

<sup>68 [2005]</sup> UKHL [86].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> [2005] UKHL [42] [50]. And see Department for Children, Schools and Families, Working Together to Safeguard Children (1999) now (2006), available online.

and incrementally, so as to fashion appropriate remedies to contemporary problems'. He would therefore have preferred to allow the appeals, sending the cases back for trial.

In an age of accountability and human rights this is unlikely to mark the end of the story. Consider the case of Angela Cannings, convicted of murdering her child on flawed medical evidence and sentenced to life. Had Mrs Cannings served her sentence, compensation for wrongful conviction under s. 133 of the Criminal Justice Act 1988 would have been available but the fact that her appeal against conviction succeeded excluded her from the statutory compensation scheme. Can it really be fair, just and reasonable to insist that no duty of care is owed in such circumstances? Would the ECtHR accept that compensation under Art. 5 was not due or that a mother injured in this way was not entitled to just satisfaction?

### (b) Policing and the duty of care

There is no immunity from liability for the police force, which is strictly answerable, as we have seen, for the legality of its actions. The imposition of a duty of care in the course of a criminal investigation is, however, another matter. In *Hill v Chief Constable of West Yorkshire*,<sup>72</sup> it was argued that the claimant's daughter would not have been murdered by the 'Yorkshire Ripper' had it not been for the negligence of the police. The House of Lords held that there was insufficient proximity for a duty of care to be owed to the mother, commenting on the inappropriate nature of the tort action for the investigation of such decisions. Lord Keith referred to the waste of police time and trouble and the expense of such proceedings. 'The result would be a significant diversion of police manpower and attention from their most important function, that of the suppression of crime. Closed investigations would require to be reopened . . . not with the object of bringing any criminal to justice but to ascertain whether or not they had been competently conducted.' With a hint of exaggeration, Lord Templeman thought that the way would be opened for every citizen:

to require the court to investigate the performance of every policeman. If the policeman concentrates on one crime, he may be accused of neglecting others. If the policeman does not arrest on suspicion a suspect with previous convictions, the police force may be held liable for subsequent crimes. The threat of litigation against a police force would not make a policeman more efficient. The necessity for defending proceedings, successfully or unsuccessfully, would distract the policeman from his duties.

Nee Lawrence v Pembrokeshire County Council [2007] EWCA Civ 446 (liability for placing persons on risk register).

<sup>71</sup> The Independent, 12 Jan. 2005 and 20 Apr. 2006; R v Cannings [2004] EWCA Crim 1.
A cluster of these cases led to an inquiry by the Attorney-General and subsequently to proceedings against the doctor by the General Medical Council.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Hill v Chief Constable of West Yorkshire [1989] AC 42.

The decision was to rebound on the House of Lords in the unfortunate *Osman* case, where failure by the police to protect a pupil from the attentions of a psychiatrically disturbed teacher led to a death by shooting. This action was struck out by the domestic courts on the ground that the police owed no duty of care, causing the victims to turn to Strasbourg for redress. The ECtHR treated the case as a violation of the Art. 6(1) right of access to the court ruling that, by treating the public-policy immunity as absolute, the domestic courts had ruled out adequate consideration of other public-interest considerations. It then applied Art. 41 to award 'on an equitable basis' a sum of £10,000 to each of the applicants, essentially for loss of a chance fully to present their case.

Undeterred by this warning, the House of Lords went on to apply the *Hill* principle in *Brooks v Metropolitan Police Commissioner*.<sup>75</sup> The claimant, Duwayne Brooks, was a friend of Stephen Lawrence, and a participant in the subsequent inquiry, conducted by Sir William Macpherson, <sup>76</sup> which described the police as 'institutionally racist'. It also found that the investigation had been badly conducted and that the respondent had not been treated appropriately. Yet in a subsequent action for damages for psychiatric injury, the House of Lords nonetheless found that the police force owed no duty of care to accord the claimant reasonably appropriate protection, support, assistance and treatment.

The issue of possible duties of care owed by the police in the course of investigating crime was reopened in *van Colle and Smith*,<sup>77</sup> providing an opportunity for the House of Lords to reconcile two apparently conflicting lines of cases. On the one hand, it confirmed the jurisprudence of the ECtHR in *Osman* to the effect that failure to take measures within the scope of its powers to protect an individual from 'a real and immediate risk to life' would amount to a violation of ECHR Art. 2 (right to life) by a public body. On the other, it affirmed the *Hill* principle that no duty of care was owed; any such duty would cause 'defensive policing' and divert police resources away from combating crime in order to deal with civil litigation. Applying these principles to the fact situations of (i) a vulnerable witness in a criminal case who had been murdered by the suspect and (ii) a young man injured in a series of attacks by his partner after threats of violence had been reported to the police, only Lord Bingham was prepared to consider liability in (ii) on the basis of the Strasbourg principle of 'imminent risk'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> See L. Hoyano, 'Policing flawed police investigations: Unravelling the blanket' (1999) 62 MLR 912. And see Osman v Ferguson [1993] 4 All ER 344.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Osman v United Kingdom (1998) 29 EHRR 245 noted by Gearty 'Unravelling Osman' (2001) 64 MLR 159 in a note on Z v UK (above), which can be read as a retraction by the ECtHR of Osman.

 $<sup>^{75}</sup>$  Brooks v Commissioner of Police for the Metropolis [2005] UKHL 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> The Stephen Lawrence Inquiry: Report of an Inquiry by Sir William Macpherson of Cluny, Cm. 4262-I (1999).

van Colle v Chief Constable of Hertfordshire; Smith v Chief Constable of Sussex [2007] EWCA Civ 325 (CA); [2008] UKHL 50 (HL). And see And see Mitchell v Glasgow City Council [2009] UKHL 11 [28–9] (Lord Hope).

What are we to make of this tangled and confusing case law, which imposes a duty of care on the education services and, on a more limited basis, on social workers but not on the police? Are we to conclude that the investigation of crime is more difficult or a matter of greater public interest than decisions to take or not to take a child into care? And what of the tangled jurisprudence of the ECtHR, which in case of apparent violations of ECHR Art. 2 requires both a public inquiry and compensation, and is extending this principle to other cases of human rights violation? There is a danger here of producing a set of parallel, overlapping remedies – some, such as criminal injuries compensation, capable of providing 'just satisfaction, others, such as public inquiries, not.

#### 5. The shadow of Europe

#### (a) Human rights and 'just satisfaction'

One possible explanation for the negative approach of the Law Lords in these perplexing cases, many of which raise the use of tort law for purposes other than recovery of compensation, is the advent of the Human Rights Act (HRA). The HRA does not preclude the award of damages for violation of a human right but it does make recovery difficult. Section 8(2) restricts the courts able to award damages to those competent 'to award damages, or to order the payment of compensation, in civil proceedings'. Section 8(3) provides that no award of damages is to be made unless, taking account of all the circumstances of the case including alternative remedies, 'the court is satisfied that the award is necessary to afford just satisfaction to the person in whose favour it is made'. Section 8(4) obliges the court to 'take into account the principles applied by the [ECtHR] in relation to the award of compensation under Article 41 of the Convention'.

Strasbourg principles are hard to interpret and Strasbourg awards are relatively ungenerous.<sup>78</sup> This is an open invitation to practitioners to try to bring human rights claims within the compass of domestic tort law. In *Wainwright*, W suffered shame, outrage and a loss of dignity, values discounted by Lord Hoffmann as comparable to the 'lack of consideration and appalling manners' used in institutions and workplaces all over the country, where 'people constantly do and say things with the intention of causing distress and humiliation to others'. Yet the ECtHR subsequently found that the manner in which these searches were carried out was disproportionate to the legitimate objective of fighting the drugs problem in the prison and amounted to a violation of ECHR Art. 8. It also found that the absence of any cause of action in tort, more especially for invasion of privacy, amounted to a breach of Art. 13. Compensation of £6,000 for non-pecuniary damage plus costs was awarded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> R. Clayton, 'Damage limitation: The courts and Human Rights Act damages' [2005] PL 429, 431.

in 'just satisfaction'. <sup>79</sup> In *Watkins*, the Art. 6(1) right of access to the court and perhaps a right of privacy (ECHR Art. 8) had been violated, so by refusing to extend the tort of misfeasance beyond material damage to cover rights violations, the courts laid themselves open to a finding, under ECHR Art. 13, that no remedy had been provided. In Z v UK (see p. 766 above) and *Osman*, this finding materialised.

If the scheme of the HRA is ambiguous, then so is the ECtHR's jurisprudence on 'just satisfaction'. Occasionally, as in Art. 5(5), compensation is prescribed. Sometimes, as with the Art. 2 cases discussed below, jurisprudence makes it virtually axiomatic. Exceptionally, as in Z v UK sums awarded in just satisfaction may be very considerable even in cases where the state is not the immediate wrongdoer. The sum awarded in *Watkins* is, however, more typical of the generally insubstantial awards.

Our courts have made three main attempts to deal with the problem of damages in human rights cases. In the first, the claimant, severely disabled and with a large family, had asked the council for housing appropriate to her condition. The council properly took responsibility but through 'operational negligence' left the claimant and her family to suffer conditions of squalor while nearly two years of litigation, delay, failure to carry out statutory duties, and distressing administrative incompetence elapsed. 80 Finally, the claimant's solicitors lost patience and asked for damages under the HRA, claiming in addition to the obvious breach of the right to private and family life (ECHR Art. 8) that the conditions suffered had been degrading (Art. 3).81 In view of the long period spent by the family in 'deplorable conditions, wholly inimical to any normal family life' and taking into consideration also the absence of explanation or apology, merely to rehouse the family seemed unsatisfactory; Sullivan J insisted on an award of damages. Imaginatively, he fed back into the case law the guidance and practice of the Local Government Ombudsman (below), awarding £10,000 – aptly in the circumstances termed a 'botheration payment'.

In Anufrijeva,<sup>82</sup> the second attempt, three claims for damages under ECHR Art. 8 (right to private and family life) were blocked up, respectively based on delay and general maladministration in the handling of asylum applications and on failure to supply accommodation adequate for the infirm and elderly relative of an asylum seeker. In a single judgment delivered for the court by

Wainwright v United Kingdom, App. No. 12350/04 (Judgment of 26 Sep. 2006). And see above p. 758. For privacy see J. Morgan, 'Privacy torts: Out with the old, out with the new' (2004) 120 LQR 395; Mosley v News Group Newspapers Ltd [2008] EWHC 687.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> R (Bernard) v Enfield LBC [2002] EWHC 2282. The case had been preceded by an unsuccessful application for judicial review of the Council's decision that the applicants had rendered themselves 'intentionally homeless': see Bernard v Enfield LBC [2001] EWCA Civ 2717.

<sup>81</sup> The Art. 3 claim was dismissed, as the judge ruled that the 'minimum threshold of severity' had not been crossed: see [26–31]. The case therefore proceeded as a violation of Art. 8.

<sup>82</sup> Anufrijeva v Southwark LBC [2003] EWCA Civ 406 (Lord Woolf LCJ, Lord Phillips MR and Auld LJ).

Lord Woolf CJ, a strong Court of Appeal disallowed the claims, ruling that save in exceptional circumstances, ECHR Art. 8 creates no general obligation to provide financial assistance. Its positive obligations stop short at requiring (i) that an appropriate statutory or administrative scheme is in place to ensure that private and family life is protected and (ii) that the scheme is operated with sufficient competence for it to achieve its aim. Thus while error of judgement, inefficiency, or maladministration occurring in the purported performance of a statutory duty could amount in principle to a breach of Art. 8, it would be rare in practice for maladministration to be regarded as a violation. There must, in Lord Woolf's view, be 'an element of culpability. At the very least, there must be knowledge that the claimant's private and family life were at risk.'83

The Court of Appeal also chose to highlight 'the different role played by damages in human rights litigation to the award of damages in a private law contract or tort action'. A tentative bright line was drawn between 'liability', resulting in an automatic entitlement to damages, and 'compensation' under the HRA, which was *discretionary*. In considering whether it was just and appropriate to award compensation, courts were therefore entitled to consider not only the circumstances of the individual victim but also what would serve the interests of the 'wider public who have an interest in the continued funding of a public service'. In a human rights application, according to Lord Woolf, the applicant seeks primarily:

to bring the infringement to an end and any question of compensation will be of secondary, if any, importance. This is reflected in the fact that, when it is necessary to resort to the courts to uphold and protect human rights, the remedies that are most frequently sought are the orders which are the descendants of the historic prerogative orders or declaratory judgments. The orders enable the court to order a public body to refrain from or to take action, or to quash an offending administrative decision of a public body. Declaratory judgments usually resolve disputes as to what is the correct answer in law to a dispute. This means that it is often procedurally convenient for actions concerning human rights to be heard on an application for judicial review in the Administrative Court. That court does not normally concern itself with issues of disputed fact or with issues as to damages. However, it is well placed to take action expeditiously when this is appropriate.<sup>84</sup>

Judges considering human rights claims were reminded to look first to alternative remedies, in particular to investigation by an ombudsman or mediator. In this way, the traditional common law 'pecking order' of public law remedies had been confirmed.

The case of *Greenfield*<sup>85</sup> gave the House of Lords an opportunity to consider the matter. The claimant was a prisoner who had served a disciplinary sentence

<sup>83 [2003]</sup> EWCA Civ [45].

<sup>84 [2003]</sup> EWCA Civ [52-3].

<sup>85</sup> R v Home Secretary, ex p. Greenfield [2005] UKHL 14 [19].

imposed in breach of his procedural rights under ECHR Art. 6(1) and later demanded compensation. Disallowing the claim, Lord Bingham firmly disapproved the idea that compensation under the HRA should approximate to tort law damages:

First, the 1998 Act is not a tort statute. Its objects are different and broader. Even in a case where a finding of violation is not judged to afford the applicant just satisfaction, such a finding will be an important part of his remedy and an important vindication of the right he has asserted. Damages need not ordinarily be awarded to encourage high standards of compliance by member states, since they are already bound in international law to perform their duties under the Convention in good faith, although it may be different if there is felt to be a need to encourage compliance by individual officials or classes of official. Secondly, the purpose of incorporating the Convention in domestic law through the 1998 Act was not to give victims better remedies at home than they could recover in Strasbourg but to give them the same remedies without the delay and expense of resort to Strasbourg. This intention was clearly expressed in the White Paper 'Rights Brought Home: The Human Rights Bill' (Cm 3782, 1 October 1997), para 2.6:

'The Bill provides that, in considering an award of damages on Convention grounds, the courts are to take into account the principles applied by the European Court of Human Rights in awarding compensation, so that people will be able to receive compensation from a domestic court equivalent to what they would have received in Strasbourg.'

Thirdly, section 8(4) requires a domestic court to take into account the principles applied by the European Court under article 41 not only in determining whether to award damages but also in determining the amount of an award. There could be no clearer indication that courts in this country should look to Strasbourg and not to domestic precedents . . . Judges . . . are not inflexibly bound by Strasbourg awards in what may be different cases. But they should not aim to be significantly more or less generous than the Court might be expected to be, in a case where it was willing to make an award at all.

Unless and until Strasbourg again takes a hand in the matter, the law seems to be settled.

# (b) The European Union and state liability

In the seminal case of *Francovich*, <sup>86</sup> the ECJ imposed liability on Italy for failure to transpose a European directive. Liability would accrue where:

- a directive was intended to confer rights on individuals
- the content of the rights was clearly spelt out in the directive
- there was a causal link between the failure to implement the directive and the loss suffered, the national court to decide whether a causal link existed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Joined Cases 6, 9/90 Francovich and Bonafaci v Italy [1991] ECR I-5357.

English law collided directly with this European jurisprudence in the *Factortame* case (see p. 180 above), when the 'Spanish fishermen' who had been unlawfully deprived of their right to fish in UK waters sued for damages.<sup>87</sup> On a preliminary reference, the ECJ refined the liability conditions: for liability to accrue, the breach must be 'sufficiently serious'. Today the question normally asked is whether the Member State 'manifestly and gravely' disregarded the limits on its discretion. In *British Telecom*,<sup>88</sup> where BT claimed damages for loss consequential on imperfect transposition of a directive, the ECJ took the opportunity to demarcate the boundaries. Council Directive 90/531 on the co-ordination of national public procurement procedures was notably loosely worded and difficult to transpose; the UK had acted in good faith though making an error in transposition; it had not committed a 'manifestly serious' breach of EC law. In *Factortame* (*No. 5*), on the other hand, the English courts ruled that the violation of EC law was 'sufficiently serious' to merit compensation and the action was subsequently settled, allegedly for a sum in the region of £55 million.<sup>89</sup>

No principle of administrative compensation comparable to the *Francovich* principle exists in the English system, where public authorities are subject to the ordinary principles of civil liability, as it does in some continental systems. How to slot the principle of state liability under EC law into the common law was therefore a matter of debate. To treat violations of EU law as a breach of statutory duty is the obvious solution. Misfeasance can also be useful where breaches of EC law are alleged, as the corporate officer of the House of Commons discovered when he turned a blind eye to EC public-procurement law when allotting a contract for the new Parliament building. 2

The case of *Factortame* is not the only occasion on which the impact of EC law has been felt; in other areas too the 'spill-over' from EC law has been considerable. In *Marshall (No. 2)*, for example, <sup>93</sup> the ECJ considered the statutory tort of race and gender discrimination and ruled the existing statutory cap on damages unlawful under EC law.

<sup>87</sup> Joined Cases C-46/93 and C-48/93 Brasserie du Pecheur SA v Germany, R v Transport Secretary, ex p. Factortame (No. 4) [1996] ECR I-1029.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> C-392/93 R v HM Treasury, ex p. British Telecommunications plc [1996] 3 WLR 203.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> R v Transport Secretary, ex p. Factortame (No. 5) [1997] EuLR 475 (Div Court) confirmed by the House of Lords at [1999] 3 WLR 1062.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Garden Cottage Foods v Milk Marketing Board [1984] 1 AC 130 (Lord Diplock). And see P. Craig, 'The domestic liability of public authorities in damages: Lessons from the European Community' and M. Hoskins, 'Rebirth of the innominate tort?', in J. Beatson and T. Tridimas (eds.), New Directions in European Public Law (Oxford: Hart Publishing) 1998. In Factortame, the House of Lords did not address the question.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> The ruling in *Three Rivers* that there was no liability under EC law is regarded as controversial by M. Andenas and D.Fairgrieve, 'Misfeasance in public office, governmental liability, and European Influences' (2002) 51 ICLQ 757.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Harmon Facades v Corporate Officer of the House of Commons (1999) EWHC Technology 199; Harman No. 2 (2000) EWHC Technology 84.

<sup>93</sup> Case C-271/91 Marshall v Southampton and South-West Hampshire Health Authority (Marshall (No. 2) [1993] ECR I-4367.

#### (c) Unjust enrichment and restitution

The Woolwich case<sup>94</sup> involved a significant change in the law of restitution, a deeply unsatisfactory area of English law, at the time of the decision under review by the Law Commission.95 Before the Commission reported, however, the House of Lords was faced with an action for recovery of sums paid by Woolwich to meet tax demands from the IRC that subsequently turned out to have been unlawful. Could the money be reclaimed? Under existing law, money paid to a public authority under a mistake of law in the form of taxes or other levies was not recoverable - 'a shabby rule'!96 In the Woolwich case, the House of Lords, in Lord Goff's discreet phrase, 'reformulated the law' to provide a right to restitution in such cases. The House of Lords set out a new principle: that 'money paid by a citizen to a public authority in the form of taxes or other levies paid pursuant to an ultra vires demand by the authority is prima facie recoverable by the citizen as of right'.97 This conspicuous piece of judicial lawmaking, acceptable to leading commentators and the Law Commission, provoked strong dissents from Lords Keith and Jauncey, concerned that a wide restitution principle could cause 'very serious practical difficulties of administration and specifying appropriate limitations presents equal difficulties'. On the other hand, a factor pointing strongly to the change made in Woolwich was that it was required by the jurisprudence of the ECJ, which had already recognised an entitlement to repayment of charges levied contrary to EC law.98

The impact of the ECJ was felt again in a later set of claims concerning compensation and restitution for taxes unlawfully demanded. Under the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988, corporation tax was payable quarterly in advance on certain distributions made within the UK. In 2001, this provision was ruled by the ECJ to be incompatible with EC law; a right of restitution or compensation must be available.<sup>99</sup> Faced with claims counted in billions, the IR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Woolwich Equitable Building Society v Commissioners of Inland Revenue [1993] AC 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Law Com. No. 227, Restitution: Mistakes of law and ultra vires public authority receipts and payments, Cm. 2731 (1994). At the time the question was out to consultation with Law Com. No. 120 (1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> S. Arrowsmith, 'An assessment of the legal techniques for implementing the procurement directives' in P. Craig and C. Harlow (eds.), *Lawmaking in the European Union* (Sweet & Maxwell) 1997.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> [1992] 2 All ER pp. 756, 764 (Lord Goff), approved by Lords Slynn and Browne-Wilkinson. The principle was applied to the situation of an ultra vires contract in *Kleinwert Benson v Lincoln City Council* [1999] 2 AC 349.

<sup>98</sup> See Case 199/82 Amministrazione delle Finanze dello Stato v San Giorgio [1983] ECR 3595, cited by Lord Goff in Woolwich [1993] AC 70, 177. And see Case C-192/95 Comatch v Directeur Général des Douanes et Droits Indirects [1997] ECR I-165; M. Dougan, 'Cutting your losses in the enforcement deficit: A Community right to recovery of unlawfully levied charges' (1998) 1 Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies 233.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Joined cases C-397 and C-410/98 Metallgesellschaft and Hoechst v Inland Revenue Commissioners [2001] ECR I-1727. The British government legislated to limit the effect of these judgments in s. 320 of the Finance Act 2003, which takes effect retrospectively to September 2003.

countered with the argument that claims to compensation were time-barred by s. 32(1)(c) of the Limitation Act 1980. The claimants responded that, in respect of claims to restitution, time ran from the date the mistake of law was discovered, namely the date of the ECJ judgment. The House of Lords dismissed this argument, ruling that taxes paid under a mistake of law were reclaimable in restitution, with time running from the point when the mistake was discovered. Whether this is (or should be) purely a public law principle or one generally applicable in private law situations remains undecided, leaving the law of unjust enrichment in an uncertain state. 101

#### 6. Alternatives to tort law

If, as we are suggesting, the legal system can provide only sporadic and uncertain awards of pecuniary compensation, are more proportionate alternatives available? NHS managers certainly think so. Faced with a fifteen-fold rise in claims for medical negligence between the years 1995–6 and 2002–3, they moved to reform the arrangements for complaints-handling and settlement. The NHS Redress Act 2006 authorises the minister to 'establish a scheme for the purpose of enabling redress to be provided without recourse to civil proceedings'. Such a scheme must provide remedies ranging from an offer of compensation in satisfaction of any right to bring civil proceedings in respect of the liability concerned to the giving of an explanation, an apology or a report on the action which has been, or will be, taken to prevent similar cases arising. <sup>102</sup>

This scheme is not without its problems, as the House of Commons Constitutional Affairs Committee observed when examining the draft Bill. In particular, it does not apply to those with claims over £20,000, which will actually be rejected if they turn out on inquiry to exceed that sum. Questioned by a Select Committee about this negative aspect of the scheme, which the Committee felt would deprive it of much of its usefulness, the minister cheerfully (if ungrammatically) admitted:

doing regulation by secondary level legislation which we do in Parliament – which when you are in government you love, when you are not in government, you get very frustrated by – is that you can quickly and relatively easily make amendments of that kind to legislation of this nature, so we think that we will be able to do that because of the way we set up the legislation.<sup>103</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Deutsche Morgan Grenfell Group plc v IRC [2006] 3 WLR 781.

J. Alder, 'Restitution in public law: Bearing the cost of unlawful state action' (2002) 22 Legal Studies 165, argues for a public law principle; G. Virgo, 'Restitution from public authorities: Past, present and future' [2006] Judicial Review 370 prefers a general principle. And see generally P. Birks, Unjust Enrichment, 2nd edn (Oxford University Press, 2005).

<sup>102</sup> See DoH, Making Amends. A consultation paper setting out proposals for reforming the approach to clinical negligence in the NHS (2003) [31] [35]. And see now the NHS Redress Act 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> See Constitutional Affairs Committee, Compensation Culture, HC 754 (2005/6) [96].

Somewhat sourly, the Committee responded that this 'flexibility' was unlikely to promote confidence in the scheme. The cap is certainly open to the criticism that it leaves the most vulnerable claimants to the forensic lottery of litigation.

It is too early to evaluate this new form of proportionate dispute resolution, which has only just come into operation. In the next sections, however, we shall look more closely at two established models of administrative compensation, asking whether they can provide a viable alternative to courts.

#### (a) Ex gratia payments

Reference has already been made to the Crown prerogative power to make *ex gratia* payments. These powers are routinely used to settle cases of legal liability. The precise nature of the prerogative powers is debatable. The House of Lords has ruled, however, that the powers are discretionary and that, although the discretion is not unlimited, the practice of making *ex gratia* payments does not require parliamentary authorisation. <sup>104</sup> They do, however, need Treasury approval, subject to general authority to make payments up to £250,000, and the conditions for payment are set out and published in the manual of government accounting:

Ex gratia payments other than to contractors are payments which go beyond administrative rules or for which there is no statutory cover or legal liability. Reasons for the payments vary widely; they include, for example, payments made to meet hardship caused by official failure or delay, or special payments to avoid legal proceedings against the government on grounds of official inadequacy.

Extra-statutory and extra-regulatory payments are payments considered to be within the broad intention of the statute or statutory regulation, respectively, but which go beyond a strict interpretation of its terms. Where a payment is of a continuing nature but does not form part of a general concession of sufficient importance to justify separate provision in Estimates, the payment should be noted in the accounts for all years in which it falls. The need for amending legislation should be considered in all cases that arise. 105

A reorganisation to centralise the disparate practices of *ex gratia* compensation in different departments would have some advantages. It would be less flexible but it would provide greater consistency and transparency, important good-governance values. Just such a scheme is the Australian Compensation for Detriment caused by Defective Administration (CDDA) scheme set up to deal with claims in respect of maladministration.<sup>106</sup> The CDDA scheme

<sup>104</sup> R v Secretary of State for Work and Pensions, ex p. Hooper [2005] UKHL 29; R v IRC, ex p. Wilkinson [2005] UKHL 30. Both involved the legality of extra-statutory payments to implement ECtHR judgments concerning the compatibility of the British system for widows' pensions with the ECHR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Government Accounting 2000, available online [18.6.5] [18.6.8].

<sup>106</sup> Commonwealth of Australia, Compensation for Detriment Caused by Defective Administration (CDDA); Guidelines for Agencies (Finance Circular 2001/01/01 Attachment B).

is discretionary but, like the British criminal injuries compensation scheme, is governed by published administrative guidelines. An important difference between it and traditional *ex gratia* payments is the emphasis on consistency and fairness: decisions made under the CDDA scheme must be 'publicly defensible, having regard to all the circumstances of the case'. Only in special circumstances can payments that fall outside the scheme be made and only with the approval of the finance minister.<sup>107</sup>

#### (b) Criminal injuries compensation

The Criminal Injuries Compensation Scheme (CICS) was first set up and administered under the prerogative powers, though it has since been put on a statutory basis. Use of the prerogative was perhaps justifiable so long as numbers remained small: in its first year of operation, only 554 applications were received and £33,430 paid out in compensation. Thereafter claims increased rapidly: by 1988-9, when legislation was introduced to put the scheme on a statutory basis, there were 43,385 claims and awards of £431,532,702; in 1992-3, when the Government moved to amend the scheme on the ground of cost, claims had risen to 65,977 and compensation totalled £909,446,123. These are considerable amounts of public money to be spent without parliamentary authorisation, especially as questions arise concerning the basis for criminal injuries compensation. Unlike most ex gratia payments, criminal injuries compensation is not made in settlement of legal liability nor is it a claim in respect of maladministration. The only explanation afforded by the Home Office working party that advised on the setting up of the plan was that 'although the welfare state helps the victims of many kinds of misfortune, it does nothing for the victims of crimes of violence, as such'. 108 This notably sidestepped the question why anything should be done 'as such' and the equally important question why it should be done without the formal approval of Parliament.

Discussing rules and discretion in Chapter 6, we saw flexibility as an important reason both for discretion and for the choice of soft law. The case put for discretion here was that the CICS was the first scheme of its kind in the world. The Government wished to see how it worked out and retain the ability to make adjustments; moreover, the cost was uncertain. That the organisation and ambit of the scheme was governed by published rules suggested something rather different however. Atiyah<sup>109</sup> was quick to notice the contradiction, calling the denial of a 'right' to compensation 'quite meaningless, because the board administering the scheme has no discretion to refuse claims except within the terms of the scheme itself; and the payment of compensation – though not legally enforceable – follows automatically once

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> S. 33 of the Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997 (Aus).

<sup>108</sup> Compensation for Victims of Crimes of Violence, Cmnd 1406 (1961) [18]. And see A. Ashworth, 'Punishment and compensation: Victims, offenders and the state' (1986) 6 OJLS 86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Accidents, Compensation and the Law XXX edn p. 296

the board has determined that it should be awarded'. The Board (now the CICA) set up to administer the scheme also accepted that its discretion was not unfettered:

The use of the words *ex gratia* means that an applicant has no right to sue either the Crown or the Board for non-payment of compensation. But, in practice, the position is exactly the same as it would be if the Scheme was embodied in a statute with the words *ex gratia* omitted. The Board's view of its legal obligation and duty under the Scheme is that, if an applicant's entitlement to compensation is established there is no power to withhold compensation.<sup>110</sup>

Here the CICA seems to be suggesting that, although the scheme is not justiciable, it is somehow enforceable: the rules of the scheme are sufficiently strict to 'structure' the discretion. Yet a cursory look at the text<sup>111</sup> confirms the rules as 'soft law'. The scheme has two parts: the rules of operation and a 'Guide' or 'Statement' designed to inform applicants and their advisers how applications are likely to be determined. In comparison to statute or the complex regulations on which courts and tribunals typically have to adjudicate, the text is simple to construe and self-explanatory: guidelines or a code of practice aimed at the public and not designed to provide work for lawyers. Indeed, one judge has said that the scheme is unsuited to judicial interpretation:

The scheme, as the document is entitled which enshrines the rules for the board's conduct, is not recognisable as any kind of legislative document with which the court is familiar. It is not expressed in the kind of language one expects from a parliamentary draftsman, whether of statutes or statutory instruments. It bears all the hallmarks of a document which lays down the broad guidelines of policy.<sup>112</sup>

The Government, while favouring formal adjudicatory methods, originally intended to avoid the courts. The Board would be autonomous, its decisions not being subject to ministerial review or appeal. Claims were submitted and processed on the papers by a single member of the Board; appeal lay to a panel of lawyers, with the possibility of an oral hearing. The only external accountability would be through annual reports submitted to the Home Secretary and laid before Parliament. There were therefore tremors when, in *R v Criminal Injuries Compensation Board, ex p. Lain*, <sup>113</sup> the Divisional Court held that the Board, as 'a servant of the Crown charged by the Crown, by executive instruction, with the duty of distributing the bounty of the Crown . . . came fairly and squarely within the jurisdiction of this Court'. Inroads had been made not

<sup>110</sup> Cmnd 7752 (1979) [15].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Available online at the CICA website.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> R v Criminal Injuries Compensation Board, ex p. Schofield [1971] 1 WLR 926 (Bridge LJ dissenting).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> R v Criminal Injuries Compensation Board, ex p. Lain [1967] 2 QB 864.

only on the ambit of prerogative power but also on the scheme's discretionary nature. Discretionary decisions structured by informal rules were now subject to review and interpretation by the courts. Following *Schofield*, <sup>114</sup> where the Board had interpreted the rules to exclude compensation for a bystander knocked down accidentally during a struggle to arrest a shoplifter but the Court of Appeal ruled that the case fell within the rules, the scheme gave rise to legally enforceable entitlements.

But the argument for formalisation through statute would not go away. In 1980, introducing a Private Member's Bill which he later withdrew, Lord Longford argued that 'the establishment of a statutory system would command much more confidence among victims, and certainly could be used to promote much more effective publicity'. He was making the important point that statute is more legitimate, more transparent and more certain than informal rules, which can be – and in the event were – amended from time to time without too much publicity. With the help of the Lords but against the wishes of the Government the scheme finally reached the statute book. It was stated to come into force 'on such day as the Secretary of State may appoint'.

The Act was never activated. An accumulated backlog, long delays and high operating costs of £14.25 million (9 per cent of total expenditure) led the Government to conclude that a scheme based on common law damages was 'inherently incapable of delivering the standard of service claimants should now reasonably expect'. A White Paper proposing drastic change was published. 117 The Government wanted a 'banded tariff' scheme, calculated by averaging past awards. The lawyer-dominated Board would be wound up and replaced by a simple administrative process coupled with two-stage internal review: first, review by a more senior administrator, secondly, an external appeals panel appointed by the minister using documentary procedure. The Home Secretary introduced legislation to replace the 1988 Act but it failed to pass the House of Lords. Hoping to delay implementation indefinitely, he replaced the existing prerogative scheme with a new, less generous, 'tariff' scheme, effectively bypassing the 1988 Act. The legality of this substitution was immediately challenged by a group of unions whose members were likely to be affected. 118 As we saw in Chapter 4, the case, which raised points of great constitutional significance, was decided by a majority of the House of Lords against the Government.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> R v Criminal Injuries Compensation Board, ex p. Schofield [1971] 1 WLR 926.

<sup>115</sup> HL Deb., vol. 401, cols. 233-5

Ss. 108–77 and Schs. 6 and 7 of the Criminal Justice Act 1988. See P. Duff, 'Criminal injuries compensation: The scope of the new scheme' (1989) 52 MLR 518. The Act followed a Report from the Home Affairs Select Committee, Compensation and Support for Victims of Crime, HC 43 (1984/5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Compensating Victims of Violent Crime: Changes to the criminal injuries compensation scheme, Cm. 2434 (1993). See P. Duff, 'The measure of criminal injuries compensation: Political pragmatism or dog's dinner?' (1998) OJLS 105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> R v Home Secretary, ex p. Fire Brigades Union [1995] 2 WLR 464 (see p. 145 above).

Level	Tariff in £	Total no. of awards on assessment	Gross value in £	
1	1,000	6,735	6,735,000	
5	2,000	3,724	7,448,000	
10	5,000	198	990,000	
15	15,000	45	675,000	
20	40,000	34	1,360,000	
25	250,000	6	1,500,000	

**Table 17.1** Awards by tariff level 2004–5 (adapted from Annual Report 2004–5 Table 1)

**Table 17.2** CIC awards disposed of by level

Year	Disallowed	First level	Review	Appeal	Total awards	Gross value in £
1999–2000	38,157	31,861	5,692	2,147	39,700	108,580,500
2004–5	33,847	27,994	5,352	2,100	35,446	120,845,650

Immediately, a Bill that became the Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 1995 was introduced into the Commons to validate the tariff scheme. It standardised the amounts of compensation. There are today twenty-five bands covering payments between £1,000 and £250,000 in respect of 400 listed injuries. The Act gave the minister wide discretionary powers to 'make arrangements for the payment of compensation' and to appoint an adjudicator; otherwise the scheme had apparently lost both its informal *ex gratia* character and its formal legalistic procedures. Since 2008 appeal lies to the First-tier Tribunal (Criminal Injuries Compensation) under the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2006.

As Table 17.1 indicates, the changes have to a certain extent served their purpose. There has been a substantial fall in sums expended in compensation: from a peak of £210 million in 1996–7 and £214 million in 1997–8 (as the changeover was taking place) to average sums of just over £1 million. Note that by far the greatest number of awards comes at the bottom levels of the tariff.

Under the influence of new public management methodology, target-setting is very gradually making an impression on the accumulated backlog, which has moved from a peak of 97,236 cases in 1999 down to 84,581 in 2004–5 (in the last three reported years the backlog has fallen from 91,447 to 84,990 to 84,581). The number of awards contested is dropping slightly, though appeal figures remain fairly constant. The average time to process claims has, however, hardly changed: from around six to eight months, with more than 26 per cent taking more than one year to resolve.

We should not read too much into this brief and selective account of a single statutory scheme but a few general observations are in order. First, time is saved; throughput time compares well with appeals to tribunals or judicial review (see pp. 502 and 685 above). But statutory compensation does not come cheap. The resources required escalate with the number of claims, which in the case of criminal injuries compensation have increased exponentially since inauguration of the scheme. This fact alone may be thought sufficient justification for government insistence on keeping control of resources and ultimately for the fixed-tariff scheme. Compensation cannot be demand-led but it is questionable whether a scheme capped at £250,000, as the criminal injuries compensation scheme currently is, really provides adequately for victims of serious violence. One day the cap may be challenged.

#### 7. Ombudsmen and redress

Over the years, the ombudsmen have handled a good many complaints over compensation, some concerning *ex gratia* payments, others involving the ambit and operation of statutory compensation schemes. *Sachsenhausen* (1967) involved just such an inquiry, as did the *Court Line* affair (1975), the *Channel Tunnel* affair (1995), *Barlow Clowes* (1989), the *Occupational Pensions* affair (2006) considered in Chapter 13 and the *Debt of Honour* affair discussed in this chapter .

Shortly after publication of the Citizen's Charter (see p. 450 above) with its promise of 'better redress for the citizen when things go wrong', the Select Committee on the Parliamentary Commissioner for Administration (PCA), dissatisfied with the haphazard way in which compensation was administered, invited the then PCA (William Reid) to undertake a 'thematic inquiry' into redress. 119 Substantial departmental discrepancies in the practice of ex gratia payment were revealed: some departments, like the Home Office, possessed unlimited authority; others needed Treasury authority for all but the most trivial payments. The review also revealed a hotchpotch of compensation schemes, varying in size and scale - some statutory, others ex gratia; some, like the CICS, relatively well-known, others entirely unpublicised. There were many anomalies, often creating a strong sense of injustice amongst those left just outside the boundaries, and substantial differences of practice. The Treasury warned departments that 'an unduly liberal regime of compensation would impose an administrative burden on departments . . . Departments needing to distribute codified internal guidance on ex gratia payments, in order to permit a measure of delegated authority to local staff, should design it to be exclusive to closely defined cases.' 120

Rejecting Treasury Guidelines as 'frequently inappropriate' and its advice as 'outdated, restrictive and doctrinaire', the Committee expressed its displeasure at 'the inadequacy of much of the redress offered by departments and agencies, [their] unwillingness to admit fault, refusal to identify and gracefully

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> PCA, Maladministration and Redress, HC 112 (1994/5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> See 'Dear Accounting Officer', DAO (Gen) 15/92.

compensate those affected by acts of maladministration'.<sup>121</sup> William Reid took the view that compensation should be made in all cases of 'abnormal hardship' caused by maladministration. The Committee wished to see established a principle of full restitution: that 'a person who has suffered injury as a result of maladministration should be put back in the same position as he or she would have been in had things gone right in the first place'.<sup>122</sup> A somewhat similar line was taken by the present PCA, Ann Abraham, in a document advising on principles for redress that focuses on 'putting things right':

Where maladministration or poor service has led to injustice or hardship, public bodies should try to offer a remedy that returns the complainant to the position they would have been in otherwise. If that is not possible, the remedy should compensate them appropriately. Remedies should also be offered, where appropriate, to others who have suffered injustice or hardship as a result of the same maladministration or poor service.

There are no automatic or routine remedies for injustice or hardship resulting from maladministration or poor service. Remedies may be financial or non-financial. 123

Local authorities have power under s. 92 of the Local Government Act 2000 to make payments to any person who has or may have been affected by maladministration. Guidance covering the way s. 92 powers should be used is published by the Commission for Local Administration. <sup>124</sup> Financial compensation may be appropriate if:

- the authority has taken the appropriate action but has delayed in doing so and the delay has caused injustice
- there is no practical action which would provide a full and appropriate remedy or
- the complainant has sustained financial loss or has suffered stress and anxiety.

The Guidance, which covers quantifiable loss, loss of non-monetary benefits (such as quiet enjoyment of local authority housing), loss of a chance and distress, states that the underlying aim of all such payments must be to put the complainant as far as possible back into the position he or she would have been in but for the fault. Costs and professional fees can be claimed in exceptional circumstances. In general awards are moderate: for example, payments for lost opportunity (such as the right to appeal a council decision) are restricted to around £100, while time-and-trouble payments will normally amount to no more than £50. In respect of distress, the Guidance warns that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> Third Report of the Select Committee on the PCA, HC 345 (1993/4).

<sup>122</sup> Ihid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> PCA, Principles for Remedy (2007) principle 5, available online.

<sup>124</sup> CLA, Remdies: Good practice, available online. These principles were applied in R (Bernard) v Enfield LBC [2002] EWHC 2282.

The level of compensation for distress needs to be carefully assessed in the light of all the circumstances of the individual case. Because these do vary significantly, the guideline has to be broad, but generally it is likely that the appropriate sum would be in the range of £500 to £2,000 for a year, with broadly *pro rata* sums for shorter or longer periods. But a careful assessment of the facts may, on some occasions, point to sums above or below that range.

This fleshes out the PCA's advice to the Select Committee that 'botheration payments' be routinely awarded to cover cases of grave maladministration, where excessive rudeness and malice are involved or exceptional worry and distress caused.

The group dimension of compensation claims means that compensation flowing from a decided case or ombudsman inquiry may be very considerable. In the Slaughtered Poultry affair, 125 where the PCA discovered that claims for statutory compensation had been handled by the Ministry deliberately and with the knowledge of the minister so as to minimise the amount of compensation payable, his very negative report resulted in recalculation of sums due to other farmers involving more than £600,000. This did not include the costs in time and labour of identifying those likely to be affected by a ruling. The sheer size of the sums paid out by government in compensation and settlement of legal liability should be - and is no doubt to the Treasury and National Audit Office (NAO) responsible for monitoring payments on behalf of the Public Accounts Committee – a matter of concern. The NAO recently published its 'best estimate' of total compensatory payments across a handful of central government bodies, excluding the very costly NHS, as in the region of £12,448,000, made up of 46,002 individual payments. 126 The Department for Work and Pensions heads the table and makes more than one-third of the total payments. In the single year 2002-3, it made 31,051 payments amounting to £9,047,000 in compensation, of which 10,955 payments (£2,575,000) were in respect of delay. 127 These figures which, it should be noted, cover only central-government departments, may be read in two ways: on the one hand, they can be seen as justifying the courts' cautious approach to extensions of government liability; on the other hand, it could be argued that compensation on such a scale demonstrates society's acceptance of a compensation principle and consequently of a generous and victim-oriented attitude by courts in liability cases.

## (a) A debt of honour

An objection often made about ombudsman recommendations is that they are unenforceable (for which reason the ECtHR deems them not to satisfy the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Compensation to Farmers for Slaughtered Poultry HC 519 (1992/3), Annual Report 1993, HC 290 (1994/5), p. 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> NAO, Citizen Redress: What citizens can do if things go wrong with public services, HC 21 (2004/5), p. 42 and Table 18.

<sup>127</sup> HC Deb., col. 12W (7 Jun 2004) (Mr Willetts).

requirements of an 'effective remedy' under ECHR Art. 13). <sup>128</sup> There is some justification for this attitude in the Government response to the findings of the PCA in the *Occupational Pensions* case (see p. 554 above). The following case study suggests, however, that this reasoning may be fallacious; ombudsmen may sometimes reach the parts that the judicial process cannot reach.

On 7 November 2000, the Parliamentary Under-Secretary for Defence stood up in the House of Commons to make a gratifying announcement:

I am very pleased to inform the House that . . . the Government have decided to make a single *ex gratia* payment of £10,000 to each of the surviving members of the British groups who were held prisoner by the Japanese during the Second World War, in recognition of the unique circumstances of their captivity . . .

The unique nature of Japanese captivity in the far east was recognised in the 1950s, when those who had been held became eligible for modest payments from Japanese assets<sup>129</sup> . . . In the intervening years, the former far east prisoners pursued the issue of additional compensation with Japan. More recently, they have also campaigned for the British Government to make a payment. However . . . it has been the policy of successive Governments over many years not to make payments in such cases.

We are now making an exception of the British groups that were held prisoner by the Japanese during the Second World War in recognition of the unique circumstances of their collective captivity . . . We estimate that up to 16,700 people may be eligible for the *ex gratia* payments, which will accordingly cost up to £167 million to make. <sup>130</sup>

The House was told that the beneficiaries would be 'former members of the armed forces and Merchant Navy and British civilians who were interned'. No further details were given because, as the public would learn later, they had not yet been agreed. Notes for Guidance published on the same day indicated that 'surviving British civilians who were interned by the Japanese in the Far East during the Second World War' would be eligible.

In July 2001, the minister stated in reply to a parliamentary question that the eligibility criterion for civilian claimants had been clarified: British subjects whom the Japanese interned and who were born in the United Kingdom or had a parent or grandparent born here would be eligible. Intended to be inclusive, these 'birth-link' and 'blood-link' definitions had the unintended effect of excluding some British subjects living overseas who would otherwise have been eligible. ABCIFER, an action group representing British civilians in the Far East, applied for judicial review.<sup>131</sup> It challenged the criteria for the scheme as unlawful, disproportionate and irrational, also arguing that the first announce-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> TP and KM v UK, App. 2894/95 (10 May 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> In practice, around £76.00 for servicemen and £48.00 for civilians.

HC Deb., col. 159 (7 November 2000) (Dr Lewis Moonie). There had been adjournment debates in the House on 10 May 1995, 4 December 1996, 29 April 1998, 9 March 2000 and 6 June 2000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Abcifer v Defence Secretary [2003] EWCA Civ 473 [87].

ment had created a legitimate expectation. But stating that 'anyone who seeks to challenge as unlawful the content of a non-statutory *ex-gratia* compensation scheme faces an uphill struggle', the Court of Appeal dismissed every argument: the statement did not contain a sufficiently clear and unequivocal representation to found a legitimate expectation nor, provided that the criteria were rationally connected with the scheme's objective, was it irrational to exclude certain categories from the class of beneficiaries. 'We do not think that the introduction of this scheme was well handled by the Government. But for the reasons that we have given, the appellant has failed to satisfy us that the scheme was unlawful.'

A second legal challenge to the birth-link criteria was under way, made by a British subject born and resident in Hong Kong. Building on a successful challenge on behalf of the Gurkhas to a recently introduced war-pensions scheme, <sup>132</sup> Mrs Elias pleaded discrimination in terms of the Race Relations Acts 1976 and 2000. Elias J upheld the application, ruling that the scheme adopted was unlawful and indirectly discriminated against those of non-British national origin. The Court of Appeal also thought the chosen criteria discriminatory, despite a wide margin of ministerial discretion in setting the terms of the scheme:

Mummery LJ: Even though UK national origins are not formally specified in the birth link criteria, Mrs Elias' exclusion from the Compensation Scheme is in substance very closely related to her non-UK national origins. It is that exclusion that has to be objectively justified. A stringent standard of scrutiny of the claimed justification is appropriate because the discrimination, though indirect in form, is so closely related in substance to the direct form of discrimination on grounds of national origins, which can never be justified.<sup>133</sup>

After prolonged consideration of the compensation question, the Court of Appeal awarded £10,000 (the statutory sum) in compensation together with £3,000 for hurt feelings in respect of the indirect discrimination.

Alongside, the birth-link criteria had been referred to the PCA by Austin Mitchell MP on behalf of Professor Hayward, a British subject born in Shanghai to British subjects both born outside the United Kingdom. Professor Hayward's education and whole career had been in England where he now lived. Two preliminary points of jurisdiction were raised. First, was the PCA inquiry barred by the possibility of a legal remedy? Secondly, could it be said that maladministration was in issue? Exercising her discretion under s. 5(2) of the Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1967, the PCA ruled that she could investigate; Professor Hayward had not participated in the ABCIFER case nor was it in the circumstances reasonable to ask him to take legal action.

On the second, maladministration, point, the PCA felt that the haste with

<sup>132</sup> R (Phalam Gurung) v Ministry of Defence [2002] EWHC 2463 (Admin). But see now R (Gurung and Others) v Defence Secretary [2008] EWHC 1496 (Admin).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> R (Elias) v Defence Secretary [2005] EWHC 1435 Admin; [2006] EWCA Civ 1293 [161].

<sup>134</sup> PCA, A Debt of Honour, HC 324 (2005/6).

which the scheme was drawn up was unnecessary. Compensation had been on the agenda for at least five years yet officials were only asked to draw up options two weeks prior to the eventual announcement of the scheme. 'It should have been apparent that drawing up an ex gratia scheme in such a short space of time gave no opportunity for the details to be worked out properly and that this inevitably would lead to a lack of clarity.' There had also been misleading press releases, raising expectations that proved illusory. 'Good administration of extra-statutory schemes requires clearly articulated entitlement criteria to ensure that those potentially covered by the scheme are not put to unnecessary distress or inconvenience by uncertainty or conflicting information. Such a need is all the more essential when the relevant issues are sensitive, as is clearly the case here.' This was maladministration, compounded by interdepartmental disagreement and debate over the meaning of the term 'British' for purposes of war-pensions legislation. The PCA also felt concern over equality of treatment. The Government had not been able to reassure her that applications from people in the same situation for the purposes of the scheme's eligibility criteria were not decided differently nor was she satisfied that Professor Hayward and those whose applications were determined after the introduction of the new criterion were afforded treatment equal to those whose applications were determined prior to the introduction of the blood-link criterion.

The PCA made four findings of maladministration, adding two riders:

- that the way in which the scheme was devised constituted maladministration in that
  it was done overly quickly and in such a manner as to lead to a lack of clarity about
  eligibility for payments under the scheme;
- (ii) that the way in which the scheme was announced constituted maladministration in that the Ministerial statement was so unclear and imprecise as to give rise to confusion and misunderstanding;
- (iii) that, at the time when the blood link criterion was introduced, the failure to review the impact of that introduction to ensure that it did not lead to unequal treatment constituted maladministration; and
- (iv) that the failure to inform applicants that the criteria had been clarified when they were sent a questionnaire to establish their eligibility constituted maladministration.
  - In addition, I am also concerned about the following two aspects of the operation of the scheme:
- (v) that the Government has been unable to provide evidence of the basis on which the early payments under the scheme were made and that thus I have been unable to determine whether the scheme was operated properly; and
- vi) that no review of the scheme was undertaken in the light of criticisms of it by the courts, in Parliament, and elsewhere.

Finding that the maladministration had caused injustice, the PCA recommended first that the MOD should review the operation of the *ex gratia* 

scheme and, secondly, that it should 'fully reconsider' the position of Professor Hayward and those in a similar position. She would expect to monitor the review closely. As to redress, an immediate apology was in order but this was clearly not enough: the MOD should also consider whether they should 'express that regret tangibly'.

In its response, the Government picked up on the variance between the two court decisions and the far more informative PCA inquiry. It refused to accept that a thorough review of the scheme was warranted.

The Government accepts in full your findings of maladministration in relation to the origination and announcement of the scheme and will apologise for the distress which this maladministration caused to Professor Hayward and others in a similar position.

The Government will also consider expressing its regret tangibly. But we do not consider that these findings warrant a thorough review of the scheme.

The bloodlink criterion does, as both you and the courts have pointed out, create some apparent anomalies.

But, as the courts have recognised, such anomalies are inevitable when devising eligibility criteria for a scheme such as this. They do not make the scheme as a whole irrational or unfair.

Nor is the fact that some payments were made in error to people who are not eligible under the scheme a reason why others in whose cases the same error was not made should now be paid.

The PCA expressed her disappointment; the minister apologised and offered *ex gratia* payments of £500 to Professor Hayward and others affected. But the affair rumbled on. Expressing complete confidence in its officer's decision to investigate and regret that her recommendations had not been fully implemented, the Public Administration Select Committee (PASC) emphasised the difference between judicial review and an ombudsman inquiry:

In our view, the Ombudsman acted appropriately in investigating this case. The entire basis of the 1967 Parliamentary Commissioner for Administration Act is that it is possible for a measure to be legal, and yet to be maladministered. The fact that legality has been established through Judicial Review may be irrelevant to maladministration. There may even be circumstances where the Ombudsman feels it is appropriate to conduct an investigation while Judicial Review proceedings are taking place, so that she can subsequently report without delay. We would, in principle, support this.<sup>135</sup>

PASC initiated a further inquiry, calling the minister (Don Touhig MP) to give evidence. It now emerged that the criteria might not have been applied consistently. Mr Touhig announced an internal inquiry, requiring a check of nearly 30,000 claim and policy files. The PCA's suspicions were shown to be justified;

<sup>135</sup> PASC, A Debt of Honour, HC 375 (2005/6).

for the first time, serious inconsistencies were revealed. After meeting MPs and ABCIFER, the minister decided to modify the scheme once more: anyone who had lived in the United Kingdom for at least twenty years since World War II would now be covered.<sup>136</sup>

The 'Debt of Honour' affair permits us to evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of judicial review and an ombudsman investigation. The first unsuccessful review of legality turned essentially on a distinction between policy and operation; wide discretion was conceded to the Government in setting the parameters of the scheme. It was the Race Relations Acts rather than the HRA that allowed the courts to go further in the second review. The court was then able (albeit unwillingly) to make reparation over and above the lump sum provided by the scheme. The PCA was theoretically hampered by being restricted to maladministration but the flexible, non-legalistic definition allowed her to overcome this obstacle. Under the rubric of operational failure, she was able to attack the scheme's inherent inequalities. The documentary and inquisitorial ombudsman methodology produced a much greater depth of information, used to good effect by PASC, which stood strongly behind its officer when her recommendations were partly rejected. Despite this setback, the inquiry was in the end more successful. On the one hand PASC forced the minister into an internal investigation; on the other, the political solution allowed the Government to climb down gracefully. The unwillingness of the Government to accept her recommendations was reminiscent of its attitude in the Occupational Pensions affair but was on this occasion overcome.

The affair also tells us something about the dangers of compensation schemes. Designed to be selective, they create dissatisfaction amongst those who fall just outside the boundaries. This fuels the 'compensation culture', typically stimulating a political battle for inclusion. Also typically the scheme ended up costing much more than had been estimated: costs rose dramatically from the original estimate in 2000 of £167 million; by 2006, around 25,000 claimants had received over £250 million.

## (b) Cod wars

The PCA had occasion to return to the *Debt of Honour* affair in considering an *ex gratia* compensation scheme devised by the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) for Icelandic-water trawlermen made redundant through the 'Cod war' which ran between October 2000 and October 2002.<sup>137</sup>Once again she had to report that maladministration had caused injustice. Reflecting on the experience, Ann Abraham had this to say:

<sup>136</sup> HC Deb., vol. 444, col. 681 (28 Mar. 2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> PCA, Put Together in Haste: 'Cod Wars' trawlermen's compensation scheme, HC 313 (2006/7).

The reader of this report will see that many of the issues I identified in relation to the scheme covered by *A Debt of Honour* arose similarly in relation to the scheme covered by this report. An effective *ex gratia* compensation scheme that accords with principles of good administration would have:

- scheme rules that are clearly articulated and which directly reflect the policy intention behind the scheme;
- systems and procedures in place to deliver the scheme which have been properly planned and tested;
- sufficient flexibility built in to the rules and procedures to recognise the level of complexity in the subject matter covered by the scheme; and
- mechanisms which enable the success of the scheme in delivering its objectives to be kept under review.

That did not happen in either case.

In addition to making recommendations to remedy the injustice I have determined was caused to the representative complainant in this investigation and to others in a similar position to her, I have therefore also recommended that central guidance for public bodies should be developed that specifically relates to the development and operation of *ex gratia* compensation schemes.

The Government have accepted the need for such guidance. The Permanent Secretary at HM Treasury has told me that HM Treasury is planning to take forward my recommendation for specific guidance on the development and operation of *ex gratia* compensation schemes and that this work will be incorporated into the revision of 'Government Accounting', which I understand is due for publication later this year.<sup>138</sup> I welcome this commitment and hope that, through this guidance which should be of considerable assistance to those tasked with the administration of *ex gratia* compensation schemes, this report will make a lasting contribution to the improvement of the delivery of public services.<sup>139</sup>

## 8. Towards a compensation culture?

Statistical evidence for a compensation culture in the sense of the idea that society is in the grip of litigation fever is thin, ambiguous and easily explained away, <sup>140</sup> but this short survey does suggest increasing willingness to resort to courts. The state's deep pockets make public bodies a magnet for litigants so that 'novel' tort claims are reaching the courts. In parallel, the PCA has been asked to handle a number of highly political compensation claims. The trend has been accentuated by the growing importance of 'affirmative rights' in human rights jurisprudence, which cast obligations of protection on the state,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> See HM Treasury, Managing Public Money (2008) Annex 4, p. 124.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Put Together in Haste.

Williams, 'State of fear: Britain's "compensation culture" reviewed'; Report of a Working Party of the Institute of Actuaries, *The Cost of Compensation Culture* (December 2002); A. Morris, 'Spiralling or stabilising? The compensation culture and our propensity to claim damages for personal injury' (2007) 70 MLR 349.

as in *Z v United Kingdom*, where the state signally failed to provide the children with the security underwritten by the Convention on the Rights of the Child. Significantly, the ECtHR saw compensation as axiomatic. The fact that the HRA provides no remedy other than a declaration of incompatibility when statute violates the Convention is a source of grievance mentioned specifically in a Law Commission Scoping Paper as a reason for reconsideration of the law concerning government liability. The courts have so far declined, however, to initiate any serious expansion of legal liability, treating the ECtHR as a ceiling rather than a floor.

Reviewing the evidence, the Commons Constitutional Affairs Committee deduced that the UK was not experiencing a significant increase in litigation. There was, however, 'ample evidence that risk aversion is becoming an insidious problem which the Government and the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) must attempt to address.' This was attributable to a 'grapevine' effect, which spread the popularly held notion that it is easy to obtain compensation and led people to believe that all risk must be avoided. But the Committee did not believe that statutory restatement of the common law would have any useful effect: 'The phenomenon of risk aversion which we have described does not arise primary from the wording of the law or from litigation and will need to be addressed by changing practices and perceptions in the fields of health and safety and risk management.'142 Thus statutory restrictions on negligence claims, including increased protection for public authorities, have not so far been thought necessary by government. It is the Law Commission that is considering proposals for further protection of 'truly public' activity together with a new test of 'serious fault' for government liability in many cases.

We are perhaps not yet ready to exchange sporadic instances of liability for a general principle of compensation but, in line with the argument in the first section of this chapter, we would interpret the phrase 'compensation culture' positively, to embrace recognition of circumstances where it is morally right that the state should compensate members of the public for loss. This is more a welfare than a liability principle. In this context, a scheme for administrative compensation could be initiated and endorsed by Parliament, giving the present arrangements for *ex gratia* payments greater legitimacy. Such a step is not, however, without its dangers. Greater public awareness of the availability of compensation promoted by the information and guidance increasingly made publicly available by government departments is clearly an element in promoting a compensation culture in the negative sense. The substantial number of statutory schemes already in place must surely also stimulate claims; as we saw in the *Debt of Honour* case

Law Commission, Monetary Remedies in Public Law: A discussion paper (11 October 2004); Law Commission, Remedies against Public Bodies: A scoping report (10 October 2006)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Constitutional Committee, Compensation Culture, HC 754 (2005/6) [112].

study, those on the margins of compensation schemes tend to complain of unfair treatment.

We do not ourselves see a 'compensation culture' as synonymous with a 'blame culture' but rather equate it with a desire for accountability. As Ripstein has observed, 'when injured people clamour for recourse against their injurers, their concern is not just with compensation, but with justice'. Perhaps then it is the courts that need liability most! The ability to award damages against government is a crucial tool in the judicial toolkit and a symbol of subjection of the state to the rule of law. Instances do exist, as this chapter reminds us, where the state or its officials have behaved badly enough to merit public sanction, if appropriate through an award of punitive damages. Before we entirely jettison Dicey's theory of liability, we need to reflect on this.

Aarhus Convention 473	ministerial responsibility distinguished 63
ABCIFER 786, 787, 789	prerogative powers, use of 10
Abel, R. 447–8	Press Complaints Commission 467
Aberfan disaster 579	prison management 65
Abraham, Ann 472-3, 484, 533, 542, 565,	private finance initiative 416, 421, 422
567-8	public franchising 395
on compensation schemes 784, 790-1	regulatory agencies 68, 235, 236, 260, 286,
Principles of Good Administration 535–7	300-1
Special Report on occupational pensions	audit and political accountability
556-8	307–10
Special Report on tax credits system 541-2	discretion, exercise of 289-92
see also Parliamentary Commissioner for	high-class tribunals 321-3
Administration	judicial supervision 310-20
abuse of discretion	multiple accountabilities 304-7
judicial review 101-2	mutual accountability networks 306, 307,
abuse of power 145, 231, 266, 369	309, 330, 336
Scott Report and 593	network accountability 250, 291, 337
standing to sue and 695	OFWAT 300-1, 306
acceptable behaviour contracts (ABCs) 353-4	Select Committees 308-9
access to justice 725, 748	science and technology and 75
access to PCA 445	select committees 308-9
asylum applications 211	tribunals 321-3, 509-14
common law right 685	Acts of the Scottish Parliament (ASPs) 142,
costs of litigation and 438, 483, 716	143
procedural exclusivity and 681	adjudication xvi, 439, 445
regionalisation of Administrative Court	characteristics 441, 618
and 686	Franks Committee 442–3
tribunals 449, 492, 493	Press Complaints Commission 466
accident inquiries 581, 594	rationale 618–21
accountability	see also tribunals
civil service 65	Adjudicator's Office (AO) 458-62, 538
courts 509-14	attitude of service users 461-2
European Union and 90	independence deficit 461
experts and 75	remit 459
inquiries 593-600	role 459
legal accountability 47	tax credits system 459, 460-1
market accountability 57	Adler, M. 447, 455

Administrative Court 19, 135, 679, 683-5	Consumerdirect 453
asylum and immigration litigation 713	core commitment 445
damages awards 680, 750	lawyers' attitudes to 449
May Committee 686	mediation 452, 456, 459, 465, 691, 692
regionalisation 686, 716	public procurement 392
s. 55 litigation 738-47	workmen's compensation cases 438
transition 685–7	see also complaints systems
Wales 686	Altmann, Ros 555
Administrative Justice and Tribunals Council	Aman, Alfred xviii, 94, 246-7
(AJTC) 485, 487-8, 507, 508-9	American Administrative Procedures Act
see also Council on Tribunals	(AAPA) 170-1, 201
administrative law 5	Amnesty International 608, 703
allocation of functions 40-4	analytical theory 622-4, 633, 644, 657
English, absence of 8-9	antisocial behaviour
France 8–9	acceptable behaviour contracts (ABCs)
green light theory 31–40	353-4
red light theory 6, 22–31	antisocial behaviour orders (ASBOs) 81,
Wade's definition 23-4	82, 353
World War II and 96–8	parenting contracts 352-3
administrative state, the 3, 31, 33, 44, 48, 622,	anti-terrorist legislation 83, 128
754	control orders 128, 158, 626
Advanced Risk Response Operating	Belmarsh detainees 132-4
Framework (ARROW) 271-3, 274,	derogating 132–5
275–6, 308	JCHR and 158
Adventure Activities Licensing Authority 258	non-derogating 132-5
advertising	detention without trial 128-30
broadcast advertising 330-3	appeals 129
industry codes 330	foreign nationals 129
OFCOM 330-3	dissemination of terrorist literature 128
political 148	encouragement of terrorism 128
Advertising Standards Authority (ASA) 318	JCHR and 128, 129, 156-8
broadcast advertising 330, 332, 333	pre-trial detention 128
code of practice 194	see also terrorism
advisory declarations 722-3	anti-war protests 83
agencification 62–70	'anxious scrutiny' standard of review 116, 120,
globalisation and 70	322, 514, 635
procurement and 358	arbitration 424, 430, 431
see also non-departmental public bodies;	workmen's compensation cases 438
quangos; regulatory agencies	see also alternative dispute resolution
Ali, Lutfur 612	Arculus review 260-2, 289
aliens	Aristotle 4
internment without trial 96–7	Arnstein, Sherry R. 621
Allan, T. 6–7, 100, 109–10	ladder of participation 172-3, 194, 244, 267
Alliance of Independent Press Councils of	Aronson, Mark 319
Europe 467	ARROW see Advanced Risk Response
allocation of functions 40-4	Operating Framework
alternative dispute resolution (ADR) 437-8,	ASBOs (antisocial behaviour orders) 81, 82,
683, 691–2	353
advantages 453	Association of Metropolitan Authorities
arbitration 424, 430, 431, 438	(AMA) 648
benefit disputes 438	asylum and immigration appeals

adversarial procedure 213

conciliation 441, 446, 452, 465-7

guidance 513–14	value for money (VFM) 58, 59, 60-1, 85,
human rights claims 519-20	285, 307
Immigration Rules 176	see also National Audit Office
judicialisation of immigration tribunals 517	Audit Commission
Leggatt review 512, 517–18, 525	Comprehensive Performance Assessment
ministerial certification 516	Framework 2004 218-21
ouster clauses 28-9, 518	establishment 60
proportionality 519–20	functions 60
regularising asylum appeals 514-20	independence 60
representation 490, 526	powers 60
review of fact 512-14, 525	VFM quality audit 85
Wilson Committee 515–16	Austin, John 3, 47
Asylum and Immigration Appeals Tribunal	Austin, R. 102, 128
(AIT) 28, 519, 685	Australia
asylum seekers	Compensation for Detriment caused by
access to justice 211	Defective Administration (CDDA)
appeals see asylum and immigration	778-9
appeals	Australian Administrative Appeals Tribunal
claims backlog 65, 518	522, 525
Crown immunity and 11	Australian Administrative Review Council
ECHR Art. 8, damages claims under 761-2	(AARC)
judicial review litigation 11, 512–14, 713–14	report on automated assistance 221
late claims 739	Australian Appeals Tribunal 19
relocation 230	Australian Jockey Club 626–7
Roma people 213-15, 757	automation 57
s. 55 litigation 738–47	discretion and 198
unlawful detention claims 757–8	individuation and 220-2
welfare benefits 144, 210-11, 518	service delivery 220-2
Atiyah, P. 754–5	Ayres, I. 242
Attorney-General	•
relator actions 695	Baha Mousa inquiry 613–14
audi alteram partem rule 616, 637, 657, 666,	Bailey, S. 373
670	balanced constitution 4, 22–3, 31, 284
audit xvii, 59-62, 340	Baldwin, R. 285, 289, 402
audit society, the 59-62	Bamforth, N. 91, 675
'auditing for change' 60	Bank of England 66, 275, 317, 368-9, 767
Comptroller and Auditor-General 59–60	Bapio Action 176, 648–9
district auditor 60	Bar Council 246, 318, 438
effects 61–2	Barker, R. 2
on public administration 62, 73	Barlow Clowes
'explosion' 61, 62	PCA investigation 552–3, 566
league tables of performance 60, 61	Barrowclough, Sir Anthony 539, 552
'non-fettering' view of discretionary power	Beckford, Jasmine
and 218–22	inquiry into death of 596
PASC study 73	Belfast agreement 88
by PCA 539–42	Bell, K. 491, 494
performance indicators 60, 61	Bell Report 497–9
political accountability and 307–10	Belmarsh detainees 132–4
public audit 59–60	Beloff, M. 602
regulatory agencies 307–10	Bentham, Jeremy 3
risk management and 75	best-value tendering 85, 340
transparency and 61	Better Regulation Commission 255
1	0 - 0

_	
Better Regulation Executive 255	British Code of Advertising Practice (BCAP)
Better Regulation Task Force (BRTF) 251, 255,	332, 333
324, 325	British and Irish Ombudsmen Association
bias 652–60	(BIOA) 481, 529, 537, 567
analytical theory 657	British Nuclear Fuels (BNFL) 699
appearance of 652, 654, 655	broadcasting
common law test 653–5	advertising 330–3
ECHR Art. 6 and 653, 658	commercial television franchising 396–8
'fair-minded and informed observer' test	Brooks, Duwayne 776
654–6	Brown, Gordon 15–16, 66, 69, 73, 83, 236–7,
planning decisions 657–8	257
prison disciplinary proceedings 655	BSE Inquiry 593–4, 599
public appointments 659	Buckley, Sir Michael 472, 544, 545, 546, 567
structural elements 658-60	bureaucracy
tribunals 656	central government and 53-6
Bichard, Sir Michael 603–4	contingent meaning of law in 733
Bill of Rights 38	discretion and 196, 197
administrative justice 485	e-governance and 76
Cameron and 134–5	screen-level 269
JCHR and 138–9, 156	system-level 197, 269
Bingham, T. 7–8	Weberian xvii, 52, 53, 76, 196
Birkinshaw, P. 448, 471	bureaucratic justice 221, 446-50, 487
Blair, Tony xvii, 53, 70, 71, 82, 134, 236, 478,	bureaucratic rationality 447, 596
601, 604	Butler Inquiry 478, 601
Blake, Nicholas 613–14	Butt Inquiry 611
Blom-Cooper, Louis 571, 588, 596, 597	Byatt, Sir Ian 294, 295
Bloody Sunday	
Saville Inquiry 579, 604–5, 608	Cabinet Office 71
'blue rinse' xvii, 45, 56–70	Deregulation Unit 167–8
contractualisation 340	Impact Assessments 152
rail franchising 404	pre-legislative consultation 172
regulation and 235–6, 247–51	Camelot 398-9, 400, 401, 645
Blunkett, David 28, 111, 134	see also National Lottery
Border and Immigration Agency see UK	Cameron, David 134-5
Border Agency	Campaign for Press and Broadcasting
Boundary Commission 99	Freedom 466, 468
'bounded and billeted' government 5, 21, 45	Cane, Peter 21, 377, 523
e-governance and 75	care homes
European Union and 92	service provision 380-3
bounded rationality 105-6	Care Quality Commission 327
Bovens, M. 197	Carltona model of public administration 196
Bowman, Sir Jeffrey 682-3, 685, 687, 692, 693,	Carnwath, Sir Robert 508, 521, 524-5
717	Carr, Sir Cecil xvi, 1-2, 3, 5, 31
Braithwaite, J. 203, 207, 242	Cave, M. 402
Branson, Richard 398	CCTV systems 81
Bristol Royal Inquiry 599-600	censorship 462
British Boxing Board of Control 625	Central Unit on Procurement 357
British Broadcasting Corporation (BBC)	certiorari 670
appointments 69	Chadwick, Edwin 2, 50, 51, 81
independence 66	Chagos Islands 13–14
Royal Charter 66	chief constables
as a 'Trust' 66	appointment 64

dismissal 64	accountability 65
function 64	codes of practice 54, 56
child abuse inquiries 581, 595-9	consultation and 174
Child Poverty Action Group (CPAG) 698,	core values 54
723, 729	Crichel Down case 38-9, 40, 63
child register	culture of secrecy 53
proposed 80	freedom of information and 53
Child Support Agency (CSA) 77–9	Ibbs Report 62–3
complaints-handling machinery 78, 550-1	Next Steps Agencies 63
Independent Case Examiner (ICE) 78,	Northcote-Trevelyan Report 51, 53
550-1	principles 53
IT failures 78, 198, 550	public service code 54–5
maladministration 78, 549-51	Senior Civil Service 63
PCA Special Report 79, 540, 545, 549-51,	Thatcher and 53
568	Civil Service Code 56
uncollected debt 78	Civil Service Commission 55-6
Child Support and Enforcement Commission	Clark, D. 636
79	Clarke, Charles 65
Children's Legal Centre 702	Climbié, Victoria
Churchill, Sir Winston 100	inquiry into death of 596, 597–8
citizen participation 38, 47–8	clinical negligence
Arnstein's ladder of participation 172–3,	redress system 453
194, 244, 267	Clothier, Sir Cecil 534, 539, 543, 565
'democratic deficit' 92	co-regulation 235, 281, 283, 309, 318, 326,
European Union and 92	337
parliamentary advisory committees 38	failure 333–6
pre-legislative consultation and 172–5	OFCOM
Skeffington Committee 173	broadcast advertising 327, 330-3
see also e-governance	'participation TV' 333-6
Citizen's Charter 58, 350, 783	public/private partnerships 245–6
aim 58	regulatory subsidiarity 331–2
choice 58	risk-based regulation and 274
complaints procedure 450-3	smart regulation 246
Compliance Cost Assessment and 247	'Cod wars' 790-1
Guaranteed Standards Scheme 301	codes of practice 54, 56, 193, 194
impact 453	Codex Alimentarius Commission 280
New Labour and 58	Cohen, D. 771
PASC and 58, 453	Cohen, F. 209
PCA and 535	Colcutt report 481, 482
quality 58, 251	collectivism 5, 32, 33, 38
standards 58	Dicey and 2-3, 17, 25, 33
Task Force 451–2	Collins, H. 349
value 58	Colwell, Maria
city academies 71	inquiry into death of 595-6
City Code on Takeovers and Mergers	Comment on Reproductive Ethics (Core)
317–18	700
Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) 278-9, 283	commercial television
licensing functions 488	franchising 396–8
civil liberties	Commission for Equality and Human Rights
surveillance society 82–3	(CEHR) 52, 70, 258, 287
Civil Procedure Rules (CPR) 679	functions 200
civil service 51, 53–6	JCHR and 156

Commission for Racial Equality (CRE) 70,	PCA inquiry 783-5
287-8, 611, 612, 702	principle 749–55
see also Commission for Equality and	slaughtered poultry, for 785
Human Rights	tort law and 766–70
Commission for Social Care Inspection	unlawful surveillance 81
(CSCI) 220-1	Competition Appeal Tribunal (CAT) 297,
Commissioner for Local Administration	321–3
(CLA) 452, 481, 482, 487	cross-disciplinary nature 321
Commissioner for Public Appointments,	documentary evidence 321
Office of (OCPA) 69	'hard look' review 321
Committee of Advertising Practice (CAP)	split jurisdiction 321
330-1	Competition Commission 313, 321
Committee of European Securities Regulators	see also Monopolies and Mergers
(CESR) 279	Commission
Committee on the Merits of Statutory	competitions
Instruments 164–5	procedural review 645–7
Committee on Public Standards	competitive tendering
minimum standards for quangos 68–9	best-value tendering 85, 340
Committee on Standards and Privileges 478	compulsory (CCT) 57, 85, 340, 360, 361
common law	judicial review 373-6
constitutionalism 111	PFI projects 423, 424
contracts 343, 344, 367	television broadcasting channels 397
judicial review principles 317	voluntary 361
no recovery for mistakes of law 371	complaints systems 445–50
prerogative powers and 10	central-government 453–4
procedural review 618, 622, 623, 624, 628	Citizen's Charter 450–3
duty to give reasons 630–5	clinical negligence 453
interplay with ECHR Art. 6 and 617, 635,	devolution and 88
637–40	Directgov 453
interplay with statute 634	freedom of information see freedom of
reform of procedure 51	information
renaissance 98	internal 449–50
torture, evidence obtained by 131–2	MPs, complaints to 445–6, 457
common law constitutionalism 111	police 446
Communities in control: Real people, real	social services 454
power 87	value for money (VFM) 454
Community Fisheries Control Agency	see also alternative dispute resolution;
(CFCA) 279	inquiries; internal review; ombudsmen;
community governance petitions 87	proportionate dispute resolution;
Compassion in World Farming 702	tribunals
compensation	Compliance Cost Assessment (CCA)
'blame culture' 754	247-8
'Cod wars' 790-1	Compton, Sir Edmund 533, 552
compensation culture 754, 791–3	Comptroller and Auditor-General
compulsory purchase 753	role 59–60
criminal injuries compensation scheme	compulsory competitive tendering (CCT) 57,
11–12, 779–83	85, 340, 360, 361
Debt of Honour affair 785-90	see also competitive tendering; contracting
ex gratia payments 753, 778-9	out
government as insurer 754-5	compulsory purchase
group dimension of claims 785	compensation 753

computers	contractualisation 340
decision-making and 197	control contracts 351-4
discretion and 198	Crown and 341-3
see also ICT; IT	executive necessity defence 342
conceptual reasoning 4	immunities 342
conciliation 441, 446, 452	meaning of 'Crown' 342
Press Complaints Commission 465–7	pseudo-contracts 342–3
see also alternative dispute resolution	discrete contracts 349
constitution	discretionary power, fettering of 371–3
balanced constitution 4, 22–3, 31, 284	economic contracts 347
Constitution Committee 80–1, 143, 287	Europeanisation 341, 383–92
post-legislative scrutiny 162	see also public procurement
	functional limitations 348–50, 354
pre-legislative scrutiny 161, 309–10	
regulatory accountability 284	government effectiveness principle 343
constitutional change	incompatibility of power and purpose 371–3
legislation and 140–3	law of the contract 339, 345
Constitutional Court	local government and 57
lack of 111	mutual obligation 340
Constitutional Renewal Bill, draft 16, 55–6	'new contractual governance' 345–8
constitutional rights 110	Next Steps Agencies 63
as 'higher-order' law 110, 111	NHS and 57, 339
constitutionalism 4–5	ordinary law and 343–5
common law constitutionalism 111	outsourcing see public procurement
consultations	parenting contracts 352–3
legitimate expectation, GCHQ case 107, 176,	private-sector notions 339
223, 626, 647	privity of contract 343
pre-legislative 170–2	procurement see public procurement
citizen participation 172–5	pseudo-contracts see pseudo-contracts
judicial review 175–8	public service provision and human rights
procedural review 647–52	376–83
regulatory agencies 291	quality assurance 57
Consumer Council for Water (CCW) 301	regulation by 341, 347
consumer representation 266-9	as 'the new prerogative' 345-8
super-advocate 268-9	relational contracts 349
Consumerdirect 453	'relationality' 350
contract xviii, 93	restitution 370-1
acceptable behaviour contracts (ABCs)	Single Market and 341, 344
353-4	social control contracts 347
administrative contracts 346-7	standard terms and conditions 339, 340,
break clauses 345	345, 346
capacity 367–71	ultra vires
local council interest swaps 368-71	defensive use 369-70
common law 343, 344, 367	local council interest swaps 368-71
compensation principle 343-4	unjust enrichment 370-1
compliance 341	variations clauses 345
buying social justice and 362–6	contract culture 57-8, 71, 339, 355
human rights protection and 365–6	contracting out xvii, 59, 339
consideration 343	as alternative source of regulation 339
contracting out see contracting out	Crown and 343
'contracting state' 340, 346, 392	Human Rights Act and 341
contractual governance xviii, 345–8	process 394

contracting out (cont.)	courts of referees 438
rights of third parties 343	Coyle, S. 4
see also compulsory competitive tendering	Craig, Paul 108, 228, 231, 620
control	Crichel Down inquiry 38–9, 40, 63, 442
external 40	Criminal Injuries Compensation Scheme
green light theory and 37–40	(CICS) 11–12, 779–83
internal 39, 40	Crossman, Richard 45-6, 533, 534, 538
legislative 39	Crown 19–20
prospective 40	contracting out 343
red light theory 39	ex gratia payments 753, 778
regulation and 235, 238-9	executive necessity defence 342
retrospective 40	government contract and 341-3
theories 39–40	immunities 342, 751
control orders 128, 158, 626	injunctions against 181
Belmarsh detainees 132-4	meaning 342
derogating 132–5	prerogative powers 9-16
JCHR and 158	pseudo-contracts 342-3
non-derogating 132-5	state and 9-16
Convention on the Rights of the Child 791–2	tort, immunity in 751
Conway, Derek 478	vicarious liability 751
coroner's inquest 575-8	Crown prerogative 66
Bloody Sunday 604	Crown privilege 704
deaths of soldiers serving in Iraq 577, 603	Crown proceedings 671, 751-2
inquest procedure 578-9	injunctions 181, 678
national security risks 577, 578	customer satisfaction 59
corporate manslaughter 262	
Corston, Jean 161–2	Daintith, T. 345-6
Cotterell, R. 99, 672	damages
Council of Europe	Administrative Court 680, 750
Human Rights Commissioner 129	exemplary 756
Council for Healthcare Regulatory Excellence	Human Rights Act and 315-16, 760
(CHRE) 330	human rights cases 760-3
Council for the Regulation of Health Care	as insurance 754
Professionals 329	just satisfaction 760-3, 773, 775, 777
Council on Tribunals 487-8, 489-90, 503-4,	negligence 766–70
505-9	psychiatric injury 774, 776
abolition 508	punitive 756
Franks Committee 505-6	strip-search of prison visitors 758, 760
functions 506	tort law and 750
Scott Inquiry 591	trespass to land 750
see also Administrative Justice and	vaccine damages payments 755
Tribunals Council	Darling, Alistair 178
counter-terrorist legislation see anti-terrorist	data collection
legislation	CCTV systems 81
Countryside Alliance 144–5, 163	National Identity Register 80
Court of Human Rights xvi	police DNA bank 79, 81
courts	proposed child register 80
accountability 509–14	'super-database' 80
control through 39	surveillance society xviii, 80–3
ombudsmen and 538–9	data protection 79–80
Parliament and 145–9	failures 79–80, 475
PCA and 538–9, 562–5	identity fraud 79
	,

Data Protection Commissioner 473, 484, 538	on collectivism 2–3, 17, 25, 33, 718
see also Information Commissioner	on control 39
Datafin project 316–20, 337, 379–80	on discretionary powers 17–18
Davidson review 184, 277	on droit administratif 8–9
Davies, A. 339, 344	on equality principle 8, 9, 16–17, 18, 22,
Davis, Kenneth Culp xvi, 95–6, 197, 216, 351,	344, 376, 751, 752
672	on ministerial responsibility 23
on discretion 200–3, 208, 209, 388, 448	on ordinary courts 6, 9, 18, 237, 265, 683,
de Smith, S.A. 311, 510, 669, 712, 747	751, 752
death in state custody or at hands of state	on parliamentary sovereignty 4, 8, 112, 140
agents 609–14	on prerogative power 9–10
Debt of Honour affair 785–90	on public and private law 18–22, 680
declarations 670, 680, 684	'red light theory' and 22–5
advisory 722–3	on the rule of law 4-8, 670, 683
Deepcut barracks 613–14	statement of 6, 11, 15
delegated legislation 141, 163-7	on supremacy of Parliament 112
affirmative procedure 164	on tort law 755–6
'super-affirmative' procedure 168	dignitary theory 620, 628, 666
deregulation 165-9	Dimock, M. 40
EU legal instruments as 142	Dingwall, R. 597
Henry VIII clauses 141-2, 154, 165-9	Directgov 453
negative procedure 164	discovery of documents 704
scrutiny, inadequacy of 165-6	discretion
demonstrations 83	agencies and 196-7
see also public order	automation and 198
Denning, Sir Alfred 97	Davis on 200-3, 208, 209, 388, 448
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP)	definition 202
Empowerment Fund 87	Dworkin on 203
deportation orders 134	estoppel 222, 229
deregulation 167-9, 247-8, 280	individuation 217-22
Arculus review 260	ICT and 220-2
Compliance Cost Assessment (CCA) 247-8	Jowell on 204-5, 207
licences 249, 250	legitimate expectation and 223-32
detention without trial	'no-fettering' rule 217-22, 228, 232
anti-terrorist legislation 128	contract and 371-3
wartime powers 96-7	ICT and 218–22
devolution xvii, 83, 84, 87-9	PFI and 419–20
effects 88-9	objections to 209
legislation 141, 142	of PCA 535, 539, 549, 552, 553, 562, 564,
new complaints machinery 88	565, 567
ombudsman systems and 88	police discretion 208
parliamentary sovereignty and 87, 141	policy discretion 209
referendum 113	procedural review 617, 620, 624, 629, 636,
regional executives 88	653, 658, 666
resolution of 'devolution issues' 89	proportionality and 229-30
Diana, Princess of Wales 577, 589	public contracts and 388-9
Dicey, Albert Venn 3, 32, 51, 265, 339, 344, 793	regulatory agencies 197, 287, 288
on administrative law 8–9	accountability and 289–92
state and Crown 9–16	transparency and 289–90
the state and statutory authority 16-18	rules and 41, 203–32
on arbitrary powers 17–18	selective enforcement 208
on 'balanced' constitution 4, 22-3, 284	structuring 200-3, 388

dispersal areas	pseudo-contracts 71
public order powers 82	reading, teaching of 68
district auditor 60	special educational needs 772
DNA database 79, 81	target-setting 86
Donoughmore Committee 36, 265, 442, 443	Education and Skills Committee
inquiries 573–4	report on secondary education 86
Report 36–7	Elliott, M. 232
draft Constitutional Renewal Bill 16, 55-6	employment tribunals 491
dress codes	number of cases 487
religious freedom and 121-2	Empowerment Fund 87
Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI) 300	enforcement pyramid 242-3, 263, 302, 315,
Driving Standards Agency	400
data protection failures 80	pseudo-contract 353
droit administratif	Environment Agency (EA) 293
meaning 8–9	monitoring of OFWAT 300
due process 617, 620	Operator and Pollution Risk Appraisal
moral judgement model 447, 500, 595	(OPRA) 270-1
regulatory agencies 286, 290	risk-based regulation 269–71
Dugdale, Sir Thomas 39	environmental law
Duguit, Léon 33–5	smart regulation 244
Dworkin, Ronald 4, 109, 200, 619, 620	environmental policy 198-9
on discretion 203	environmentalism 93, 94
principle and policy distinguished 109-10,	Equal Opportunities Commission 70, 702
137, 204, 212	see also Commission for Equality and
on rules 212	Human Rights
Dyzenhaus, D. 131	equal treatment 61
	Equality and Human Rights Commission 52,
e-governance xviii, 75–6, 93, 174, 192	70, 738
agencies and 196-7	Equitable Life
bureaucracy and 76	PCA investigation 553–4, 562
data protection issues 79–80	Equitable Members Action Group (EMAG)
European Commission and 75-6	553
Internet publication 199	estoppel
Parking Adjudicators 526	discretion and 222, 229
PASC and 76	Eurojust 90
sovereignty and 75–6	European Aviation Safety Agency (EASA)
see also citizen participation	278-9
economic regulation 238, 239–40	European Commission
market failure 240, 242	e-governance 76
public-interest theories 240	European Community law
redistribution policies 240	accession treaties 15
education	delegated legislation, as 142
assisted places scheme 229	judicial review and 700
city academies 71	metrication 182–3
closure of failing schools 68	'new legal order' 98
history, teaching of 68	parliamentary scrutiny 184–8
home tuition 720	parliamentary sovereignty and 179–83
league tables 60, 61	primacy doctrine 142
national syllabus 68	'soft law' 199–200
Ofsted 67–8, 70	supremacy 142
performance indicators 61	textual quality 183-4
private sponsorship 71	Furonean Competition Network 278, 306

European Convention on Human Rights	Charter of Fundamental Rights 632
(ECHR) 14, 98	'democratic deficit' 92
declarations of incompatibility 127, 129,	disaggregation and 92
132, 158, 665, 679, 730, 791	European Competition Network 278, 306
derogations 129-30	'mission creep' 90
control orders 132-5	network governance 277-9
discrimination, prohibition of (Art. 14) 129	open method of co-ordination (OMC) 199,
effective remedy, right to (Art. 13) 116, 117,	277
730, 785	public procurement see public procurement
compensation 760, 761, 773	regulation 276-9, 283
fair trial, right to (Art. 6) 315, 321, 443, 489	'better regulation' 277
bias 653	European agencies 278-9
compensation claims 760, 762	harmonisation 276, 279
control orders 626	network governance 277-9
parole 641–2	'new approach' 276
procedural review see procedural review	'spill-over' effect 90-1
freedom of expression (Art. 10) 462	state liability and 763-4
incorporation in British law 113-14	subsidiarity principle 91–2, 277
inhuman or degrading treatment (Art. 3)	transparency 92
127, 722, 739, 741	European Union Ombudsman (EO) 529-30,
compensation 773	565–6
inquiries and 609–14	Europol 90
judicial review and 113-19, 660-6, 700-1,	ex gratia payments 753, 778-9, 792
707	'Cod wars' 790-1
s. 55 litigation 738–47	Debt of Honour affair 785–90
just satisfaction (Art. 41) 760–3, 773, 775, 776, 777	ombudsmen 753, 783
liberty of the person (Art. 5) 129	Feldman, D. 154, 727–8
derogations 129-30	Felstiner, W. 447–8
parole 640, 641	fiduciary duty principle 104-5, 106, 731
life, right to (Art. 2)	Filkin, Elizabeth 458, 459, 460–1, 477
compensation 761, 776, 777	see also Adjudicator's Office
death in state custody or at hands of state agents 609–14	Financial Services Authority (FSA) 253–4, 289
ouster clauses and 29, 30	ARROW (Advanced Risk Response
parole 640	Operating Framework) 271-3, 274,
peaceful enjoyment of possessions	275–6, 308
(Protocol 1, Art. 1) 145, 223, 315, 753	globalisation and 279, 291
private and family life (Art. 8) 116-17, 119,	NAO review 308
127, 315, 462, 520, 721–2	Northern Rock and 275-6, 308
compensation 760, 761-2	risk-based regulation 271-3, 274, 275-6
proportionality test 116	rule-making schema 291
public service provision 376-83	Flinders, Matthew 69, 422-3
s. 55 litigation 738–47	Food Standards Agency 278, 280
statements as to compatibility 148	Foot, Michael 99
European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR)	Ford, Anna 467, 468
mirror principle 131, 136-7, 611, 675, 700	Foreign Compensation Commission (FCC)
proportionality principle 108	26, 27
European Food Standards Agency 278	ouster clauses 26-8
European Scrutiny Committee (ESC) 186-7	formalism 4, 33, 99
European Union 89–92	Forsyth, Christopher 170
accountability and 90	Foster Committee 185–6

Foucault, Michel 75	regulation and 246-7, 279-80
'governmentality' 198	regulatory agencies and 70
France	Goldsworthy, Jeffrey 112, 113
administrative law 8-9, 344	'Good Friday' agreement 88
contrat administratif 345	Goodin, R. 209-10, 213, 217
public and private law 18–19	Goodman, Clive 469
franchising see public franchising	Gordon, R. 33
Franks Committee on Tribunals and	Grabosky, P. 239, 243-4
Inquiries	Great London Council (GLC)
inquiries 574–5	fares subsidy 103-5
reasoned decisions 491, 630	green light theory xvi, 31–7, 106
tribunals 442-3, 483, 488-92, 495, 496, 505,	allocation of functions 40–4
509, 571, 619	control and 37-40
Freedland, M. 342-3, 348, 418	informal justice 440–2
freedom of information 458, 470–5	red light theory compared 31, 38, 44–8
Aarhus Convention 473	regulation 234, 239–40
civil service and 53	Green Paper on the governance of Britain
Code of Practice on government	15–16
information 470–2	Greenpeace 699
complaints handling 476–80	Gregory, R. 529, 566
Croham Directive 470	grievances 447–8
Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) 473	Griffith, John A.G. 36, 38, 45, 46, 106, 110,
duty to give reasons and 631–2	170
exemption from disclosure 474	Groves, M. 231 514
Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA)	Guardian, The 472, 474
47, 53, 453, 458, 473–5	Gunningham, N. 239, 243–4
Information Tribunal (IT) 476	Guiimigham, 14. 257, 245-4
ministerial certification 474–5	habeas corpus 670
national security and 475, 476	Hampton review 255–8, 262, 288, 305, 401
PCA, role of 471–3, 474–5	implementation reviews 266, 308
see also Information Commissioner	principles for regulatory enforcement
Friedman, W. 67	256
Fuller, Lon 618, 619, 671	risk-based regulation 256
Fuller, Loli 018, 019, 071	super-regulators 258, 267
Caphlar T 50	Hansard Society 153, 171, 308
Gaebler, T. 59 Galligan, D. 217–18	•
	'hard look' review 103, 129, 225, 311, 636,
Ganz, G. 40–3	650, 686
Gateway Process 358	Competition Appeal Tribunal 321
GEMA (Gas Electricity Markets Authority)	Harden, I. 46–7
253	Harlow, Carol 539–40
General Committees 151	Hart, H.L.A. 3–4
General Medical Council (GMC) 329	contract 345
General Regulatory Chamber 265	primary and secondary rules 140
General Social Care Council 329	Hayek, Friedrich 5–6, 17, 240
Genn, H. 488, 490	Hazell, R. 471
Genn, Y. 490	Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 791
Gershon review 357–8	adventure activities licensing 194, 258
Giddens, T. 70, 89–90	guidance 194–5
Giddings, P. 529, 566	merger with Health and Safety Commission
globalisation xviii, 93	(HSC) 258
agencification and 70	risk-based regulation 271
effects 89–90	simplification plan 261

Health Services Commissioner (HSC) 481, 487, 563-4	Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit
Heathrow	Review Board (HBRB) 457, 665 Howard, Michael 65
inquiry into fifth terminal 580–1, 586, 647	Howe, Lord Geoffrey
Hencke, David 474	inquiries, objectives of 572, 576, 589, 590–5
Henry VIII clauses 141–2, 154, 165–9	597, 598, 602, 605, 612, 615
Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary	Human Fertilisation and Embryology
(HMIC) 51, 64	Authority (HFEA) 699–700
Herceptin treatment 123–5	human rights 8, 88
High Court	'anxious scrutiny' standard of review 116,
costs 714–15	120, 322, 514, 635, 730
writ procedures 750	damages claims 760–3
'higher-order' law 110, 111	just satisfaction 760–3
Highway Code 195	death in state custody or at hands of state
Hill, M. 51, 52	agents 609–14
Hobbes, Thomas 19	'dialogue' model of protection 138, 141, 156
Hogg, Peter 752	157, 159, 188
Home Office (HO) 63-6	inquiries and 608, 609-14
circulars 194	judicial review litigation 712, 716
as 'department of homeland security' 66	'mainstreaming' 141, 154-9
directorates 64	mirror principle 131, 136-7, 611, 675, 700
executive agencies 64	parliamentary sovereignty and 119
growth 63–4	public contract compliance and 365-6
guidance 193–4	public and private law 20-1
Human Rights Act, impact of 737	s. 55 litigation 738–47
as 'hyper-ministry' 64, 66, 70	tort law 751, 760-3
in-house directorate (IND) 64, 66	Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) xvi, 14, 20, 29
incompatible functions 64	45, 126–7
non-departmental public bodies (NDPBs)	Audit Commission report 735–6
64	Blunkett on 134
police supervision 64	contracting-out of public services 341
prison supervision 65–6	damages 315–16, 760
tribunals 64 Home Office Board 66	declarations of incompatibility 127, 129,
	132, 158, 665, 679, 730, 791
homeless persons applications for judicial review 688	impact 735–8 judiciary and 98
decision affecting 666	mistaken compliance 737
homosexuality	modified 'public functions' test 320
armed forces and 114–18	nature 126
Hood, C. 57	parliamentary sovereignty and 87, 119, 141
House of Lords	pluralist model of rights formation 159
Committee on the Scrutiny of Delegated	public authority, meaning 377–8
Powers 167	public service provision 376–83
Constitution Committee see Constitution	statements of compatibility (s. 19) 148, 739
Committee	tertiary rules 463
European Union Committee (EUC) 185,	see also European Convention on Human
187–8	Rights
Merits Committee 164-5, 184	Human Rights Task Force 735
Science and Technology Committee 303	Hunting Act 2004
housing benefit	application for judicial review 144-5
internal review 457	passing of 111-12, 113, 144
refusal of backdated claim 664-5	Hutchinson, Allan 37-8, 99

Hutter, B. 243	green light theorists 440–2
Hutton, John 179	origins 437–40
Hutton Inquiry 66, 478, 601-4	see also alternative dispute resolution;
'hyper-ministries' 198	inquiries; ombudsmen; tribunals
Home Office 64, 66, 70	Information Commissioner (IC) 453, 469, 488
	Codes of Practice 475
Ibbs Report 62–3	data protection and 80, 473, 475
ICT xviii, 93, 192, 196-7	decision notices 475, 476, 477
agency failure and 77–9	discretion 480
data protection issues 79–80	enforcement powers 475
individuation and 220–2	freedom of information and 473, 475
'no-fettering' of discretionary power and	functions 81, 473, 475, 480
218–22	independence 475
participation and 76	information notices 475, 479
see also computers; e-governance; IT	investigatory powers 475
identity cards 79, 80	proposed 'super-database' 80
identity fraud 79	see also data protection; Data Protection
illegality 107, 231, 232	Commissioner; freedom of
immigration appeals see asylum and	information
immigration appeals	Information Tribunal 476, 479
Immigration and Nationality Directorate	injunctions 670, 680
(IND)	civil proceedings 11
PCA report 541	Crown proceedings 181, 678
Immigration Rules 176	interim 670
immigration service 210–16, 515	Inland Revenue (IR)
criticism of 212–13	data protection failure 79, 475
judicial review 11, 512–14, 713–14	guidance on concessions 190–1
notice of determinations 210–12	internal review see Adjudicator's Office
	•
impact assessments (IAs) 152–4, 235, 247, 308	see also tax credits system
regulatory impact assessments (RIAs) 152, 153, 251–2	inquest see coroner's inquest
•	inquiries xvi, xviii, 437, 570–615
Regulatory Impact Unit 251, 255	1921 Act 579–80
Independent Appeals Service 488–9	2005 Act 607–9
Independent Asylum Commission (IAC) 212	accident inquiries 581, 594
Independent Broadcasting Authority (IBA)	accountability 593–600
396, 397	adversarial procedure 571, 579, 584, 588,
Independent Committee for the Supervision	589, 590, 591–2, 597, 601, 602, 615
of Standards of Telephone Information	appointments 607, 608, 609
Services (ICSTIS) 333-4	Bushell's case 585, 586, 647, 651, 663
Independent Police Complaints Commission	cathartic function 572, 577, 579, 593, 602,
(IPCC) 578	605, 613, 614
Independent Review Service (IRS) 503–5	chair, inquisitorial role 445
Independent Television Authority (ITA) 396,	character 571, 573, 574–5
397	child abuse inquiries 581, 595–9
Independent Television Commission (ITC)	committees and commissions 573-5
396	coroner's inquest see coroner's inquest
individuation	costs 599
automation and 220–2	death in state custody or at hands of state
discretion and 217–22	agents 609–14
ICT and 220–2	Donoughmore Committee 573–4
informal justice	failures of risk regulation 74
Franks Committee 442-3, 483	Franks Committee 574-5

Heathrow's fifth terminal 580-1, 586, 647

human rights and 608, 609-14	irrationality 232
hybrid character 571, 573, 574-5	Ison, T. 443, 488
inquisitorial procedure 571, 579-80, 583,	IT
585, 588-90, 594-5, 597, 598, 601, 603,	data protection issues 79-80
606, 615	National Programme for IT in the NHS 77
coroner's inquest 578	revolution 75-6
Scott Inquiry 591–2	risk-based regulation and 269
judicial inquiries 600–4	see also e-governance; ICT
judicialisation 443, 571, 575, 579, 584–5,	
588	Jaffé, Louis 33, 96
Laming Inquiry and Report 596, 597-8	Jennings, W.I. 32, 35, 46
legal representation 591	Job Seeker's Agreement 81, 355–6
major inquiries 585–8	Jobseeker's Allowance 58, 354–5
ministerial powers 607–9	Jockey Club
objectives, Lord Howe on 572, 576, 589,	Australia 626–7
590-3, 594-5, 597, 598, 602, 605, 612,	self-regulation 319–20
615	'joined-up government' 66, 70, 86, 217
planning inquiries 573-4, 582-8	pre-legislative consultation 171
big inquiries 585–8	regulatory activity 284
independence 584–5	rules 198
inspectors 584–5	Joint Committee on Human Rights (JCHR)
judicialisation 584–5	134, 135, 148, 154–9, 730, 738
major inquiries 585–8	anti-terrorist legislation and 128, 129, 156-8
procedure 583	Bill of Rights and 138–9, 156
statutory codes of procedure 443, 584	CEHR and 156
private-bill procedure and 573	civil liberties issues 156–7
rationalisation 572, 605–9	control orders 158
Salmon Commission 579-80, 600	declarations of incompatibility and 159, 730
Scotland 580	implementation of Strasbourg judgments
statutory inquiries 580-2	and 159
transparency 572, 596, 609	review of working practices 155
tribunals compared 575	role 154–5
Wales 580	Joint Committee on Statutory Instruments
interest swaps	(JCSI) 164
local councils 368–71	Jowell, Jeffrey 102-3, 106, 212
restitution 370-1	on discretion 204-5, 207
interim injunctions 670	Judge Over Your Shoulder (JOYS)
internal review 456-8, 528	aims 734
Adjudicator's Office 458-62	Human Rights Act and 734
advantages 457	procedural review 621, 649, 652
disadvantages 457	remedies 723–4
as filtering device 457	judicial creativity 105, 106
housing-benefit review 457	judicial deference 96-7
independence 457	judicial review xv-xvi, 95-8
Independent Review Service (IRS) 503-5	abuse of discretion 101-2, 106
Inland Revenue 458	access
PDR approach 458, 505	permission stage 671, 674, 687-94
Social Fund Inspectorate 503–5	regulating 687–94
social security system 457	Administrative Court see Administrative
International Civil Aviation Organisation	Court
(ICAO) 280	'anxious scrutiny' 116, 120, 322, 514, 635

Internet 76

judicial review (cont.)	'hard look' review 103, 129, 225, 311, 321,
application for judicial review (AJR)	636, 650, 686
procedure 672, 679, 709, 724	holistic quality 670
arguability test 689-90, 693, 710	Human Rights Act and 735-8
Civil Procedure Rules 682-5, 689, 690	human rights litigation 712, 716
cross-examination 705	illegality as ground for 107
Crown Office List and 679-82	impact 711-12
delay 690	formal reactions 729-30
discovery of documents 705	government, on 727–8
interrogatories 705	housing authorities, on 731
procedural exclusivity 680-2, 683, 684	influence on administrative decision-
s. 55 litigation 738–47	making 730–3
asylum and immigration litigation 11,	prison administration, on 730-1
512–14, 713–14	typology 727-9
British motorway model 675-6, 722	intensity of review 311, 708–9, 717, 721
caseload 712–17	intervention 701–3
Civil Procedure Rules 690, 691, 692–3,	irrationality as ground for 107
707	judicial discretion 674, 683, 689-90, 703,
classical 'control' model 712, 748	710
common law principles 317	judicial substitution of judgment 108
competitive tendering, of 373–6	leave stage 671
control model 712, 748	reasons for refusal 671
cross-examination 705	legal aid 715
curative role 660	litigation 712–17
damages and 680, 750	accessibility and outreach 714–16
deportation orders 134	asylum and immigration 713–14
disclosure orders 707–8	costs 714–16
discovery of documents 704	human rights 712, 716
discretionary decision-making and 101-2,	legal aid 715, 716
106	local government 686, 716
drainpipe model 672, 673, 704, 710	resource-oriented litigation 719–22
standing 694, 697, 702	medical law and ethics 725–6
EC law 700	Milk Marketing Board 101–2
ECHR and 113–19, 660–6, 700–1, 707	ministerial discretionary power 101–2 models 672–6
s. 55 litigation 738–47 exclusion of 25–31	
expansion 102–5	multi-streamed jurisdiction xvi, 98, 145,
-	380, 630–1, 670–2, 676–9, 700, 707, 709, 747, 748
expansionary tendency 662 expressive functions 712	
fact, review of 511–14	impact studies and 728, 729 'no certiorari' clauses 509
fact-base 703–9	
fares subsidies 103–5	nullity, concept of 510–11 ombudsmen 562–5
formal reactions to 729–30	organisational arrangements 679–87
freeway model 674–5, 696, 701, 703	ouster clauses 25–31, 509
front-loading 675, 692–3, 715, 717	Panel on Takeovers and Mergers, decisions
functions 669–70	of 317–18
funnel model 672–4, 682, 687, 689, 705,	parliamentary sovereignty and 25–6
707	permission stage 671, 674, 687–94
standing 673–4, 694	appeal against refusal 687
government information, access to 703–5	Civil Procedure Rules 690, 691, 692–3
Crown privilege 704	inconsistency at 693–4
public interest immunity 705	as <i>inter partes</i> procedure 692–3

a lottery 693–4	tempering rights and resources 717–22
pre-action protocol 692	tendering, of 373-6
private filtering and 692	Thatcher government and 311
pre-action protocol 692	Treasury Solicitor's guide see Judge Over
pre-legislative consultation and 175-8	Your Shoulder
preclusive clauses 509	tribunals 509–14
prerogative powers, justiciability 10–11,	nullity, concept of 510-11
107, 108	review of fact 511-14, 525
pressure groups and 698-700, 702	variable intensity 311, 708-9, 717, 721
principled 109–10	judicialisation
procedural impropriety as ground for 108	Human Rights Act and 617
procedural review see procedural review	immigration tribunals 517
public procurement 373–6, 389–90	inquiries 443, 571, 575, 579, 588
rapid expansion 102–5	planning inquiries 584–5
rationality 102, 105–9	procedural review 617, 618, 619, 630, 639,
rationing 456	640, 653, 660, 662
reasonableness 97	tribunals 19, 442, 444, 490–1, 517
rebuilding 99–102	Bell Report 498
redress 722	juridification
relator actions 695	regulation and 241, 281, 311
remedies 722–7	rule-making and 195–6
case examples 724–7	trend towards 734
no automatic right 723–4	JUSTICE 531, 532–3, 537–8, 569, 630, 703
as remedy of last resort 691, 738	JUSTICE-All Souls Committee 571, 580, 596
representative proceedings 698–9	) 0311CL=7th 30th Committee 371, 300, 370
resource-oriented litigation 718–22	Vally, Dr. David 601, 602
restriction of 25–31	Kelly, Dr David 601, 602
	see also Hutton Inquiry
rights-based review 109–13, 674	Kennedy, Ian 599–600
role of judges 100	Kerry, Sir Michael 733
rule of law and 669	King, Anthony 84–5, 96, 98, 135
s. 55 litigation 738–47	King, D. 348
self-regulatory organisations (SROs) 317–20	Kirkham, R. 565, 566
spaghetti junction model 677–8, 700	Klug, Francesca 738
as 'sporadic and peripheral' 311, 669, 712,	Kühn, Thomas 70
standing 674, 694-701	Laming Inquiry and Report 596, 597–8
drainpipe model 694, 697, 702	Landis, James 33
environmental litigation 697, 698-9	Lands Tribunal 493-4, 512
freeway model 696	Laski, Harold 1, 3, 32, 38, 45, 440
funnel model 673-4, 694, 697	Law Commission
ideological interests 695	monetary remedies 792
interest, notion of 695	post-legislative scrutiny 162
material interest 695	'law and order' 64
private interest 695	lawmaking 41
public interest 695, 698, 702	Laws, Sir John 110
representative proceedings 698–9	league tables of performance 60, 61
sufficient interest 696–7, 700	legal aid 438, 440
tax amnesty case 696-7	judicial review litigation 715, 716
two-pronged approach 695–6	tribunals 490, 492
statutory limitation periods 509	legal certainty 231, 653
sufficiency of 660-6	legal norms
surrogate political process, as 671, 674	hierarchy of 40

legal philosophy 3–4	Liberty 703
legal positivism 3, 4, 231	licensing 241, 281
legal realism 33	deregulation and 249, 250
Leggatt review 488, 489, 490-1, 494, 522, 523,	Retail Price Index (RPI) - X 250
526, 619	limited government 4–5
asylum and immigration cases 512, 517-18,	Linden, A. 759
525	Livingstone, Ken 426, 433
Council on Tribunals 508	Local Better Regulation Office (LBRO) 258
judicialisation of tribunals 517	local government 83-7
lay members 503	Audit Commission and 60
participation, accessibility and expertise	best-value tendering 85, 340
492-3	bylaws 87
review of fact 512, 525	capacity to contract 368-71
role of chairmen 501	central government and
legislation	agency model 84
citizen participation 172–5	partnership model 84-5
Commons Report on quality 150	Central Local Partnership 85
constitutional change and 140-3	Communities in control: Real people, real
delegated see delegated legislation	power 87
drafting 184	community governance petitions 87
explanatory notes to draft bills 147	compensation payments 784–5
Henry VIII clauses 141–2, 154, 165–9	compulsory competitive tendering 57, 85
Impact Assessments (IAs) 152-4, 235	duty to promote democracy 87
number of pages 150, 165	finance 85
Parliament and 143–9	interest swaps 368–71
post-legislative scrutiny 155, 161–3	judicial review 686, 716
pre-legislative consultation 170–2	resource-oriented litigation 719–22
'at large' 171, 172	league tables of performance 60
citizen participation 172–5	local taxation 85
code of practice 172	performance indicators 60, 61, 86
indirect 171, 172	proposed two-tier system 87
judicial review and 175-8	restructuring 48
staged 171	services 50
pre-legislative scrutiny 155, 160–1,	'stakeholder style' 37
309–10	Strong and Prosperous Communities 86–7
retrospective 723	Thatcher and 84, 85
Scottish Parliament 142	ultra vires rule 84, 85
scrutiny function of Parliament 149-51	see also public services
secondary see delegated legislation	Local Government Board 438
statute law 141	local ombudsman 452, 481, 482, 487
Welsh Assembly 142-3	locus standi see standing
legitimate expectation 91	London Regional Transport (LRT) 426, 427
discretion and 223–32	London Transport Executive
of prior consultation 107, 176, 223, 626,	fares subsidy 103–5
647	London Underground Limited (LUL) 426,
situations giving rise to 228	427, 429–30
substantive 224–32	London Underground PPPs 349, 425–36
Lester, A. 106	attempt to stop 427
Lewis, Derek 65	design faults 435–6
Lewis, N. 396, 496	Infracos 426, 428, 429, 430, 432–3
Liaison Committee 69	infrastructure service charge (ISC) 426,
liberal idealism 4	430, 434

Metronet 427, 428, 433-5	meso-regulation 246, 281
performance failure 433–5	meta-regulation 235, 244–5, 246, 281, 337
transfer of risk 427–8	risk-based regulation and 272, 274
Loughlin, Martin xvi, 637	metrication 182–3
Lynes, T. 501	Metronet 427, 428, 433-5
Lyons, Sir Michael 86	Meyer, Sir Christopher 465
_,,	Middleton, Kate 469
Maastricht Treaty	Milk Marketing Board 101–2
ratification 113, 698	ministerial appeals 445
MacCormick, N. 109	ministerial certification
McCrudden, Christopher 363–4	asylum appeals 516
MacDonald, R. 645	freedom of information cases 474–5
Macneil, I. 349	sex discrimination 30
Macpherson, Sir William 776	Ministerial Code 56
Macrory review 262–5, 266, 469	ministerial discretionary power
criminal sanctions 262–3	judicial review 101–2
General Regulatory Chamber 265	ministerial responsibility 38–9, 63, 196, 307
monetary administrative penalties (MAPs)	accountability distinguished 63
263, 264–5, 301, 315	agency model and 284
operating framework for regulators 264	breakdown of doctrine 23
penalties principles 259, 263, 292	consumer protection and 268
sanctions 262–4	Crichel Down case 38–9, 40, 63
Major, John 247, 350, 402	Dicey and 23
Citizen's Charter 58, 251, 450	individual, doctrine of 39–40
freedom of information 470–1	misfeasance in public office 758–9, 761, 764,
Major Projects Review Group 359	767, 774
managerialism 20, 58–9	Mitchell, Austin 787
mandamus 101, 670	Mitchell, John 18–19, 343–4, 345, 444
mandatory order 670	Modernisation Committee 160–1
•	
Marine and Fisheries Agency 279	Modernising Government 74, 85-6
market accountability 57	monetary administrative penalties (MAPs)
'market-mimicking' 57	263, 264–5
Marshall, G. 580	Monopolies and Mergers Commission
Mashaw, J. 446–7, 448, 455	Conservative rule, under 312
bureaucratic justice model 487	regulation by 250
bureaucratic rationality model 447, 596 case-committee model 495	see also Competition Commission monopoly regulation
	Retail Price Index (RPI) - X 250, 251
dignitary theory 620 moral judgement (due process) model 447,	
	moral judgement model 447
500, 595	Moran, M. 323
professional treatment model 447	Morrison, J. 75–6
Masson, J. 598–9	Morris, P. 460, 461
Maxwell, Robert 554	Mosley, Max 463
May Committee 686	Mubarek, Zahid 610–13, 615
Mayor of London 426, 581, 582	Mucahy, L. 449
measurement culture 73	Mulgan, R. 47, 594, 614
mediation 452, 456, 459, 465, 691, 692	N. M. C. ZII
see also alternative dispute resolution	Narey, Martin 611
Megarry, Robert 190–2, 203	National Assistance Tribunals (NATs) 495
Menezes, Jean Charles de 578	see also social security tribunals
Mental Health Review Tribunal 494, 732	National Association of Citizens Advice

Bureaux (NACAB) 531

Merricks, Walter 526-7

National Audit Office (NAO)	procedural protection 626, 636
acceptable behaviour contracts 354	risk analysis 74
audit of simplification plans 261	National Security Appeals Panel 476
compensation payments 785	nationalised industries 50, 67
establishment 60	see also privatisation
Hampton implementation reviews 266, 308	natural justice 617, 619, 681
Impact Assessments (IAs) 152-3	analytical theory 622-4, 633
independence 60	fair hearing 115
monitoring of public services 86	negligence 755
National Programme for IT in the NHS 77	damages 766–70
non-departmental public bodies (NDPBs)	novel actions 766
and 308	see also tort
PPP/PFI deals 422, 425	nemo iudex in causa sua 616, 652
redress systems 454-5	Network Rail 408, 594
review of FSA 308	New Deal 32-3, 45, 283
Select Committees and 308	new public management (NPM) xvii, 59
value for money (VFM) 60-1	complaints 453, 476, 483
National Aviation Authorities (NAAs) 278–9	dispute resolution 487
National Consumer Council 310	PCA and 535, 545–6
National Health Service (NHS) 50	pre-legislative consultation 171
Audit Commission and 60	procurement and 357
contracts 57, 339	rationality and 105
data protection failures 79	rules and 59, 197
Herceptin case 123–6	service delivery 732-3
internal market 57	Newton Committee of Privy Councillors 129
IT failures 198	Next Steps Agencies (NSAs) 63, 67, 339
National Programme for IT in the NHS 77	Child Support Agency 77–9
private finance initiative 422	contracts 63
redress scheme 777–8	performance indicators 63
National Identity Register 80	'Next Steps' Report 62–3
national institute for clinical excellence	Nicol, D. 159
(NICE)	night-watchman state 5
appointments 69	Nolan Committee 54, 613, 662
economic model 314	Seven Principles of Public Life 54, 310, 537
Herceptin treatment 123–5	non-departmental public bodies (NDPBs)
national insurance	appointment procedure 68
benefit disputes 438	decrease in 70
Insurance Commissioner 438	definition 68
National Insurance Local Tribunals (NILTs)	Home Office 64
496, 498	NAO jurisdiction 308
National Lottery	relationship with Parliament 68
allocation of franchise 398–9, 645	Northcote-Trevelyan Report 51, 53
management 400–2	Northern Administrative Law Association 687
National Lottery Commission (NLC) 398,	Northern Ireland
400-2	Belfast/'Good Friday' agreement 88
National Physical Laboratory 424–5	devolution 88
National Policing Improvement Agency 66	direct rule 88
national security	lawmaking procedures 142
coroner's inquests 577, 578	Northern Rock 275, 308
freedom of information and 475, 476	nuclear power stations
judicial review and 103, 117, 134, 718	consultation process 177–8
prerogative powers 10	Nursing and Midwifery Council 329

occupational pensions	case study 292-304
Financial Assistance Scheme (FAS) 557,	competition appeals 297
560-1	competition complaints 297
minimum funding requirement (MFR) 554	consultation documents 296
PASC report 558, 559-61, 564	Consumer Council for Water (CCW)
PCA investigation 534, 554–62, 566, 785	301
Occupational Pensions Regulatory Agency	consumer protection 299
(OPRA) 554	customer service committees (CSCs) 296
OCPA see Commissioner for Public	enforcement action 302
Appointments	enforcement orders 315
'Ofdogs' 67, 249–51, 267, 285, 288, 311	environmental issues 303-4
case study see Office of Water Services	financial penalties 302
see also regulation; regulatory agencies	Guaranteed Standards Scheme 301
Office of Communications (OFCOM) 253,	legislative mandate 293, 299
254–5, 321, 327, 397	monitoring activity 301–4
broadcast advertising 330-3	National Customers Council 296
co-regulation 327, 330–3	as new model agency 299–301
'participation TV' 333–6	Ofdog 293–7, 299
code of practice 463	price control 293, 294, 297–9, 303
consumer panel 268	pseudo-contractual MoUs 300
PhonepayPlus 335, 336	risk methodologies 304
pseudo-contractual MoU 301, 332, 333	standards 300
telecom premium rate services 333	WaterVoice 296, 298, 301
Office of Electricity Regulation (OFFER) 249	Ogus, A. 241, 311
Office of Fair Trading (OFT) 250, 253, 263,	O'Leary, R. 40
268, 278, 322	Oliver, D. 88–9, 378
European Competition Network 278	ombudsmen xvi, 444–5, 480–3, 529
Office of Gas Supply (OFGAS) 249, 253	advantages over courts 445, 480
Office of Government Commerce (OGC)	characteristics 529–30
358-9	Commissioner for Local Administration
Gateway Process 358	(CLA) 452, 481, 482, 487
OGC buying.solutions 358	compensation complaints 783
standards 359–60	court-substitute, as 444
Office of the National Lottery (OFLOT) 398	courts and 538
Office of the Parliamentary Commissioner	devolution and 88
for Administration see Parliamentary	European Union Ombudsman (EO)
Commissioner for Administration	529–30, 565–6
Office of Passenger Rail Franchising (OPRAF)	ex gratia payments 753, 783
403-4, 405, 406, 407	independence 445
Office of Rail Regulation (ORR) 253, 403, 407,	investigation costs 454
410	judicial review 562–5
Office for Standards in Education, Children's	parliamentary see Parliamentary
Services and Skills (Ofsted) 67–8, 70	Commissioner for Administration
mandate 67–8	private 480–1
powers 68	public 480
quasi-autonomy 68	public procurement issues 373–4
- '	redress and 783–91
'super-regulatory' status 67 Office of Telecommunications (OFTEL) 249,	role 445
251, 290 transparency 290	self-regulation 481
transparency 290 Office of Water Services (OFWAT)	statutory 481 open method of co-ordination (OMC) 199,
accountability 300–1, 306	277
accountability 500-1, 500	411

Osborne, D. 59	independence 531
ouster clauses 25-31, 111, 509, 730	inquisitorial procedure 543-9
asylum and immigration appeals 28-9, 518	investigation 543-4, 567
drafting 28–9	numbers of complaints 549
judicial opposition 26	outcomes 549
rule of law and 25-31	reports 544–8
outsourcing see public procurement	screening 543
	inspection powers 539-42
Page, Edward 171, 172, 174	investigation of complaints 543-4
Panel on Takeovers and Mergers	judicial review 562-5
judicial review of decision of 317-18	maladministration 532, 533, 534-5, 559
parenting contracts 352-3	MP filter 445-6, 457, 532-3, 538, 539, 540,
Parker, Anne 550–1	543, 566
Parker, C. 244-5	new public management (NPM) and 535,
Parking Adjudicators 526	545-6
Parliament	number of complaints 538, 542
courts and 145-9	number of enquiries 487
Impact Assessments (IAs) 152-4, 235	occupational pensions 534, 554-62, 566,
scrutiny function 149-51	785
sovereignty see parliamentary sovereignty	PASC and 534
as watchdog 149-63	principal officer (PO) 545
Parliament Acts 1911 and 1949	Principles of Good Administration 194,
use of 111–13, 144, 146	535–7, 566
Parliamentary Commissioner for	redress, inquiry into 783-5
Administration (PCA) 46, 444-5, 446,	relationship with parliament 532-3
481, 482, 530–69	reports 544-8
appointment 530-1	Sachsenhausen case 551-2
audit by 539-42	screening of complaints 543
Barlow Clowes investigation 552-3, 566	as small claims court 537-8, 565, 566-7
characteristic qualities 565-6	staff 531
Child Support Agency Special Report 79,	tax credits system, Special Report on 77,
540, 545, 549–51, 568	461, 541–2, 566
Citizen's Charter and 535	tenure 530
compensation	Whyatt report 537-8
'Cod wars' 790-1	Parliamentary Commissioner for Standards
Debt of Honour affair 785–90	(PCS) 478
ex gratia payments 783	Parliamentary Ombudsman 568
inquiry into 783–5	see also Parliamentary Commissioner for
Court Line case 552	Administration
courts and 538-9	parliamentary sovereignty 4, 8, 144
control by courts 562-5	common law constitutionalism and 111
discretion 535, 539, 549, 552, 553, 562, 564,	devolution and 87, 141
565, 567	Dicey and 4, 8, 112, 140
Equitable Life investigation 553-4, 562	EC law and 179-83
freedom of information cases 471–3,	Henry VIII clauses and 167
474–5	Human Rights Act 1998 and 87, 119, 141
function 532	judicial review and 25–6
group complaints 532, 533, 549, 565	prerogative powers and 11-12
Child Support Agency 79, 540, 549–51	parole
political cases 551-4	procedural review 640-4
impartiality 531	reasons for decisions 640

'participation TV'	supervision 51, 64
OFCOM and 333-6	unlawful detention 758
Partnerships UK (PUK) 419, 421	Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
Pension Protection Fund (PPF) 554-5	(PACE) 17, 193
pensions see occupational pensions	Codes of Practice 193, 194
Pensions Action Group (PAG) 555, 560	complaints procedures 446
Pensions Compensation Board 554	policy 196
Pensions Ombudsman 481, 482	discretion 209
performance culture 73	principle distinguished 109-10, 137,
performance indicators 60, 61	204–5
local government 86	political advertising 148
Next Steps Agencies 63	political integrity
Pergau dam 699, 706	principle 109
petition of right 9	Poole, T. 111
PhonepayPlus 335, 336	poor person's defences 438
planning decisions	Popham, J. 575, 585
bias 657–8	positivism 3, 4, 95, 231, 619
planning inquiries 582–8	Power, M. 61–2, 197
Donoughmore Committee 573–4	precedent, doctrine of 96
Franks Committee 574	prerogative orders 670, 704
independence 584–5	prerogative powers 9–16
inspectors 584–5	accountability for use 10
judicialisation 584–5	common law and 10
major inquiries 585–8	criminal injuries compensation scheme
procedure 583	11–12
statutory codes of procedure 443, 584	defence 115
Pliatzky Committee 67	Dicey on 9–16
police	justiciability 10–11, 107, 108
amalgamations 65	parliamentary sovereignty and 11–12
centralisation 64–5	statutory powers and 10
chief constables 64	Press Complaints Commission (PCC) 318,
community consent to policing policy 64	326, 458, 462–70
community policing 65	accountability 467
Complaints Commission 578	adjudication 466
complaints system 446	Annual Reports 466
defensive policing 776	attitude of complainants 466
detention of terrorism suspects 83	Code of Practice 194, 462, 463-4
discretion 193, 208	conciliation 465–7
DNA bank 79, 81	Culture, Media and Sport Committee
duty of care 775–7	(CMSC) report 465, 468, 469–70
funding 64	rationale 462
HMIC 51, 64	principle
inspectorate 64	policy distinguished 109–10, 137, 204–5
liability 775–7	principles
local control of police forces 64	rules and 204–5, 207, 211–12
local policing 65	prisoners
Metropolitan Police Act 1829 51	death in state custody 609–14
National Policing Improvement Agency	disciplinary proceedings
66	bias 655
powers 17	legal representation 627–8
rules and 204	legitimate expectation 228–9

prisoners (cont.)	performance standards 251
loss of remission 680-1	statutes 249, 251, 288, 311
reading prisoners' correspondence 118,	probation inspectorate 64
758-9	procedural impropriety 107, 108, 617
sentences	procedural review 616-67
life sentence reviews 228-9	analytical theory 622-4, 633, 644, 657
miscalculation 756-7	bias see bias
reasons for 628-9	Bushell's case 647, 651, 663
prisons	common law 618, 622, 623, 624, 628
accountability 65	interplay with ECHR Art. 6 and 617, 635,
escapes 65	637–40
inspectorate 64	interplay with statute 634
judicial review, impact of 730-1	reasons for decisions 630-5
management 65	competitions 645–7
strip-search of visitors 758, 760	consultations 647-52
unlawful detention 757-8	dignitary theory 620, 628, 666
Prisons Agency (PA) 65	ECHR Art. 6 618, 620, 640, 660-6
privacy	control orders 626
press freedom and 463-70	interplay with common law procedural
surveillance society and xviii, 80-3	fairness 617, 637-40
private finance initiative (PFI) xvii, 71, 339,	parole 641–2
345, 358, 394, 413–25	flexibility 624–35
accountability 416, 421, 422	instrumentalist approach 619, 621, 631,
authority step-in 419-20	635, 666
bid costs 415	Judge Over Your Shoulder (JOYS) 621, 649,
concession contracts 414	652
criticisms 420-3	judicial discretion 617, 620, 624, 629, 636,
DBF 414	653, 658, 666
DBFO 413	judicialisation 617, 618, 619, 630, 639, 640,
fettering of discretion 419-20	653, 660, 662, 664
flexibility 415, 416, 423-4	mandatory and directory requirements
integrator model 414	distinguished 629-30
as 'off balance sheet' financing 416	parole 640-4
partnership working 424	ECHR Art. 5 640, 641
PFI credits 418	reasons for decision 640
policy review 414	pragmatic view 636-7
practical issues 423-5	rationale 618–21
Public Private Partnership Programme	reasons for decisions
('4ps') 362, 418–19	common law 630-5
public sector involvement 414	duty to give 628-9, 630-5
rationale 414–16	Franks Committee 491, 630
Ryrie rules 417–18	freedom of information 631-2
scale 416–17	tribunals 490
social housing 420	structural 653, 659-60, 667, 675, 723
transfer of risks 415-16	subsequent fair hearing 626-7
transparency 421, 422	tailoring of procedural fairness 625-9
value for money (VFM) 414-15, 416, 418,	procurement see public procurement
422, 423, 424	professional treatment model 447
see also public-private partnership	prohibiting order 670
private-bill procedure 573	prohibition 670
privatisation 20, 57-8, 59, 67, 267, 281	property
British Rail 57–8	compensation, compulsory purchase 753

peaceful enjoyment of possessions (ECHR	Human Rights Act and 376-83
Protocol 1, Art. 1) 145, 223, 315, 753	hybrid, mixed function or functional 377–8
proportionality	public franchising 393–4
discretion and 229–30	accountability 395
principle 90-1, 108, 137, 675, 678	agency discretion 394
test 116	allocation 394, 395–9
de Freitas test 120	commercial television franchising 396-8
Wednesbury test compared 120-6, 678	flexibility of application 394
proportionate dispute resolution (PDR) 444,	franchise management 399-402
487, 488, 524, 566–7, 570	franchising technique 394-402
aims 456, 484	market contestability and 395
internal review and 458, 505	National Lottery 398-9
MP filter of PCA 538	nature 394
Prosecution Team Manual of Guidance 194	price-bidding franchising 396
prospective control 40	process values 395
Prosser, T. 47-8, 50, 92, 288, 292	public-interest franchising 395-6
new regulatory models 292, 321	railways see rail franchising
pseudo-contracts 58, 71, 81, 198, 339, 348,	value for money (VFM) 395
350-6	public health measures 50, 51
acceptable behaviour contracts 353-4	public interest immunity 705
contractualising welfare, etc. 354-6	public law
control contracts 351-4	balanced constitution and 23
Crown 342-3	Dicey on 18–22
education 71	Public Law Project 719
Job Seeker's Agreement 81, 355–6	public order
memoranda of understanding (MoUs) 339,	demonstrations 83
347	dispersal areas 82
OFCOM 331, 332, 333	New Labour Government 82–3
OFWAT 300	Public Private Partnership Programme ('4ps')
parenting contracts 352–3	362, 418–19
as tool of social work 351-4	public procurement 339, 341
as way of modelling institutional relations	'4ps' 362, 418–19
339	alternative dispute resolution 392
Public Accounts Committee (PAC) 59, 60	'best value' regime 85, 86, 340, 361–2, 364, 420
Child Support Agency Special Report 78 NDPBs and 308	
	buying social justice 363–6
tax credits system and 77 Public Administration Select Committee	competitive dialogue procedure 386–7 compulsory competitive tendering 57, 85,
(PASC) 15, 48, 54–6, 485	340, 360, 361
audit culture, effects on public	contract compliance
administration 73	buying social justice and 362–6
Citizen's Charter and 58, 453	human rights protection and 365–6
on complaint handling 455	conventional procurement 358
Debt of Honour affair 789, 790	discrete contracts 349
on e-governance 76	enforcement and remedy 390–2
on inquiries 603–4	Europeanisation 57, 91, 344, 346, 383–92
occupational pensions 558, 559–61, 564	alternative dispute resolution 392
PCA and 534	competitive dialogue procedure 386–7
standardisation of public services 86	compliance costs 386–7
public authority	Compliance Directive 391
core or standard 377	contract award procedure 387–9

development 383-7

courts and tribunals 378

public procurement (cont.)	public-interest theory 240
Europeanisation (cont.)	public-private partnership (PPP) xvii, 58, 339,
Directives 91, 386	358, 413
enforcement and remedy 390-2	London Underground see London
'ineffectiveness' remedy 391-2	Underground PPPs
negotiated procedure 385, 387	'Notional Infraco' 431-2, 434
open procedure 384	see also co-regulation; private finance
pathway model 384-6, 387-90, 391	initiative
pre-contractual remedies 390-1	Public-Private Partnership Agreement Arbiter
procedures 57	430-2, 433, 434, 436
restricted procedure 384	Pugh, Sir Idwal 539, 540, 543, 544, 565
simplification of procedures 386-7	Purdue, M., 575, 584, 585, 586, 589
special 'administrative procedures act'	
383	quangos 66–7
Gateway Process 358	Commissioner for Public Appointments
Gershon review 357-8	(OCPA) 69
incompatibility of power and purpose	minimum standards for 68-9
371–3	Wales 68
'ineffectiveness' remedy 391-2	see also regulatory agencies
internationalisation 340	quashing order 670
judicial review 373-6, 389-90	quasi-privatisation 57
local government 360–2	
Major Projects Review Group 359	Rail Accident Investigation Branch 581
market testing 357, 360	rail franchising 402–13
negotiated procedure 385, 387	agency discretion 405
Office of Government Commerce (OGC)	agency enforcement 408–9
358-9	crisis in rail industry 407–8
Gateway Process 358	defects in franchising model 408
OGC buying solutions 358	differential charging 314–15
standards 359–60	franchise allocation 404, 410–11
open procedure 384	franchise management 406-7
policy and structures 357-66	OPRAF 403-4, 405, 406, 407
pre-contractual remedies 390–1	ORR 253, 403, 407, 410
public service provision and human rights	procedural values 405-6
376–83	SRA 407-9
relational contracts 349	standard terms in agreement 405
remedies 390-2	value for money (VFM) 402, 404
restricted procedure 384	Railtrack 403, 408
'smart' procurement 362	rationality
social policies and 362-6	bounded 105-6
see also private finance initiative; public-	judicial review and 102, 105-9
private partnership	Rawlings, Richard 444, 448-9
public service code 54–5	Raz, J. 8
public services 50	reasoning, conceptual 4
care homes 380-3	reasons for decisions
efficiency 73	duty to give 103, 628-9, 630-5, 705
Human Rights Act and 376–83	Franks Committee 491, 630
measurement and control 71	freedom of information 631-2
New Labour Government 85-6	parole decisions 640
standardisation 86	tribunals 490
see also local government	red light theory 6, 22–31
Public Standards Commission 55	Dicey and 22-5

green light theory compared 31, 38, 44-8	super-advocate 268-9
regulation 235	contract, by 341, 345-8
referenda 112-13	control and 235, 238-9
regional assemblies 89	Datafin project 316-20, 337, 379-80
regional executives 88	delegated legislation see delegated
regionalism 50	legislation
regulation 93, 233-81, 283	deregulation 167-9, 247-8, 280
agencies see regulatory agencies	Arculus review 260
agency model 283–5	economic regulation 238, 239-40, 250, 265,
Arculus review 260-2, 289	267, 309, 315
'better regulation' 236, 237, 251-69, 401	market failure 240, 242
accountability and process 260	Ofdogs 293
administrative burden reductions 260,	OFWAT 300
310	public-interest theories 240
advice and guidance 259	rail regulator's differential charging
Arculus review 260-2, 289	policy 314-15
Better Regulation Commission 255	redistribution policies 240
Better Regulation Executive 255	enforcement pyramid 242-3, 263, 302, 315,
Better Regulation Task Force (BRTF)	353, 400
251, 255, 324, 325	environmental law 244
changing institutional geography 253-5	European Union 276-9
compliance and enforcement action 259	'better regulation' 277
consolidation 260	European Competition Network 278, 306
consumer representation 266-9	network governance 277–9
deregulation 260	'new approach' 276
economic progress 259	financial regulation 244
European Commission 277	'full-blown' 238–9
Hampton review 255-8, 262, 266, 288	functional model 253
information requirements 259	General Regulatory Chamber 265
inspections 259, 270	globalisation and 246-7, 279-80, 291
Local Better Regulation Office 258	Hampton review 255-8, 288, 305
Macrory review 259, 262-5, 266	implementation reviews 266
OFWAT 292	principles for regulatory enforcement 256
Panel for Regulatory Accountability 251	risk-based regulation 256
principles of good regulation 252	super-regulators 258, 267
rationalisation 260	information regulation 241
Regulatory Impact Unit 251, 255	inspections 259, 270
'Regulatory Procedures Act' 258–60, 292	juridification and 241, 281, 311
risk assessment 256, 257, 259	Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act
simplification plans 261	(LRRA) 2006 255, 258–60, 261, 292
'blue rinsed' 235–6, 247–51	licensing 241, 281
bureaucratic regulation 239	deregulation and 249, 250
case study see Office of Water Services	Retail Price Index (RPI) - X 250
civil sanctions 265–6	Macrory review 262–5, 266, 469
monetary administrative penalties	criminal sanctions 262–3
(MAPs) 263, 264–5	General Regulatory Chamber 265
classification 238–47	monetary administrative penalties
co-regulation see co-regulation	(MAPs) 263, 264–5, 301, 315
collaborative governance 246, 281	operating framework for regulators 264
competing theories 239–41	penalties principles 259, 263
Compliance Cost Assessment 247–8	sanctions 262–4
consumer representation 766-9	market approaches 246–7

regulation (cont.)	constitutive approaches 241
market regulation 288	dangers 325-6
meso-regulation 246, 281, 326, 327	Datafin project 316-20, 337, 379-80
health- and social-care professionals	definition 239
327-30	health- and social-care professionals
meta-regulation 235, 244-5, 246, 281, 337	327–30
risk-based regulation and 272, 274	interpretation of own rules 318
model enforcement pyramid 242-3, 263,	Jockey Club 319–20
302, 315, 353, 400	judicial review 317–20
models	limits of supervisory jurisdiction 317–20
agency model 283-5	meso-regulation 246, 281, 326, 327-30
functional model 253	meta-regulation 235, 244-5, 246, 272,
new regulatory model 292, 299-301, 315,	274
321	OFCOM 327, 330-3
thematic model 253	policy options 326–7
monetary administrative penalties (MAPs)	press see Press Complaints Commission
263, 264–5	see also co-regulation
monopoly regulation 250	simplification plans 261
New Labour Government 236–7	smart regulation 243-4, 246
'Ofdogs' 67, 249-51, 267, 285, 288, 311	super-regulators 67, 253, 258–67
case study see Office of Water Services	risk-based regulation and 274
Ofsted 67-8, 70	thematic model 253
OFWAT case study see Office of Water	theories 239-41
Services	trilemma 241
presumption against 247-8	'UK style' 249, 250
prior approval 241	Regulators' Compliance Code 262, 263, 311
private-interest theories 240, 325–6	regulatory agencies 235
public-interest theories 240	accountability 68, 235, 236, 260, 286,
quality regulation 250-1	300-1
re-regulation 236	audit and political accountability 307-10
reform 235–8	discretion, exercise of 289-92
Regulators' Compliance Code 262, 263, 311	high-class tribunals 321-3
regulatory competition 273	judicial supervision 310–20
'regulatory creep' 289	multiple accountabilities 304-7
regulatory cycle 239	mutual accountability networks 306, 307
Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act	309, 330, 336
(RESA) 2008 255, 261, 292	network accountability 250, 291, 337
civil sanctions 265-6	OFWAT 300-1, 306
regulatory reform 235-8	select sommittees 308-9
the regulatory state 234, 235, 246, 253, 281,	audit 307–10
329	case study see Office of Water Services
regulatory subsidiarity 331-2	consultation 291
responsive regulation 242-3, 281	design 285-9
Risk Assessment 256, 257, 259	discretion 197, 287, 288, 295
risk regulation 74, 81	accountability and 289-92
rationality and 105	transparency and 289-90
Risk and Regulation Advisory Council 255	due process 286, 290
risk-based see risk-based regulation	efficiency and effectiveness 285-9
self-regulation 235, 236, 239, 244-6, 281,	European agencies 278
323-6, 337	expertise 286, 295, 325
advantages 325	Food Standards Agency 278, 280
codes of practice 194	globalisation and 70

. 1 . 1 . 205	P: 1 1 C 400
independence 285	Richardson, G. 488
independent regulatory agencies (IRAs)	Ridley, Nicholas 553
284, 292	Ripstein, Arthur 792–3
legislative mandate 285, 286–7	risk analysis 74
OFWAT 293, 299	risk management 75, 81
legitimacy 285–9	risk regulation 74, 81
new regulatory model 292, 299–301, 315, 321	rationality and 105 risk society 73–5, 754
'Ofdogs' 67, 249–51, 267, 285, 288, 311	risk-based regulation (RBR) 235, 237, 255,
case study see Office of Water Services	269–76, 281, 328
Office of Telecommunications see Office of	ARROW 271–3, 274, 275–6, 308
Telecommunications	co-regulation and 274
policy networks and 70	Environment Agency 269–71
rise of 283–5	Financial Services Authority 271–3, 274,
self-regulatory organisations (SROs) 245,	275-6
283, 317, 323-6	Hampton review 256
co-regulation 235, 245-6, 274, 281, 283,	Health and Safety Executive 271
309, 318	meta-regulation and 272, 274
codes of practice 194	regulatory competition 273
Datafin project 316–20, 337, 379–80	risk maps 272, 274, 275
interpretation of own rules 318	risks to objectives (RTOs) 272
Jockey Club 319-20	super-regulators and 274
judicial review 317-20	Robson, William 19, 32, 36-7, 440-1, 442,
limits of supervisory jurisdiction 317-20	445, 505
super-agencies 67, 70, 198, 292, 309, 323,	Roosevelt, Franklin D. 32-3, 45
330	Rosenbloom, D. 40
transparency 289–90, 313	rule of law 4, 617, 664
regulatory impact assessments (RIAs) 152,	Aristotle and 4
153, 251–2	Dicey and 4–9, 11, 15, 670, 683
see also Impact Assessments	Hayek and 5–6
Regulatory Impact Unit 251, 255	judicial review and 669
Regulatory Reform Committee 168–9, 309,	Lord Bingham and 7–8, 113
310	ouster clauses and 25–31
regulatory state 234, 235, 246, 253, 281, 329	procedural nature 8
regulatory theory rationality and 105	rule-making 192 Davis on 200–3
Reid, John 64, 65–6	efficiency 202
Reid, William 78, 534–5, 540, 549–50, 565,	Financial Services Authority (FSA) 291
568-9, 783	juridification and 195–6
Reiss, A. 209	rules
religious freedom	Davis on 200–3
school dress codes and 121–2	design 289
responsive regulation 242-3, 281	discretion and 41, 203-32
restitution	nature 203–4
ultra vires contracts 370-1	new public management (NPM) and 59,
unjust enrichment and 370-1, 764-6	197
Retail Price Index (RPI) - X 250, 251	operation 203-4
retrospective control 40	policy and 204
Revenue Adjudicator see Adjudicator's Office	principles and 204-5, 207, 211-12
Revenue and Customs see Inland Revenue	pseudo-contracts see pseudo-contracts
Rhodes, R. 83	rationality 201–2
Richard Commission 88	reasons for 195–200

Sainsbury, R. 457, 525–6	separation of powers 12-13, 22-3
St Andrews Agreement 88	'Sewel convention' 142
Sales, Philip 572, 615	Shapiro, Martin xviii, 5, 21, 39, 92, 103
Salmon Commission 579–80, 600	synoptic dialogue 314
Sarat, A. 447–8	Shipman, Harold 327, 576
Saville Inquiry into 'Bloody Sunday' 579,	Simon, Herbert 105, 202
604–5, 608	simplification plans 261
Schiemann, Sir Konrad 91	Skeffington Committee 173
schools	smart regulation 243-4, 246
dress code 121–2	Smith, Dame Janet 576
see also education	Social Fund Inspectorate 488, 503-5
Schuck, P. 771	Social Security Advisory Committee (SSAC)
Schwarz, Bernard 97, 135, 283, 284, 444, 575	pre-legislative consultation 172
Scotland	Social Security Commissioners 498, 499
inquiries 580	social security system
Scottish Parliament	internal review 457
legislative powers 142	social security tribunals 538
'Sewel convention' 142	appointment of members 499
Scott, C. 243, 312-13, 336	bureaucratisation 501
accountability networks 306, 330, 336	chairmen 497, 498, 499, 500
Scott Inquiry 579, 590-3, 615	Commissioners 498, 499
secondary legislation see delegated legislation	delay 502
Security and Immigration Appeals	independence 499-500
Commission (SIAC) 129, 131	lay members 500, 501, 502, 503
special advocate procedure 133	members 497, 499, 500
security state 80–3	National Assistance Tribunals (NATs)
Sedley, Sir Stephen 468–9	495
Select Committee on Regulators 284-5, 287,	paper decisions 501
288, 291	precedents 498, 499
Select Committee on Work and Pensions	presidential system 499-501
(CWP)	reasoned decisions 499
review of CSA 78	representation 495, 498, 500-1
Select Committees 38, 60, 69, 151, 308-9	Social Security Appeals Tribunal (SSAT)
self-regulatory organisations (SROs) 245, 283,	499
317, 323-6	success rates 500-1
agreements with government 339	Supplementary Benefit Appeal Tribunals
co-regulation see co-regulation	(SBATs) 495-9, 505
codes of practice 194	training 498, 500
collective self-regulatory systems 324–5	social services
Datafin project 316-20, 337, 379-80	automated assistance 220-2
interpretation of own rules 318	child abuse inquiries 581, 595-9
Jockey Club 319–20	complaints 454
judicial review 317–20	social work
limits of supervisory jurisdiction 317–20	liability and 772-5
meso-regulation 246, 281, 326, 327	pseudo-contract as tool of 351-4
health- and social-care professionals	soft law 56, 89, 141, 192–5
327–30	codes of practice 193-4
policy options 326–7	guidance 193–4, 340, 385
press see Press Complaints Commission	open method of co-ordination (OMC) 199,
Selznick, P. 238	277
Seneviratne, M. 542	see also regulation; rule-making; rules
	,

covereignty	Marita Committee 164 5 184
sovereignty	Merits Committee 164–5, 184 procedure for making 164
e-governance and 75–6	
see also parliamentary sovereignty	affirmative procedure 164
standing 674, 694–701	negative procedure 164
drainpipe model 694, 697, 702	scrutiny 142
environmental litigation 697, 698–9	see also delegated legislation
freeway model 696	Stebbings, C. 438–40, 488
funnel model 673–4, 694, 697	Stern Review 93
ideological interests 695	Stevenson, Olive 596
interest, notion of 695	Stewart, R. 47, 241
material interest 695	Stigler, G. 240
private interest 695	Stonewall 114
public interest 695, 698, 702	stop orders 670
representative proceedings 698-9	Strategic Rail Authority (SRA) 407-9
sufficient interest 696–7, 700	Street, H. 36, 37, 170, 441, 507
tax amnesty case 696–7	Strong and Prosperous Communities 86–7
two-pronged approach 695–6	subsidiarity principle 91–2, 277
state	regulatory subsidiarity 331-2
administrative state 3, 31, 33, 44, 48, 622,	super-agencies 67, 70, 198, 292, 309, 323,
754	330
allocation of functions 40-4	Supplementary Benefit Appeal Tribunals
Crown and 9–16	(SBATs) 495-7, 505
force, use of 19	Bell Report 497–9
functions 72	Supplementary Benefits Commission (SBC)
'hollowing out' 83, 93	495–6, 497
devolution 87-9	supremacy of Parliament 112
European Union 89-92	surveillance society xviii, 80-3, 475
local government 83–7	civil liberties and 81-2
law and 1-4	terrorism 81, 83
liability	sustainable development 93
consequences 770–1	
'decision traps' 771, 773	Taggart, M. 31-2, 46, 94, 207, 704
defensive administration 770-7	tax credits system
European Union and 763-4	complaints 457, 459, 460-1, 541, 542
policing and the duty of care 775-7	overpayments 77
public authorities 766-70	PCA Special Report 77, 461, 541-2, 566
resource allocation and 770	telecom premium rate services 333
social work 772-5	television
risk society 73-5	commercial television franchising
security state 80-3	396-8
sovereign power 19	terrorism
statutory authority and 16-18	encouragement of 128
strategic and enabling state 71-2	surveillance society 81, 83
surveillance society 80-3	see also anti-terrorist legislation
'third way', the 70-2, 395	Teubner, G. 21, 45, 52, 195
statute law 141	juridification 241
statutory authority	on regulation 241
state and 16-18	Thatcher, Margaret 56, 58-9, 67-8, 70, 71,
statutory instruments	93, 170
increasing numbers of 165	civil service and 53
Joint Committee on Statutory Instruments	local government and 84, 85, 363
(JCSI) 164	poll tax 87

'theory of law' 23	tribunals xvi, 36, 444, 486-527
'third way', the 70-2, 395	accessibility to users 449, 492, 493
Thomas, Brian 526	accountability 321–3, 509–14
Thomas, Richard 475	adversarial procedure 213, 442–3, 528
Three Rivers case 561	appeals 491
Tilt, Sir Richard 505	statutory rights 509–10
Titmuss, R. 207–8	asylum appeals see asylum and immigration
tort	appeals
compensation and 766-70	Australian Administrative Appeals Tribunal
Crown immunity 751	522
damages and 750	Bell Report 497–9
Dicey on 755–6	bias 656
General Warrant cases 750	Council see Council on Tribunals
human rights claims 751, 760-3	court-substitute, as 438, 441, 442, 444, 486,
landmark tort actions 750-1	490, 491, 523-4
misfeasance in public office 758-9	courts of referees 438
ombudsman function 759-60	disability appeal tribunal 656
public authorities 766-70, 771	employment tribunals 487, 491
duties, powers and omissions 767-70	expertise 492, 493-4
public authorities and 752	non-legal members (NLMs) 494
special damage 759	fairness 489, 490, 493
state liability 770-1	Franks Committee 442-3, 483, 488-92, 495,
European Union and 763-4	496, 505–6, 509, 571, 619
policing and the duty of care 775-7	General Regulatory Chamber 265
public authorities 766–70	Home Office 64
social work 772-5	immigration appeals see asylum and
strict liability 757, 758	immigration appeals
unlawful detention 757-8	impartiality 489, 490
see also negligence; trespass	independence 489, 493
torture	inquiries compared 575
evidence obtained by 131-2	judicial review 509–14
Touhig, Don 789	nullity, concept of 510-11
transformational government 73	review of fact 511-14, 525
transparency	judicialisation 19, 442, 444, 490, 491, 517
European Union and 92	Bell Report 498
experts and 75	Lands Tribunal 493–4, 512
inquiries 572, 596, 609	lay members 487, 525
private finance initiative 421, 422	ethnic diversity 492–3
regulatory agencies 289–90	social security tribunals 500, 501, 502, 503
science and technology and 75	legal aid 490, 492
Transport for London (TfL) 426, 427	Leggatt review see Leggatt review
Treasury Solicitor	Mental Health Review Tribunals 494
guide to judicial review see Judge Over Your	National Insurance Local Tribunals (NILTs)
Shoulder	496, 498
trespass	non-legal members (NLMs) 494
damages 750	openness 489, 490
Dicey and 756	oral hearings 487
lawful excuse or justification 756–7	origins 438–40
strip-searches 758, 760	participation 492
unlawful detention 757–8	proportionality 519–20
Tribe, L. 619	proportionate justice 523–7
Tribunal Service 488	reasons, duty to give 490

	1
representation 490–1, 495, 498, 500–1, 526–7	on natural justice 622
restructuring 520–3	on ouster clauses 26
appointment of adjudicators 522–3	on PCA 444
First-tier Tribunal 521, 522	on pre-legislative consultation 170
merits review 522	on supervisory jurisdiction 669
senior president 521, 523	on tribunals 441–2, 457, 493
Upper Tribunal 521, 522, 523, 685	Wales
Robson on 440–1	Administrative Court 686
social security see social security tribunals	child abuse inquiry 581
statutory rights of appeal 509–10	inquiries 580
structural independence 489, 493	quangos 68
unitary system 488	see also Welsh Assembly
Wade on 441–2, 493	wartime detention powers 96–7
Tribunals Procedure Committee 507	WaterVoice 296, 298, 301
Tritter, J. 449	Weber, Max 52
'trust' model of government 53	Weberian bureaucracy xvii, 52, 53, 76, 196
Turpin, Colin 345	Wednesbury test of reasonableness 42–4, 100,
Twining, W. 601–2, 603	103, 105, 106, 107, 108, 115, 313, 659
THE D. L. A. CA	'anxious scrutiny' 116, 120, 322, 514, 635
UK Border Agency 64	application for public inquiry 611
external review of 212–13 UN Convention on Torture 131	commercial television franchising 397–8
	duty to give reasons and 632
UN Human Rights Committee 129	legitimate expectation and 225
unjust enrichment principle 370–1	proportionality test and 120-6, 678
	standard/ordinary 116, 120, 322 'super- <i>Wednesbury</i> ' 116, 120, 322
restitution and 370–1, 764–6 US Tobacco 222	welfare benefits
US 100acco 222	
value for manay (VEM) 59 50 60 1 227 285	asylum seekers 144, 210–11, 518
value for money (VFM) 58, 59, 60–1, 227, 285, 307, 340	welfare state 34, 37
complaints systems 454	'cradle to grave' 73, 81 risk aversion and 73–4
Job Seeker's Allowance 355	
Job Seeker's Allowance 333	'walfara to work' 91
Office of Government Commerce 358	'welfare-to-work' 81 Welch Assembly 88
Office of Government Commerce 358	Welsh Assembly 88
private finance initiative 414-15, 416, 418,	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3 Vincent-Jones, P. 346–7, 350	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3 Wilkes, John 750
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3 Vincent-Jones, P. 346–7, 350 void decisions 26	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3 Wilkes, John 750 Willis, John 33
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3 Vincent-Jones, P. 346–7, 350 void decisions 26 voidable decisions 26	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3 Wilkes, John 750 Willis, John 33 Wilson Committee on Immigration Appeals
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3 Vincent-Jones, P. 346–7, 350 void decisions 26 voidable decisions 26 voluntary organisations and volunteers	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3 Wilkes, John 750 Willis, John 33 Wilson Committee on Immigration Appeals 515–16
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3 Vincent-Jones, P. 346–7, 350 void decisions 26 voidable decisions 26	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3 Wilkes, John 750 Willis, John 33 Wilson Committee on Immigration Appeals 515–16 World Development Movement (WDM) 699
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3 Vincent-Jones, P. 346–7, 350 void decisions 26 voidable decisions 26 voluntary organisations and volunteers Empowerment Fund 87	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3 Wilkes, John 750 Willis, John 33 Wilson Committee on Immigration Appeals 515–16 World Development Movement (WDM) 699 Wright, Sir Michael 578
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3 Vincent-Jones, P. 346–7, 350 void decisions 26 voidable decisions 26 voluntary organisations and volunteers Empowerment Fund 87 Wade, Sir William	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3 Wilkes, John 750 Willis, John 33 Wilson Committee on Immigration Appeals 515–16 World Development Movement (WDM) 699
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3 Vincent-Jones, P. 346–7, 350 void decisions 26 voidable decisions 26 voluntary organisations and volunteers Empowerment Fund 87 Wade, Sir William on administrative law xv, xvi, 23–4, 46, 97,	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3 Wilkes, John 750 Willis, John 33 Wilson Committee on Immigration Appeals 515–16 World Development Movement (WDM) 699 Wright, Sir Michael 578 Wright, Tony 557, 565
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3 Vincent-Jones, P. 346–7, 350 void decisions 26 voidable decisions 26 voluntary organisations and volunteers Empowerment Fund 87 Wade, Sir William on administrative law xv, xvi, 23–4, 46, 97, 135, 283, 284	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3 Wilkes, John 750 Willis, John 33 Wilson Committee on Immigration Appeals 515–16 World Development Movement (WDM) 699 Wright, Sir Michael 578
private finance initiative 414–15, 416, 418, 422, 423, 424 public franchising 395 public procurement 357 rail franchising 402, 404 social policy and 364 values 41, 48, 59, 109, 110 Vile, M.J.C. 22–3 Vincent-Jones, P. 346–7, 350 void decisions 26 voidable decisions 26 voluntary organisations and volunteers Empowerment Fund 87 Wade, Sir William on administrative law xv, xvi, 23–4, 46, 97,	Welsh Assembly 88 legislative competence 142–3 pre-legislative consultation 171–2 Welsh Development Agency 87 Wheldon, Dame Juliet 734 Whyatt report 537–8 Widgery Inquiry 605, 615 Wightman, J. 348 Wikeley, N. 502–3 Wilkes, John 750 Willis, John 33 Wilson Committee on Immigration Appeals 515–16 World Development Movement (WDM) 699 Wright, Sir Michael 578 Wright, Tony 557, 565